DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
ARE®(EMN)ERA T

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RESRBEEMRLNERATE)
Stock Code B 3855 : 3999

ANNUAL, WJ_JJ'
_LJJJ _r"¢_.t

Sisters’™Kitchen



H &%

NCIVIY

MHERE

TERE

rEMERME

B E S W R DT
EXLSREEABRRE

EERERMRE

fRE MBI R

BRI R
RARDREHR
FERTRER
BTSRRI R

NEIEF
hEMBHE

221
224

Contents

Corporate Profile

Financial Highlights

Chairman’s Statement

Corporate Social Responsibility

Management Discussion and Analysis
Directors and Senior Management Profile
Corporate Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Income Statement
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Notes to the Financial Statements

Corporate Information

Five Years Financial Summary



NENAB
Corporate Profile

ARRm(BM)BERABR(TARRFIHTK
)RR EARK %D(FEPJ)*tﬁ&
SR K EEBNEHCEER - AR

REE_TTLFEERBHRA LD - ZJS

/;

~

RE(EEMBARRAERRGHEAIA
SEDEENEEEADVERERIEMH

B EmBESN 8F

A

FYEERNNTR

0
°

AEBEETE  BEELSRAZAEERB
B0 ETRR - BYWERFL KB LA [RR] K [
RnEL]mERLE  BFARNIRRAIZH
PATHRERET 55 | M 6 -

AEBEZBEARBERMZEHE - D
B BATSARERETEERARIEHE
Eme ARBENETHREERBIEMHRE L
PR - DAY 3 (e $H Ko S R %%%E@;L
MTZHERE  ARECRED ARBRE
REVRIF o

SRMMERRET2E  FHERR
HEHMmEREZTERALRE -
ThE  AKER [BEKRERE | mEE
RS AERNBENEREBHMRS  HEE
BEAEHE IR PR - BESMAIARAT
REANSFERES -

5
50 M
,ﬂﬂfﬁ

Euﬁ B M
#

A RSN T AR R QR B
2B NEEES - BB R E TS
THHEZER  KEBAANETHES
BRERHE -

Kk Em (Z2M) BPRA =] DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (the “Company” or “DaChan”)
is a conglomerate with operations in the People’'s Republic of
China (“PRC"), Vietnam and Malaysia. The Company’s stock has
been listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange since 2007. The
Company, along with its subsidiaries and its jointly-controlled
entities (collectively the “Group”) is a leading vertically integrated
provider of animal protein whose products ranging from advanced
formulation of animal nutrition for swine, poultry and aquatic to

ready-to-eat processed foods for end users.

The Group has more than 30 factories across the PRC, Vietnam
and Malaysia, and is a provider of animal feeds mainly under
the “DaChan” (KAk) and “Dr. Nupak” (#528=+) brands,
and chicken meat and processed foods mainly under “Sisters’
Kitchen” (#EREFfE) brand.

The Group distributes its products through well known domestic
and international chain stores, distributors, supermarkets as
well as the Group's own retail outlets and deli stores. The
Group also maintains sales offices in strategic locations in the
PRC to coordinate sales and marketing activities. Leveraging its
established and comprehensive sales channels, the Group is well

positioned for rapid growth.

The Group attaches the highest importance to the quality of its
food products. The Group's quality control efforts have earned it
numerous industry awards and recognitions. In 2009, the Group
launched a pioneering product traceability system for its “Sisters’
Kitchen” products which enables consumers to trace product
information such as the name of the farmer and location of the
chicken farm, as well as the feeds the chickens intake.

The Group constantly develops new and value-added products via
utilizing the latest food science and technology. To cope with the
rapid changes of market demand in a timely manner, the Group

has greatly addressed its level of service to customer services.
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MISSION

To become a leading pioneer in the feed manufacturing, chicken
meat and processed foods markets with commitment to product
safety, reliability and quality.

COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES
o Market leader with well known brand names

° High level of intergration and efficiency operation model

within core business
o Highest standard of stringent quality control

° Stable and long-standing relationship with nationally and
internationally renowned customers

° Extendable yet scalable production capability with facilities in

strategic locations across the PRC, Vietnam and Malaysia

° Experienced and dedicated management team

—Z— — 5% Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 31 December 2011

AREFIT —E——F —E-FF &
RMB’000 2011 2010 Changes
HEAPN Turnover 11,215,942 9,551,759 17.4%
RN AR B Al Y A Profit attributable to
owners of the Company 196,089 109,382 79.3%
BERE Total assets 3,494,861 3,058,456 14.3%
BEFE Net assets 1,974,078 1,832,594 7.7%
BREARMN(ARKETT) Basic earnings per share (RMB) 0.19 0.11 72.7%
BEAERR(%) Return on total assets (%) 7.24% 4.79% 51.1%
w0 (%) Return on equity (%) 12.81% 8.00% 60.1%
* B BRI E *Gearing ratio 21.1% 14.7% 43.5%
SREEFE(ARET) Net assets per share (RMB) 1.96 1.82 7.7%
* BEERNLLE =T BIEE THEEFE * Gearing Ratio = Interest bearing debt/Average net assets
BEWA BT R FlR) B i) %
Turnover and Gross Profit Margin Net Profit and Net Profit Margin
(AR%BEET) (AR%BEET)
(RMB million) ) (%) (RMB million) (%)
12,000 - oo o 12 300 - e o 40
7.4% . 9,552 287 253
8.5% 7.1% -13.5
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(OF:T" 9N = EFIE(%) O FEER = ERIE(%)
Turnover Gross Profit Margin (%) Profit for the year Net Profit Margin (%)
KW N\ RET 53 BB KW NET T

Turnover by Business Segment

13%

Chicken Meat
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@ AFEE  Feeds to External Customers
& MIB®M Processed Foods

K Efm (ZEM) BPFR2A 7 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Turnover by Business Segment

10%
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@ AFER  Feeds to External Customers
@ MIB® Processed Foods

Chicken Meat



BRE IR

b}

Han Jia-Hwan

Chairman
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Kk Em (Z2M) BPRA =] DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Dear shareholders,

| am pleased to announce that for the year ended 31 December
2011, the Group recorded an operating result of RMB11,216 million,
representing an increase of 17.4% over last year. During the year
we focused on product development for feeds business, together
with the successful strategy of “Enhancing Food Operation”,
branded food business grew in a fast pace and the weighting of
processed food also increased. As for profitability, each business
segment reported with pleasing result, particularly chicken meat
business, which benefited from the thriving market and recorded a
significant increase in profit margin of 80.0%. For the year ended 31
December 2011, the Group recorded profits attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB196 million.

In 2011, comparing to volatile global economy, the economy
of China is relatively stable with steady growth. Price of pork
remained at high level and price of chicken meat experienced
an uprising trend and kept on rebounding. The Group’s profit
had improved quarter by quarter. In the first half of 2011, the
industry began to recover whereas breeding and rearing industry
also rallied and kept developing. While in the second half of
2011, food price slightly dropped, coupled with more intensive
competition, revenue from the Group’s meat products was under
pressure. Nevertheless, given the increasing aggregate national
consumption, market demand for animal protein product and feed
product remained strong; as a result the Group's operation grew

steadly.

For the period under review, China’s urbanization process
accelerated. Household consumption concentrated on large scale
chain supermarkets. Our branded food product, “Sisters’ Kitchen”
has been carried by various internationally and locally well-known
chain stores with great success. Besides, food safety, one of
the topics the Group concerned most, became an important
national issue. “Safety Food Traceability System”, which was
established by the Group in 2009, was again recognized by
customers and consumers. The Group believes that the key to

success depends on whether food industry players can offer safe
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food to customers. By virtue of our brand, “Sisters’ Kitchen”,
food products with “ID Card” reassure customers for enjoying
really “reliable” food. In addition, DaChan Food (Asia) gained
over 100,000 votes from web users within a three-month voting
period and was successfully selected as one of the candidates
for the 2nd “China Green Gold Award — Excellent Sustainable
Developing Company”, representing that DaChan Food was
widely recognized by society. In the future, the Group will remain
responsible for satisfying the compelling demand of consumers
towards safety food products and keep on promoting “Sisters’
Kitchen” as a safety food brand by adhering to the concept of
“Being the most repectful food corporation around the world,
achieving a win-win situation for upstream and downstream
industrial stackholders, concerning with human’s health and

nutrition and providing green and sustainable food for the public”.

In the meantime, as for feed business, the Group will devote
to developing feed technology. By utilizing MPT (Microbial
Predigestion Technology), feeds can effectively help digestion
and absorption of animal and boost its immunity and resistance to
diseases, which finally helps to achieve our objective of providing
healthier and more special quality protein source to the market.
We will continue to “strengthen and cultivate food operation”
and dedicated to developing our own brand by positioning our
chicken breeding business as one important sector of vertical

business integration in order to get a stable material source for

our own branded products. Also, we will boost the development

—Z——FF 3R Annual Report 2011
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of our processed foods business, establish electronic business
platform and widen our distribution channels. The Group plans to
transform into a retailer within few coming years. Office workers
and teenagers are our target customers. With the business model
of directly facing consumers as well as modern dietary habit, the
Group provides diversified meat products for Chinese consumers,

which as a result enriches Chinese catering culture.

Looking forward, given the stimulating measures under “The
Twelfth Five-year Plan for Food Industry”, Chinese Government
expressed its great support on food safety, domestic R&D and
business consolidation. Urbanization and increase in expendable
household income extend the room for developing meat
consumption. The Group has to capture such market opportunity
and continues to provide high quality and safety branded food
products, at the same time broaden its distribution channels
such as retailers and supermarkets chains to gain popularity and
influence for its brand. Further, the Group will capitalise more
resources on R&D with an aim to optimize the product mix of feed
and processed food products in order to increase the proportion
of high value-added products and consolidate its leading market

position.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my great gratitude
and sincere appreciation to each shareholder and business
partner for their support. Also, | would like to thank our staff for
their efforts for achieving the Company’s objective as well as
their professionalism. As a socially responsible food processing
company, the Company will continue to provide quality products
to consumers and compensate shareholders with sustainable

growth.

Han Jia-Hwan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2012
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Corporate Social Responsibility

As a responsible corporate citizen, DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
(“DaChan Food"” or “the Group”) is fully committed to green
and sustainable practices in order to ensure that all operation
and business expansion pursuit are conducted in harmony with
nature. In order to cope with the ever-increasing public demand for
environmental protection and conservation, DaChan Food (Asia)
Limited understands that apart from facilitating environmental
protection within the enterprise, we shall also request our
upstream partners to engage in environmental protection so that

we can establish a green supply chain.

In 2011, DaChan Food actively participated in the “Green Choice
Alliance” programme initiated by various environmental protection
NGOs in China. This programme advocates participants not to
choose non-compliant enterprises as their suppliers so as to
foster these non-compliant enterprises to solve the polluting
problems. The “Green Choice Alliance” programme integrates the
disclosure of environmental news and public involvement in the
existing supply chain management system, raising environmental
standards of manufacturing industry in China, realizing energy-
saving and reducing emissions. Entering into an era of globalized
production, the “Green Choice Alliance” aims to create a new
model of global supply chain environmental management through
close cooperation with all stakeholders. At present, prominent
companies such as Siemens, Coca-Cola, Walmart, Nike and

Adidas have participated in this programme.

—Z— — 5% Annual Report 2011
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In order to fulfill its commitment to the “Green Choice Alliance”,
DaChan Food will sign green supply agreements with its suppliers,
requesting suppliers to take necessary steps to ensure that
their operations meet environmental protection requirements.
If any suppliers are found to engage in practices that violate the
environmental protection requirements, the Group will pro-actively
carry out measures to rectify such violation. In the meantime,
suppliers are requested to carry out routine inspection for their
own environmental protection issues every half year so as to
confirm if there is any violation of the environmental protection
requirement. If promising progress is achieved in the programme,
DaChan Food will urge more suppliers to take part in the “Green
Choice Alliance” programme and will request the upstream
suppliers adhere to environmental protection so as to create a fully
green and highly efficient industrial supply chain.
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BELE: FREB(ANBEERELER) REF(GRUBE) RuE(REEXEREER)

AIBELEE . REE(HERITHRE) BRE(HEFRTE) BAA(RRBFEAREEER)

Other management executives except the Chairman, Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (page 5)

From left to right (Back row): Li Jing-Hui (Chief Operation Officer of meat products business), Chen Yung-Fa (Chief
Finance Officer), Chang Yu-Lung (Chief Operation Officer of feed products business)

From left to right (Front row): Chen Li-Chin (Chief Administrative Officer), Han Chia-Yin (Chief Executive Officer),
Ou Chang-Jou (Chief Operation Officer of food products business)

—E——F e S EEEL
2011 2010 change
BN (ARETIT) Turnover (RMB'000) 11,215,942 9,551,759 17.4%
EF(ARETFT) Gross profit (RMB'000) 856,314 658,028 30.1%
EFE (%) Gross profit margin (%) 7.6 6.9
RAFRREREF (ARETIIT)  Profit attributable to shareholders
of the Company (RMB'000) 196,089 109,382 79.3%

HRERERR T ——FRNREESLIK
ERBFABRISERE  AEELERER
B E - BERRERARSHESHEH
EMGHER - MSEBYEREMLER
EmE TR EIE N - BT R R FisE R
RAOBERBE - P FEERENALE -

In 2011, the Group’s operating environment continued to improve
as the price of pork remained at a high level and the price of
chicken meat continued to rise. Furthermore, rising household
income has also propelled growth in China's consumer market,
which in turn led to increasing demand for animal protein products
and feed products. Government policies which aim at encouraging
sustainable development of the agricultural industry have lent
support to the further improvement of business environment.
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In 2011, the Group’s turnover grew by 17.4% over the previous
year. During the period, the turnover of the three main business
segments grew steadily. The segments of chicken meat and feeds
remained the Group's largest turnover contributors, accounting for
45.8% and 40.8% of the Group's total turnover respectively.

The Group was committed to optimize its operation and take
various measures to cope with the rising price of raw materials
and labor costs. The Group was also committed to expand its food

operation with an ultimate goal to capitalize on its profitability.

3] CHICKEN MEAT
—E-—% -T-TF  EEESH
2011 2010 change
LA (ARETFIT) Turnover (RMB’'000) 5,138,057 4,527,547 13.5%
EM(ARETT) Gross profit (RMB’000) 191,028 106,117 80.0%
FEFE (%) Gross profit margin (%) 3.7 2.3
ZORBEETHER  KERLREA - R This segment is composed of three core businesses: sales
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AEEm (ZM) BBR/A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

of chilled and frozen chicken and, feeds to contract farmers
and chicks to contract farmers. Chilled and frozen chicken are
marketed under the brand of “DaChan” and are supplied to quick
service restaurants, food processors and other food service

providers.

In 2011, the revenue of chicken meat segment increased by
13.5% over the previous year as a result of higher price of chicken
meat and the higher sales record in volume from each selling
channel. Gross profit materially increased by 80% and gross profit

margin also heighted due to effective cost control.
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FEEDS TO EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS

—E——F —E-EF B D

2011 2010 change

LW A (AREETT) Turnover (RMB'000) 4,577,340 4,068,331 12.5%

EF(AREFIT) Gross profit (RMB'000) 488,411 432,887 12.8%
FEHE (%) Gross profit margin (%) 10.7 10.6
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The revenue of this segment was primarily derived from the
sales of different types of feeds (including piglets, sows, hogs
and poultry feeds) to China, Vietnam and Malaysia. Corn and
soybean and meals combined with an exclusive formula are the

key components for our high-tech feeds.

The Group focused on research and development of functional
feed in poultry and provided diversified finest product mix to
customers. The thriving breeding and rearing industry had
boosted the demand for feed, which is an up-stream industry
along the industry chain. Besides, the Group has long been
developing the high-tech feeds with functionality of enhancing
the animal immunity and disease resistance. Thus, the brand
gained popularity to a certain degree which increased our market
infiltration rate. Promotion in overseas markets also facilitated
the overall growth of the Group's feeds segment. As a result,
the segment revenue steadily grew and was 12.5% higher over

previous year.

Meanwhile, high end functional feeds were supported by the
Group's outstanding researches and development and we
launched diversified products pertained to various customer
demands, which facilitated the expansion of feed market.

—Z— — 5% Annual Report 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RZZ——F AREANIEREER B In 2011, feeds industry continued to develop and became
¥EPERERS  KERAMTCETSEE increasingly concentrated. The market share of leading feeds
TR A - A& E IR AE R 00 TE R K} 8 companies rose in a faster pace and the Group also actively
& DAKIIRARF - engaged in business activities increasing its sales of premix with

an aim to achieve higher profits.

T LA PROCESSED FOODS
—E——F —E-TF R B D
2011 2010 change
LW A (AREETFIT) Turnover (RMB'000)
— R R — Mainland China 1,100,218 693,411 58.7%
—d0 — Export 400,327 262,470 52.5%
&5 Total 1,500,545 955,881 57.0%
EF(ARETT) Gross profit (RMB’000)
— B A — Mainland China 127,235 81,487 56.1%
—d0 — Export 49,640 37,537 32.2%
&5 Total 176,875 119,024 48.6%
EHZE (%) Gross profit margin (%)
— R R — Mainland China 11.6 11.8
— A — Export 12.4 14.3
et 11.8 12.5

MIBRMERBREIHE EKERE] MER The processed food business involves the distribution of chilled
KRERARLER - UERE BERRER and frozen meat under the “Sisters’ Kitchen” brand, as well as
mh o AN B E M AMER A B S 1 8 S I marinated, pre-fried and ready-to-eat foods. The products are not

A2 BEAARERINGES o

only sold in the PRC market but also exported to overseas markets
including Japan.

AEEm (ZM) BBR/A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group continued to expand its market share of its own brand
“Sisters’ Kitchen” in China by optimizing sales channels and
by launching diversified product mix in response to the market
demand. In 2011, processed foods segment grew at a faster pace
and became one of the material income sources of the Group.
The turnover and gross profit of such segment both recorded a
significant growth. In addition, the Group promoted its growth of
processed food business as well as achieved a pleasing result
by optimizing the product mix and by launching new products
with high added values. In 2011, sales to large supermarkets
maintained a stable growth and our brand products were
successfully carried by large supermarkets in first tier cities, such
as Beijing and Shanghai. As for the overseas markets, benefited by
the transfer of international purchase orders, the market share of
our export business grew significantly. During 2011, income from

export business increased by 52.5%.

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

The Group adheres to provide healthy, safe and nutritious chicken
meat products for consumers in China and around the world, and
commits to the high standards of food quality, safety and hygiene.
In 2011, the Group was selected as one of the candidates of the
2nd “China Green Gold Award” (FE%:&5%) and was awarded
one of the “2011 Top 100 Green Companies of China” by Road
and Agricultural Research Center of China Entrepreneur Club,
representing the Group’s products and its operation received wide

recognition in society.

On 18 December 2011, Mr. Han Jian-Hwan, Chairman of
Dachan Food, was elected as the Vice-chairman of China Animal
Agriculture Association on the third member meeting of China

Animal Agriculture Association.
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AEEm (ZM) BBR/A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

OUTLOOK & FUTURE PLANS

The Chinese Government has expressed its focus on the
development of a highly modernized agricultural industry in its
twelfth five-year plan. Various policies will be introduced to support
farmers to carry out extensive feeding business, which will be
conducive to the thriving development of the industry. Further, the
Chinese Government also emphasized on introducing a regulated
supervisory system to ensure the importance of food safety.
Supported by this policy, stable economic growth in China and
increasing consumer’s customer’s concern on food safety, the

market demand for quality meat product will continue to grow.

CHICKEN MEAT

Coupled with better living standards, the market demand for
chicken meat has grown further. The Group intends to consolidate
the chicken meat segment vertically, driving up the sales demand
of its feed business in upstream while ensuring the stable supply
of safety meat under its brand in downstream. The Group will
continue to implement the food traceable system to provide safety

food and strive to improve profitability.

FEEDS TO EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS

The future development of feeds industry will focus on
consolidation among businesses, which will benefit the leading
listed corporations within the industry. To probe into this
development trend, the Group will strengthen the sales to large

scale breeding farms.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Moreover, the Group will utilize its biotechnology to develop the
functional products which could enhance the immunity and at the
same time, focus on the core products such as feeds for sows,
piglets and chick. Also, the Group will continue to develop high-
end products to enhance its brand popularity and position in feeds
market. Through improving the researches and development and
sales team, the Group intended to expand its sales channels as
well as arouse its brand awareness, thus laying a solid foundation

for the delivery of quality diversified products mix.

PROCESSED FOOD

The twelfth 5-year plan establishes policies and concrete plan
for the development of processed food industry from 2011 to
2015. The plan highlights food safety, domestic researches
and development and the consolidation of the industry. Given
that highly lucratic processed food has been an important
factor the Group's rapid growth, the Group plans to capture the
huge consumption growing potential of Chinese food market
by reallocating resources from chicken meat products and by
products to high margin processed food. To effectively expand
our market shares, the Group will construct the finest product mix
pertaining to different regional markets among our target cities,
including Shanghai, Tianjing and Nanjing, primarily via distribution
channels of chained supermarkets as well as catering service
providers. Also, the Group will capitalize more resources to

capture the potential growth of overseas market.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW:

1)

2)

OTHER INCOME AND OPERATING EXPENSES

In 2011, other operating income of the Group amounted to
RMB8,807 thousand (2010: RMB10,617 thousand). Other
operating income mainly comprised interest income and

government grant.

In 2011, other net gains of RMB18,417 thousand (2010:
RMB4,793 thousand) was recorded. Other net gains mainly
included other non-operating net income such as net gains

on disposal of fixed assets, etc.

Distribution costs accounted for 2.63% of total turnover, up
from 2.62% in 2010.

Administrative expenses accounted for 2.43% of turnover
(2010: 2.58%).

LiQuipiTy, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s cash and bank deposit
balances amounted to RMB512,110 thousand, representing
an increase of RMB103,137 thousand from 2010. Bank
loans increased by RMB136,941 thousand to RMB402,079
thousand (2010: RMB265,138 thousand). The Group
had a net cash position of RMB110,031 thousand (2010:
RMB143,835 thousand). Debt to equity ratio was 21.1%
(2010: 14.7%). Current ratio was maintained at a healthy
level of 1.48 times (2010: 1.50 times).
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3)

4)

5)

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

In 2011, the Group's capital expenditure on the acquisition
of properties, machinery and equipment amounted to
RMB156,438 thousand which was primarily paid from

internal resources and funds.

EXCHANGE RATE

The Group's business transactions were mainly
denominated in USD, RMB and VND. During the year under
review, VND against USD depreciated by 7.87%, which had
impact on import of raw materials of the Group's subsidiary

companies in Vietnam.

INTEREST RATE

In 2011, the Group's interest expense amounted to
RMB19,334 thousand (2010: RMB15,454 thousand), a rise
of 25.1% from 2010. The increase in interest expense was
primarily due to an increase in bank loans from RMB265,138
thousand in 2010 to RMB402,079 thousand in 2011.
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6)

7)

8)

DiviDENDS

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK9.00 cents (2011:
HK4.00 cents) per share, amounting to approximately
RMB74,688 thousand (2011: RMB34,419 thousand) in total,
to shareholders whose names appear on the share register
on 9 July 2012. The proposed final dividend will require the
approval of shareholders at the Group’s Annual General
Meeting to be held on 29 June 2012.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2011, the Group pledged assets which
worth RMB39,853 thousand in land, property, plant and
equipment as security against bank facilities of RMB71,797
thousand, of which RMB15,679 thousand had been utilized
as at 31 December 2011.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2011, the capital expenditure of the
Group contracted for but not provided in the financial
statements was RMB52,634 thousand (2010: RMB26,492
thousand) and the capital expenditure authorised but
not contracted for was RMB80,809 thousand (2010:
RMB67,958 thousand).
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EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND
TRAINING

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a total of 14,774
employees (31 December 2010: 14,020). In order to attract
and retain talent for the business the Group offers competitive
remuneration packages to its staff with reference to industry
practice, the financial performance of the Group and the
employee’s own work performance. The Group sees its staff as
its most valuable asset and places great emphasis on their training
and career and personal development. With a view to further
enhance their job skills and industry knowledge the Group has
offered various training programs to its management staff and
other employees. The Group believes that these programs will
not only help its staff grow professionally they will also ultimately
benefit the Group’s long-term development as a result of having a

more skilled and loyal workforce.

The Group regularly reviews compensation and benefit policies
according to industry benchmark, financial results as well as
the individual performance of employees so as to offer fair and
competitive compensation packages to the employees. Other
fringe benefits, such as insurance, medical benefits and provident

fund, are provided to retain loyal employees.
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AEEm (ZM) BBR/A T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (825%) , aged 56, is the Chairman of the
Company since 2007. He is also a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee and the Chairman of the
executive committee since 2007. He is responsible for the overall
corporate strategies, planning and business development of the

Group.

Mr. Han has over 30 years of experience in feeds and food
production business in the Asia Pacific region. In recognition
of his contributions to the agricultural industry, Mr. Han was
one of the Ten Outstanding Young Persons (+A£EHSE) in
Taiwan in 1994. Mr. Han received his bachelor degree in business
administration from National Cheng-chi University (B BUA KR
) and a master degree in business administration from the
University of Chicago in 1977 and 1983 respectively. He is a
brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han Chia-
Yin.

Mr. Han Chia-Yin (¥83X&) , aged 52, has been appointed as
an executive director and a member of the Executive Committee
since 27 October 2011. He also serves as a director of Great Wall
Enterprise Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in Taiwan whose
shares are listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation and is
the controlling shareholder of the Company. He used to be the
president of the Great Wall Group Food Service Division and held
a number of positions in certain associations of the food industry
in Taiwan. Mr. Han graduated from Feng Chia University in Taiwan
with a bachelor degree in Information Engineering & Computer
Science and obtained a master degree in Computer Science from

the University of New Haven in USA.
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Mr. Han has extensive experience in livestock feeds industry
and has over 18 years of experience in developing food products
and setting up food chains. He has been working with a number
of well-known international food brands, including Burger King,
Pasco and Saboten over the years. He also successfully developed
popular food brand names such as Gino in Shanghai, Beijing and
Tianjin. Since 2010, he has started pig farming with the aim of
developing pollution free farming.

Mr. Han is a younger brother of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Han Chia-
Yau and Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, Chairman and non-executive Directors

of the Company.

Ms. Chen Li-Chin (Ff12%), aged 54 has been appointed as an
executive Director since 27 October 2011. She was appointed
as the Chief Finance Officer of the Company on 16 February
2009 and was promoted as the Chief Administrative Officer of
the Company on 22 September 2011. She is also a member of
the executive committee of the Company. She is responsible for
the Group's overall financial management, capital planning and
allocation and investor relationship. Prior to joining the Company,
she was the Vice President of TSRC Corporation, a listed company
in Taiwan. She had over 20 years of experience in finance and
investor relationship, with senior roles of large and renounced
multinational corporations, including Intel Microelectronic (3=
o ARHE AR A F]), Johnson & Johnson Medical and
Siemens Telecommunication System. Ms Chen obtained an

EMBA degree from National Taiwan University.
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KEEm (ZEH) BPFR2A 7 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin (#KX2) , aged 65, is a non-executive
Director of the Company since 2007 and the chairman and a
director of Qiao Tai Xing Investment Co. Ltd. He is also the
chairman and director of both Bright View Electronics Co. Ltd.,

(BRRERNDERAT) andPEEE2HAIERERNDERAF
and a supervisor of Red Cross Organization (Regional Operations

Centre).

Mr. Chao graduated from Tamkang University (AT AZ) with a
bachelor degree in irrigation engineering with extensive business
management experience in both the information technology

industry and traditional industries, such as food and services.

Mr. Han Chia-Yau (33X 7F) , aged 62, is a non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company since 2007. Mr. Han joined Great
Wall Enterprise in 1992 and from 1993 to 2001, he was the vice
chairman of Great Wall Enterprise. Since 2001, Mr. Han has been

the chairman of Great Wall Enterprise.

Mr. Han obtained a bachelor degree from Chung Yuan Christian
University (FRERAES) and a master degree in science from the
University of Connecticut in 1973 and 1981 respectively. He is
a brother of Mr. Han Jia- Hwan, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han
Chia-Yin.
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Mr. Harn Jia-Chen(38%/= ), aged 57, is a non-executive Director
of the Company and a member of nomination committee of
the Company since 2007. Mr. Harn is also the vice chairman of
Great Wall Enterprise. Since 1995, he has been the chairman of
Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (KX E R (KE)BRAF), a
subsidiary of Great Wall Enterprise engaged in flour production.
Since 2001, he has been the chairman of Great Wall Yung Huo
Food (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (3L R A KM EmMARZAF]). Since 1999,
he has been the chairman of Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.(X
B iE (KE) BMRAF]) From 1997 to 2006, he was the director
of Great Wall Food (Shekou) Co., Ltd. (KB R (T AR AA]).
Since 2006, he is the chairman of Great Wall Food (Shekou) Co.,
Ltd. From 2003 until present, he is the chairman of DaChan Showa
Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (REKBBFEmMm (FE)BRAFAD). In May
2006, he was elected as the director of Taiwan Asset Enterprise
Association of Tianjin (KM & ERMIZERZERE) . From April
2007 to May 2010, he was elected as the vice-chairman of the
Association of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the Mainland
(2 & ERMTEPERES ). From May 2010 to present, he
has been the standing vice-president of the Association of Taiwan

Investment Enterprises on the Mainland.
He obtained his master degree in business administration from the

University of New Haven in 1986. He is a brother of Mr. Han Jia-
Hwan, Mr Han Chia-Yin and Mr. Han Chia-Yau.
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Mr. Nicholas William Rosa, aged 59, is a non-executive Director
of the Company since 2007 and is also a director of Continental
Enterprise Ltd.

Mr. Rosa has been in the agricultural industry, particularly the
poultry business, for over 30 years. He joined the animal feed
division of Continental Grain Company in 1975, and held positions
in credit, marketing and sales management, prior to becoming
vice president and general manager of Wayne Feed Division
in Chicago, lllinois. In 1997, he became the vice president of
International Industries for Continental Grain Company in New
York. He relocated to Beijing, China in 2007 and became the
senior vice president and managing director of ContiAsia division
of Continental Grain Company. Mr. Rosa was the director and
a member of the executive committee of the American Feed
Industry Association from 1997 to 2000 and has been a director of

several poultry companies in Europe and South America.

Mr. Rosa received his bachelor degree in economics in 1974 and
a master degree in business administration in 1975, both from

Arizona State University.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Chen Chih (F)4) , aged 58, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, the Chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company since 2007. Dr. Chen
served as the president of GE Medical Systems China since 1996
and was promoted to vice president of General Electric Company
since November 2001. He retired from General Electric Company
in 2009.

Dr. Chen received his Ph.D. degree in mechanical engineering
from Lehigh University in 1984.
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Mr. Liu Fuchun (2/%&%) , aged 65, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, the Chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee
and nomination committee of the Company since 2007. Mr. Liu
is also an independent director of China Aviation Qil (Singapore)
Corporation Ltd, which is listed on Singapore Stock Exchange. He
has more than 21 years of experience in international trade and

management and used to work in Europe for several years.

Mr. Liu obtained his Institute Certificate for the English program
from Beijing Institute of Foreign Trade (It RSMNEZEEFR) in 1975.

Mr. Way Yung-Do (Z#5x®) , aged 66, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, the Chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee. Mr. Way has over 35 years of
experience in financial advisory, accounting and auditing and had
worked for two international accounting firms for over 29 years

and was retired in 2007.

Mr. Way graduated from Soochow University (BREAZ) with
a bachelor degree in accounting and obtained a master degree in
business administration from the University of Georgia. He is also

a certified internal auditor of the Institute of Internal Auditors.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Ou Chang-Jou (BUE#}) |, aged 60, is the Chief Operation
Officer of the Company. He is also a member of the executive
committee of the Company. He is responsible for the Group’s
overall operation and management. He has over 27 years of
experience in commodity procurement and trading business

operation.

Mr. Ou obtained a bachelor degree in business management from
the National Cheng-Kung University (BISZAXIIAER) in 1974,
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Mr. Li Jing-Hui (Z££18&), aged 54, joined the Group on 24 October
2011. He is the senior vice-president and a member of Executive
Committee, responsible for the management and operation of
full-serviced broiler business. Before joining the Company, Mr. Li
was the representative of the 11th Session of People’s Congress
of Qinhuangdao of Hebei Province and an executive director of
China Poultry Association. He also worked for several famous local
enterprises such as B/ & and CP Group. Mr. Li has 26-year
experience in livestock industry.

Mr. Li graduated from Agricultural University of Hebei with a

bachelor degree in livestock in 1982.

Mr. Chang Yu-Lung (5R#F£), aged 50, joined the Group in
2000. He is the senior vice-president and a member of Executive
Committee of the Company, responsible for the R&D, production,
procurement, sales and management of feed business of the
Group. Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhang worked for DaChan
Group in Taiwan and Vietnam and took charge of feed business of
Chinese and South Asian market. He has over 21-year experience
in feed business.

Mr. Zhang graduated from National Central University with a

master degree in production economics in 1988.

Mr. Chen Yung-Fa (R & 2%), aged 48, was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company on 22 September 2011. Also, he
is a member of Executive Committee, responsible for the overall
financial planning and management as well as investor relationship
of the Group. Before joining the Company, Mr. Chen worked for
Continental Holdings Corporation, a listed company in Taiwan, as
a deputy chief financial officer. He has over 20-year experience on
finance-related sector.

Mr. Chen obtained a master degree in business administration

from University of Colorado in 1992.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present the Corporate Governance Report for the year ended 31
December 2011.

The Board is committed to enhancing the Group’s corporate
governance standards by improving corporate transparency
through effective channels of information disclosure. The
Board believes that good corporate governance is beneficial for
maintaining close and trustful relationships with its employees,

business partners, shareholders and investors.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board adopted the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules™)
as the guidelines for corporate governance of the Group, and has

taken steps to comply with the Code wherever appropriate.

The CG Code has been revised and renamed as “Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report” (the
“Revised Code") by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong in October
2011. On 23 March 2012, the Board has adopted the Revised

Code as the guidelines for corporate governance of the Group.
In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with all the

code provisions set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2011.
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THE BOARD

M

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises 10 directors, 3 of whom
are executive directors, 4 are non-executive directors and
3 are independent non-executive directors (“INEDs"). The
composition of the Board is set out as follows:
Executive directors: Han Jia-Hwan (Chairman)
Chen Fu-Shih (resigned on
27 October 2011)
Shu Edward Cho-Shen
(resigned on 31 May 2011)
Han Chia-Yin (appointed
on 27 October 2011)
Chen Li-Chin (appointed on
27 October 2011)

Chao Tien-Shin

Han Chia-Yau

Harn Jia-Chen
Nicholas William Rosa

Non-executive directors:

Independent Chen Chih
non-executive directors: Liu Fuchun
Way Yung-Do

The biographies of the directors are set out in the “Directors
and Senior Management Profile” section on pages 22 to 28

of this annual report.

The members of the Board are responsible to the
shareholders for formulating the overall business
development targets and long-term company strategies,
assessing results of management policies and monitoring

performance of the management.
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The non-executive directors play an important role on the
Board. Accounting for more than half of the Board members,
they are experienced professionals in their respective fields.
They are responsible for ensuring that the Board maintains
high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting
as well as providing adequate checks and balances for
safeguarding the interest of shareholders of the Company
and the Group as a whole. Throughout the year of 2011,
the Board at all times met the requirements of having at
least 3 INEDs and that at least one of them had appropriate
professional qualifications of accounting or related financial

management expertise.

Pursuant to the Listing Rule 3.13, the Group has received
written confirmations from each INED of his independence
to the Group. The Group considers all of the INEDs to be

independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the Directors and senior management
profile of this annual report, there is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant

relationships) among the members of the Board.

The directors meet regularly to review the Group's financial
and operational performance and to discuss and formulate
future development plans. Regular Board meetings are
attended by a majority of the directors in person or through
other electronic means of communication.

During 2011, the Board held 4 regular meetings and no
additional meeting was held during the year. Apart from
holding board meetings, the Board also passed resolutions

in writing to approve certain operational matters.
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The attendance records of each director at the said Board

meetings are set out below:

Regular

Directors Board Meetings

Executive Directors

Han Jia-Hwan (Chairman) 4/4
Chen Fu-Shih (resigned on 27 October 2011) 2/4
Shu Edward Cho-Shen (resigned on 31 May 2011) 2/2
Han Chia-Yin (appointed on 27 October 2011) n/a
Chen Li-Chin (appointed on 27 October 2011) n/a

Non-executive Directors

Chao Tien-Shin 4/4
Han Chia-Yau 4/4
Harn Jia-Chen 4/4
Nicholas William Rosa 3/4

Independent Non-executive Directors

Liu Fuchun 3/4
Chen Chih 4/4
Way Yung-Do 4/4

On 23 March 2012, the Board has adopted a set of
consolidated memorandum of duties setting out its
delegation policy, procedures for directors seeking
professional advice and reporting procedures and division of
responsibility between the chairman and the chief executive

officer.
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MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board

include those relating to:

o corporate and capital structure;

° corporate strategy;

° significant policies affecting the Group as a whole;

o business plan including major production and
marketing plans, budgets and public announcements;

U delegation to the Chairman, and delegation to and by
Board Committees;

. key financial matters;

o appointment, removal or reappointment of Board
members, senior management and auditors;

° remuneration of directors and senior management;
and

° communication with key stakeholders, including
shareholders and regulatory bodies.

The types of decisions that the Board has delegated to

management include:

° approving the extension of the Group's activities not in
a material manner into a new geographic location or a
new business;

o approving assessing and monitoring the performance
of all business units and ensuring that all necessary
corrective actions have been taken;

o approving expenses up to a certain limit;

o approving entering into of any connected transactions
not requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules;

o approving the nomination and appointment of
personnels;

o approving of press release concerning matters decided
by the Board;
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° approving any matters related to routine matters
or day-to-day operation of the Group (including the
entering into of any transaction not requiring disclosure
under the Listing Rules and the cease of non-material
part of the Group's business); and

o carrying out any other duties as the Board may

delegate from time to time.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

Under article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
at each annual general meeting, not less than one-third of
the directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation and every director, including those appointed for a
specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every 3 years while those retiring directors shall
be eligible for re-election. Any director who has not been
subject to retirement by rotation in the 3 years preceding the
annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at such annual
general meeting. Any further directors so to retire shall be
those who have been longest in office since their last re-

election or appointment.

Under the Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,

subject to re-election.

In accordance with the said provision of the Articles of
Association and the Code Provision A.4.1, the following
re-election arrangement was made in the annual general

meeting held on 24 June 2011:

. Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and Mr. Chen Fu-Shih, both being
the executive directors, were re-elected.

. Mr. Liu Fuchun and Mr. Chen Chih, both being
independent non-executive directors, were elected to
hold office until the conclusion of the annual general

meeting of the Company to be held in 2013.
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RoLES oF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The position of the Chairman is held by Mr. Han Jia-Hwan
and the position of chief executive officer was held by
Mr, Huang Shih-Kun during the year under review, and
the position has been taken up by Mr. Han Chia-Yin since
1 March 2012. This ensures a clear distinction between
the Chairman’s duty to manage the Board and the chief
executive officer's duty to oversee the overall internal
operation of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transaction on terms no less exacting than the
required standard as set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiries have been made with all directors
who have confirmed that throughout the year ended 31
December 2011, they complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of

conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions.

The directors’ interests in shares of the Group as at 31
December 2011 are set out on pages 72 to 73 of this annual

report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up 4 Board Committees, namely the

Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination

Committee and the Executive Committee to oversee particular

aspects of the Group's affairs.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources

to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are

able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 3 INEDs,

1 non-executive director and 1 executive director, namely:

o Liu Fuchun (Chairman)
o Chen Chih

o Han Chia-Yau

° Way Yung-Do

° Han Jia-Hwan

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference, which have been revised by the Board on 23
March 2012 pursuant to the Revised Code. The terms of
reference are available at the Company’s website at www.

dfa3999.com and HKEx's website at www.hkex.com.hk.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee

include:

° to make recommendations on the establishment of
procedures for developing remuneration policy and
structure of the executive directors and the senior
management;

° to make recommendation to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure for all remuneration of
directors and senior management;

o establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing policy on such remuneration;

o to review and approve the performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and

objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.
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During 2011, 1 Committee meeting was held on 27 October
2011 which all the current 5 members attended. During the
meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made

recommendation to the followings:

° the remuneration packages of a new member of the
senior management, including the grant of share

options and awarded shares.
AupiT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 INEDs, namely:

° Way Yung-Do (Chairman)
° Chen Chih
° Liu Fuchun

The Chairman of the Audit Committee is a professional
accountant with profound financial and accounting

expertise.

The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which have been revised on 23 March 2012 pursuant to
the Revised Code. The terms of reference are available on
the Company’s website at www.dfa3999.com and HKEx's

website at www.hkex.com.hk.

The Audit Committee planned to meet 4 times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals to review the truthfulness,
completeness, and accuracy of the Group’'s financial
statements. It is accountable to the Board and assists the
Board in meeting its responsibilities in ensuring an effective
and adequate system of internal controls and for meeting
its external financial reporting obligations and compliance
with other legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit
Committee also oversees the scope of work of external

auditors.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include the

following:

° review the financial statements and reports;

° review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference to the work performed by the external
auditors, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external
auditors;

o ensure the Group's compliance with statutory and
regulatory requirements;

° developments in accounting standards and the effect
on the Group;

° review the effectiveness of the system of internal
control of the Group;

° make proposal to the Board in relation to enhancement

of the internal control system of the Group.

During 2011, 4 Committee meetings were held.

The attendance records of each member of the Committee

at the said Committee meetings are set out below:

Attendance /

Directors Number of Meeting(s)
Way Yung-Do (Chairman) 4/4
Liu Fuchun 3/4
Chen Chih 4/4
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During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the

following:

° the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010 and the first three quarters during the
year of 2011;

o the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Company;

o statutory compliance;

o other financial reporting matters; and

o internal control system.

Remuneration of Auditors

A summary of audit and non-audit services provided by
KPMG, the Company's auditors for the year ended 31
December 2011 and their corresponding remuneration is as

follows:

Nature of services Amount
RMB’'000

Audit services 4,446

Non-audit services

e Tax services 51

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 INEDs, 1
non-executive director and 1 executive director, namely:

° Chen Chih (Chairman)
° Liu Fuchun

° Harn Jia-Chen

o Way Yung-Do

° Han Jia-Hwan
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The Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of
reference, which have been revised by the Board on 23
March 2012, pursuant to the Revised Code. The terms of
reference are available on the Company’s website at www.

dfa3999.com and HKEx's website at www.hkex.com.hk.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the

following:

° review and supervise the structure, size and
composition of the Board;

° identify qualified individuals to become members of
the Board,

° assess the independence of the INEDs;

° make recommendations to the Board on the

appointment or re-appointment of directors.

During 2011, 2 Committee meetings were held.

The attendance records of each member of the Committee

at the said Committee meetings are set out below:

Attendance /

Directors Number of Meeting(s)
Chen Chih (Chairman) 2/2
Liu Fuchun 2/2
Way Yung-Do 2/2
Harn Jia-Chen 2/2
Han Jia-Hwan 2/2
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During the meetings, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the following:

° the rotation of directors in the AGM held in 2011

° the resignation of Mr. Chen Fu-Shih as executive
director; and

o the appointment of Mr. Han Chia-Yin and Ms. Chen Li-
Chin as executive director;

Executive COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated responsibilities to the Executive
Committee for making certain decisions for the
management of the Group. In accordance with its terms
of reference, members of the Executive Committee shall
be appointed by the Board from amongst the executive
directors and senior management of the Company only.
The Executive Committee consists of 7 Members, which
include 3 executive directors, the chief operation officer and
the chief finance officer of the Company as members. The
Executive Committee currently comprises the following
members:

° Han Jia-Hwan (Chairman)

° Han Chia-Yin (appointed as executive director on 27
October 2011)

° Chen Li-Chin (as Chief Financial Officer until she was

appointed as executive director on 27 October 2011)

° Ou Chang-Jou (Chief Operation Officer)
° Li Jing-Hui (Senior Vice President)

° Chen Yung-Fa (Chief Financial Officer)
° Chang Yu-Lung (Senior Vice President)
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board is responsible for the integrity of financial information.
The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the accounts for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash

flows for that period.

The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it
is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the

financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company has employed its own internal auditors to perform
regular and systemic reviews of the Group's internal control
system. The reviews provide reasonable assurance that the
internal control system continues to operate satisfactorily and
effectively within the Group and the Company.

With the assistance of the professional advisers, the in-house
internal auditors and the Audit Committee, the Board annually
conducts a review on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
controls, particularly in respect of the controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to safeguard

shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets.

After the annual review in 2011, the Board is satisfied with the
adequacy of the system of internal control of the Company and the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group's accounting and financial reporting function, and their

training programmes and budget.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

All published information, including all the statutory
announcements, press releases and event calendars, is promptly
posted on the Company’s website at www.dfa3999.com. Viewers
can also send enquiries to the Board or senior management by
email at investors@dachan.com.cn or directly by raising questions

at the general meeting of the Company.
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Report of the Directors

The Board has pleasure in submitting the annual report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding,
and through its subsidiaries, operating a highly vertically integrated
business model encompassing feeds production, chicken meat

processing and supply of processed foods.

SUBSIDIARIES

A list of subsidiaries together with their places of operations
and incorporation and particulars of their issued share capital/

registered capital, is set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that date

are set out in the financial statements on pages 67 to 220.

Profits attributable to owners of the Company of RMB196,089
thousand (2010: RMB109,382 thousand) have been transferred to
reserves. Other movements in reserves of the Group and of the
Company are set out on page 72 of the annual report and note

27(d) to the financial statements.

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK9.0
cents (2011: HK4.0 cents) per share, amounting to approximately
RMB74,688 thousand (2011: approximately RMB34,419
thousand) in total, to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members on 9 July 2012. The proposed final dividend
will be voted by shareholders at the AGM to be held on 29 June
2012.

—Z— — 5% Annual Report 2011
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the

year are set out in note 27(c) to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis

to the existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB446,000.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out
in note 14 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFT

Particulars of bank loans and overdrafts of the Group as at 31

December 2011 are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

LISTING OF SHARES

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 4 October 2007.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date

of this report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (Chairman)
Mr. Shu Edward Cho-Shen
(Resigned on 31 May 2011)
Mr. Chen Fu-Shih
(Resigned on 27 October 2011)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin
(Appointed on 27 October 2011)
Ms. Chen Li-Chin
(Appointed on 27 October 2011)

NoN-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Nicholas William Rosa

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Dr. Chen Chih
Mr. Liu Fuchun
Mr. Way Yung-Do

—Z——FF 3R Annual Report 2011
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

One of the executive directors, Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from the listing date of the Company’s
shares on 4 October 2007 (the “Listing Date"”) and renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year each commencing
from the day following the expiry of the then current term unless
and until (i) terminated by either party thereto giving not less than
three month prior written notice, with the last day of the notice
falling on the last day of the initial term or any time thereafter; or
(ii) the director not being re-elected as a director or being removed
by shareholders at AGM of the Company in accordance with the
Articles of Association. The other two executive directors, Mr. Han
Chia-Yin and Ms. Chen Li-Chin have not entered into any service

contract with the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors and INEDs is appointed for
a fixed term of two years. In accordance with the Articles of the
Company, Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, Mr. Nicholas
William Rosa and Mr. Chao Tien-Shin will retire by rotation and Mr.
Way Yung-Do's term of appointment will expire at the conclusion
of the forthcoming AGM of the Company, and they being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. If re-elected, they
will hold office until the conclusion of the annual general meeting

of the Company of 2014.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers all the independent non-

executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out on pages 22 to 28 of this annual report.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST-PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of directors and the five highest-paid individuals
are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the directors or their associates had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Restricted Share Award Scheme (the "RSAS") was adopted
by the Board on 23 December 2008 (the “Adoption Date”). Unless
terminated earlier by the Board, the RSAS shall be valid and
effective for a term of ten years commencing on the Adoption
Date. At 23 October 2009, 910,000 shares were granted by the
Company to several directors and senior management staffs, and
all of the 910,000 shares were vested by 15 December 2011. On
27 October 2011, 390,000 shares were granted to one of senior
management members, 130,000 of which were vested on 15
December 2011.

The purpose of the RSAS is to recognize the contribution by
certain employees (including without limitation employees who
are also directors) of the Group and to give incentive to them in
order to retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further

development of the Group.

Pursuant to the terms of the RSAS, the Board may, from time
to time, at its absolute discretion and subject to such terms and
conditions as it may think fit (including the basis of eligibility of
each employee determined by the Board from time to time) to
select an employee for participation in the RSAS and determine

the number of shares to be awarded. The Board shall not grant any
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award of shares which would result in the total number of shares
which are the subject of awards granted by the Board under the
RSAS (but not counting those have lapsed or have been forfeited)
representing in aggregate over 2% of the issued share capital of

the Company as at the date of such grant.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (“Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. In accordance with the Option Scheme, the Company
may grant up to 100,000,000 share options within 10 years from
its adoption date, 14 September 2007. The following share options

were granted and outstanding under the Option Scheme during

the year.
RZE--£ =1y
RZB-- i BRETRDE  RE
SEEMLAER -f-8 ENAE  ERRE EROR EREM EREH =1-H RiAH (BFEEMA) (1)
Exercise
Name or Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled Asat Exercise period of  price per
Category of Asat during during during during 31 December Date of share options Share
Participant 1January 2011  Re-classified ~ theyear  theyear  theyear  the year 201 grant (both dates inclusive) (HKS)
#Es:
Executive directors:
55 850,000 - - - - - 80000 —FENFtR  ZEEAETA-TABE 1.088
Han Jia-Hwan g JAVE! “E-CETACTHE
28-Oct-08 28-0ct-09 to 27-0ct-12
5% - 250,000 - - - - 20000 ZEE\E+A ZERNETAZTI\RE 1.088
Han Chia-Yin —t/\R “3--E+R-++A
28-0ct-08 28-0ct-09 10 27-Oct-12
Gz - 400,000 - - - - 400000 ZEFN\ETAH ZEENEHAZTNRE 1.088
Chen Li-Chin g JAVE! “E-CETACTHE
28-Oct-08 28-0ct-09 to 27-0ct-12
Fa17Es:
Non-Executive
Directors:
%% 650,000 - - - - - 650,000 —ZEF\E+A ZEENETAZTNAE 1.088
Han Chia-Yau g JAVE! “E-CETACTHE
28-Oct-08 28-0ct-09 to 27-0ct-12
E5R 500,000 - - - - - 500000 ZEE\E+A ZERNETAZT\RE 1.088
Harn Jia-Chen —t/\R “3-—-E+R-++A
28-0ct-08 28-0¢ct-09 10 27-Oct-12
EXE 300,000 - - - - - 300000 ZEEN\E+A ZEENETAZTNAE 1.088
Chao Tien-Shin g AV “E-CETACTHE
28-Oct-08 28-0ct-09 to 27-0ct-12

|
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RZE-—- t2R BRETRE  ARE
SEZMLAER -f-A BiAR  EMRE  FROR  EAKN  EnEE =1-H RiLAH (BfEEERA)  (BR)
Exercise
Name or Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled Asat Exercise period of price per
Category of Asat during during during during 31 December Date of share options Share
Participant 1January 2011 Re-classified ~ theyear  theyear  theyear the year 201 grant (both dates inclusive) (HKS)
BuFinss:
Independent
Non-Executive
Directors:
s 300,000 - - - - - 300000 ZET/\E+A ZERNETAZTI\RE 1.088
Chen Chih —+/\A ZE-ZETAZ A
28-0ct-08 28-Oct-09 to 27-Oct-12
AR5 300,000 - - 200,000 - - 100000 =ET/\EFA ZERNETAZTI\RE 1.088
Liu Fuchun Z+NR ZE-ZETAZ A
28-0ct-08 28-Oct-09 to 27-Oct-12
g 300,000 - - 200,000 - - 100000 =ZET/\EFA ZERNETAZTI\RE 1.088
Way YungDo Z+NR ZT-CETACTER
28-0ct-08 28-Oct-09 to 27-Oct-12
et - - 900,000 - - - 900000 =E——%+A ZE-ZETAZT/\RR 1.62
Employees in ZT4A “E-RFTA-ttA
Aggregate 27-0ct-11 28-Oct-12 to 27-0ct-15
377,33 - - 104,33 - - 3673000 ZTTNFTA ZEEAETACT/\EE 1.088
ZThA ZB-CETACTLR
28-Oct-08 28-0ct-09 to 27-0ct-12
At 6,977,334 650,000 900,000  504.334 - - 8,023,000
Total

A R AT EUR ey ~ A
BBy Be i 25 v i 2k e 9% AT
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KRB BARRRBESRREERIIE
352 B F 2 ERMATE - RE LW AR A
M8+ AE LM BTAESETERR SN
RS A (MREST R ) BAE AR R RBR
FreVkER RORB T

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (“Model

Code"), were as follows:



(a) MARAFZHER - : (a) INTEREST IN THE COMPANY — LONG PosiTIONS:

RIBERA Lo N
PTEIAREZ 2BTRAE
BEEHME FrsEBEREE HERMDEE Bt 2O ESt
B AR Hihfgs
Number of Approximate
underlying % of issued
shares held share capital
Number of under equity of the
Name of Directors ordinary shares held derivatives Total Company
Personal Other
interest interest
HITEE -
Executive Directors:
BRE 192,000 - 850,000 1,042,000 0.10%
Han Jia-Hwan
FERE - 450,000 450,000 0.04%
Han Chia-Yin
PRIZE 153,000 - 400,000 553,000 0.05%
Chen Li-Chin
HHITESE -
Non-executive Directors:
BERT - - 650,000 650,000 0.06%
Han Chia-Yau
BRR - - 500,000 500,000 0.05%
Harn Jia-Chen
HAE - 3,534,000 300,000 3,834,000 0.38%
Chao Tien-Shin
BRE - - 300,000 300,000 0.03%
Chen Chih
ERIESS - - 100,000 100,000 0.01%
Liu Fuchun
K - - 100,000 100,000 0.01%
Way Yung-Do
HWAREXEBRRABERABEEERE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is deemed to be interested in 3,534,000
Bl B4 %I #ICTS Capital Group Limited shares held by Hannibal International Limited, a subsidiary of
KM EB AR Hannibal International CTS Capital Group Limited which is controlled by Mr. Chao
Limited AT#5 A9 3,534,000 I A% 17 4 and his spouse.
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(b) JAAA wIHIB BB W 5 A (b)  LONG POSITIONS IN UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
BEERARAIERENERFBEIRN Details of the directors’ interests in the share options of the
RNiRpE [FEARERT R —&p o Company are set out in the section headed “Share Option

Scheme” of this report.
IARA G2 -8 . (¢)  INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION OF THE CoMPANY — LONG

PosiTioNs:

EHERE N
NG| BRITRA
e E Z18 (frE) REHE Rz R
Approximate % of
the relevant associated
Name of Name of associated Nature Interests in corporation’ s issued
Directors corporation (Note 1) of interest shares held share capital
EXT AREREERNBR DA Enks 40,678 (L) 0.008%

Han Chia-Yau Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd.

Er ARRACERHBRAT
Harn Jia-Chen Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd.

HRE AREREERNBR DA

Chao Tien-Shin  Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd.

BiEE1 s AREWMOEEROARAR([KK
ERMEE]D)  REEEMARZLER
BEEFZHMLETHAR  BA
RRHRASIRARARR -

M2 BREEERABEARBELERE
EEZEHNEERAERERNAERAD
BIFTHEEY 6,813,593 A&k (7 #E%s ©

Beneficial owner

BalEa 43,692 (L) 0.008%

Beneficial owner

B3 VNG 6,813,593 (L) 1.3%
K (MEE2)
Interest of controlled

corporation (Note 2)

Note 1:  Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. (“Great Wall Enterprise”), a
company incorporated in Taiwan and listed on Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation, is the ultimate controlling shareholder of
the Company.

Note 2:  Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is deemed to be interested in the 6,813,593

shares held by Qiao Tai Xing Investment Co. Limited which is

controlled by Mr. Chao and his spouse.

—Z— — 5% Annual Report 2011
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the
directors and chief executive and their associates had registered
an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any director or his spouse or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

p AR ER Y3 SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

RZE——F+= —HB - ARFIRE As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the

BE LB J%336 BEEBRF 2 ELME persons, other than a director or chief executive of the Company,

AT (RRRIEZREBITHABRIN R in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded

RRATRG REBROPEBORER KB in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company

I N pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

AN A A LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY:

=L EEME iSviE 4= BHNES T
Nature of Number of  Approximate

Name interests shares %

Waverley Star Limited EmiEsn 375,899,946 (L) 37.13%
Beneficial interests

TME BRI AR Eatkm 152,924,906 (L) 15.10%

Asia Nutrition Technologies Beneficial interests

Corporation
RERB B ERDBR AR REHINR 2w 528,824,852 (L) 52.23%

Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd.

Interests of controlled corporation
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=g ERtE R E B BRBEDH
Nature of Number of  Approximate
Name interests shares %
Great Wall International RYEH AR s 528,824,852 (L) 52.23%
(Holdings) Ltd.
Interests of controlled corporation
GMT Capital Corp. EmilEm 80,842,400 (L) 7.98%
Beneficial interests
Continental Enterprises Ltd. EmiEm 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
Beneficial interests
ContiGroup Companies Inc. Ed e VN o 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
Interests of controlled corporation
Fribourg Grandchildren Family L.P.  ZZ#lARZ# 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
Interests of controlled corporation
Fribourg Enterprises, LLC Ed e VN o 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
Interests of controlled corporation
LA Robert Fribourg 4 Ed e VNG o 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
RERAN—NAALF
AR=+—HfE#E
Declaration of Trust dated Interests of controlled corporation
May 31, 1957, for the
benefit of Robert Fribourg
LA Paul Jules Fribourg A& B VN o 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%

ZwmAWN—NAEE
LA=+—R{ERE

Declaration of Trust dated
May 31, 1957, for the
benefit of Paul Jules
Fribourg

Interests of controlled corporation
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=g EREE Lgny-4= BHED
Nature of Number of  Approximate
Name interests shares %
LA Nadine Louise Fribourg 4 Ak N o - e 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
Z@mAM—NEEF
AA=+—HExE
Declaration of Trust dated Interests of controlled corporation
May 31, 1957, for the
benefit of Nadine Louise
Fribourg
LA Charles Arthur Fribourg 4 Ak N o - e 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
ZwmAM—NEEF
AA=+—HExE
Declaration of Trust dated Interests of controlled corporation
May 31, 1957, for the
benefit of Charles Arthur
Fribourg
LA Caroline Renee Fribourg 4 SIEHIA R 2 s 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
@A —NR=F
NAT BETHE
Trust Agreement Dated Interests of controlled corporation
September 16, 1963,
for the benefit of Caroline
Renee Fribourg
Fribourg Charles Arthur ZEEA 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
Trustee
Sosland Morton Irvin ZEEA 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
Trustee
Fribourg Paul Jules ZEEA 59,700,029 (L) 5.90%
Trustee

KEEm (ZEH) BPFR2A 7 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Report of the Directors

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, no person,
other than the directors and chief executive of the Company
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures” above, had notified the Company of an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into a number of continuing
connected transactions with the following connected persons (as

defined in the Listing Rules), namely:

(1) DaChan (VN) Co., Ltd. ("DVN", being an indirect non wholly-
owned subsidiary of Great Wall Enterprise);

(2) Great Wall Enterprise (being the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company) and its subsidiaries (being
associates of Great Wall Enterprise) excluding the Group
(the "Excluded Group”);

(83)  Marubeni Corporation (“Marubeni”, being a substantial
shareholder of a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) and its subsidiaries (being an associate of
Marubeni); and

4) wNEZERBARAR("EINEE"), being a substantial
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company.)
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The Group entered into the following connected transactions
(other than connected transactions that are exempted under
Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules) and continuing connected
transactions (other than continuing connected transactions that
are exempted under Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules) during the
year ended 31 December 2011:

(@ On 19 May 2011, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with &3k in respect of an acquisition of
additional equity interests in Yanzhou Dachan Food Co., Ltd.
The acquisition is on normal commercial terms. For further
details of the share transfer agreement, please refer to the

Company’s announcement dated 19 May 2011.

(b)  On 14 September 2007, the Group entered into a master
supply agreement with Great Wall Enterprise in respect of
selling raw materials for manufacturing animal feeds and
chicken meat products to the Excluded Group. The quoted
prices are based on normal commercial terms and terms are
no less favourable to the members of the Company than
terms given by such members of our Group to independent
third parties. During the year, the Group sold products
to Great Wall Enterprise with a total value of RMB3,189
thousand approximately. For further details of the master
supply agreement, please refer to pages 168 to 169 of the
prospectus of the Company dated 20 September 2007 (the

“Prospectus”).

On 23 November 2009, the Group entered into the master
supply (renewal) agreement with Great Wall Enterprise
which became effective and superseded the previous
master supply agreement on 1 January 2010 to extend
the expiry date of the agreement to 31 December 2012.
The terms of the master supply (renewal) agreement are
substantially the same as its predecessor. For further details
of the master supply (renewal) agreement, please refer to

the Company’s announcement dated 23 November 2009.
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Report of the Directors

On 14 September 2007, the Group entered into a master
purchase agreement with Great Wall Enterprise in respect
of purchase of ingredients for feed production from the
Excluded Group. The quoted prices are based on normal
commercial terms and terms are no less favourable to
the members of the Group than terms available from
independent third parties. For further details of the master
purchase agreement, please refer to pages 169 to 170 of the

Prospectus.

On 5 June 2008, the Group entered into a modification
agreement with Great Wall Enterprise extending the term
of the master purchase agreement to 31 December 2010.
The annual caps for the transactions thereunder for the
three years ending 31 December 2010 had been revised
and/or approved on 18 July 2008. For further details of the
modification agreement, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 13 June 2008 and circular dated 30
June 2008.

On 23 November 2009, the Group entered into the master
purchase (renewal) agreement with Great Wall Enterprise
which became effective and superseded the previous
master purchase agreement on 1 January 2010 to extend
the expiry date of the agreement to 31 December 2012.
The terms of the master purchase (renewal) agreement are
substantially the same as its predecessor. For further details
of the master supply (renewal) agreement, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 23 November 2009
and circular dated 11 December 2009.

During the year, the total procurement from Great Wall
Enterprise by the Group amounted to RMB24,592 thousand

approximately.
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On 14 September 2007, the Group entered into a trademark
licence deed with Great Wall Enterprise. Pursuant to the
trademark licence deed, Great Wall Enterprise grants to
the Group an exclusive and non-transferable licence to use
the trademarks owned by Great Wall Enterprise, with a
right to sub-license to any of our Company’s subsidiaries.
Under the trademark licence deed, the royalties payable to
Great Wall Enterprise are charged at the rate of 0.1% of the
total net sales of the products of the Group attributable to
the trademarks licensed by Great Wall Enterprise since 4
October 2007, the Listing Date.

On 23 November 2009, the Group entered into the
trademarks licence (renewal) deed with Great Wall
Enterprise which became effective and superseded the
previous trademarks licence deed on 1 January 2010 to
extend the expiry date of the agreement to 31 December
2012. The terms of the trademarks licence (renewal) deed
are substantially the same as its predecessor. For further
details of the master supply (renewal) agreement, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 23 November
2009.

During the year, the Group paid a sum of RMB7,596
thousand approximately as royalties to Great Wall
Enterprise. For further details of the trademark license deed,

please refer to pages 171 to 172 of the Prospectus.
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Report of the Directors

On 14 September 2007, the Group entered into a master
supply agreement with Marubeni in respect of selling of
processed food by the Group to Marubeni. The pricing of the
goods sold was determined by reference to the actual cost
of the goods sold plus a reasonable profit. The quoted price
is not less than the price charged to an independent third
party. If no such comparable reference price is available,
the quoted price was based on normal commercial terms
which were considered fair and reasonable by the Group and

Marubeni.

On 23 November 2009, the Group entered into the master
supply (renewal) agreement with Marubeni which became
effective and superseded the previous master supply
agreement on 1 January 2010 to extend the expiry date
of the agreement to 31 December 2012. The terms of the
master supply (renewal) agreement are substantially the
same as its predecessor. For further details of the master
supply (renewal) agreement, please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 23 November 2009 and circular dated
11 December 2009.

During the year, the Group sold processed food to Marubeni
with a total value of RMB183,187 thousand approximately.
For further details of the agreement, please refer to pages
173 to 174 of the Prospectus.

On 5 June 2008, the Group entered into a master purchase
agreement with Marubeni (China) Co., Ltd. (“Marubeni
PRC", being a subsidiary of Marubeni) in respect of
purchasing products (mainly soybean meal for chicken
feeds production) by the Group from Marubeni PRC and
its subsidiaries. The pricing policy is to adhere to the
fair market price ranges of products comparable to the
products to be purchased as offered in the PRC market
as at the time when the relevant sale and purchase is
performed. If no comparable prices from independent
third parties are available for references, the terms shall be
determined by agreement between the parties based on
normal commercial terms that are considered to be fair and

reasonable by both parties.
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On 23 November 2009, the Group entered into the master
purchase (renewal) agreement with Marubeni PRC which
became effective and superseded the previous master
supply agreement on 1 January 2010 to extend the expiry
date of the agreement to 31 December 2012. The terms of
the master purchase (renewal) agreement are substantially
the same as its predecessor. For further details of the
master supply (renewal) agreement, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 23 November 2009 and
circular dated 11 December 2009.

During the year, the Group purchased products from
Marubeni PRC with a total value of RMB27,505 thousand
approximately. For further details of the master purchase
agreement, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 13 June 2008 and circular dated 30 June 2008.

On 1 March 2011, the Group entered into a master supply
agreement with DVN, pursuant to which the Group would
provide feed processing services for aquafeed products,
including purchasing, merchandising and storing raw
materials and producing and delivering the products
as required by DVN. The price of such transaction was
determined with reference to the actual costs plus profits,
which was no less favourable than the Group available
to receive from independent third party. If there was
no comparable price, it would be determined on normal
commercial terms that the Group and DVN both thought
fair and reasonable. For further details of the master supply
agreement, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 23 April 2010 and circular dated 12 May
2010.

During the year, the Group supplied feeds to DVN with a
total value of RMB71,258 thousand approximately.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other transactions which

require disclosure in the annual report in accordance with the

Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

The directors confirm that save as disclosed above, the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
confirmed that the above-mentioned continuing connected
transactions were entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of the Group’s business; (ii) either on normal commercial terms
or on terms no less favorable to the Group than those available to
or from independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the
terms of the respective agreements governing such transactions
on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions pursuant to rule 14A.38 of
the Listing Rules and advised the Board in writing with a copy
provided to the Stock Exchange that the transactions: (i) have been
approved by the Board; (ii) have been entered into in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and (iii)

have not exceeded the cap disclosed previously.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers in 2011 and 2010 accounted for 10.4% and 10.0% of
the total sales of the Group respectively. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of total purchases for both years ended 31 December
2010 and 2011.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had any interest in the five largest

customers or suppliers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set up by its human
resources department and seeks to provide remuneration
packages on the basis of the merit, qualifications and competence

of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Company will be reviewed by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to factors including the Group’s operating results,
responsibilities required of the Directors and senior management

and comparable market information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at
the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the

prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 224 of the
annual report.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as
auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Han Jia-Hwan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2012
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 67 to 220, which comprise the consolidated and Company
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011, the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2011 and of the Group's profit and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in

accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

23 March 2012



(BREFIEAIN - RARETITES)EZE2011F12 831 BIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

Fiex —Z——F —T-TF
Note 2011 2010
EWA Turnover 4 11,215,942 9,551,759
SHERAR Cost of sales (10,359,628) (8,893,731)
ER Gross profit 856,314 658,028
EMEEN R BENEE Change in fair value of biological
IHE KA assets less costs to sell 18 (2,753) 2,130
Fair value of agricultural produce
BARBENSERRER on initial recognition 17(d) 42,286 25,143
FHEREEBEMRT Reversal of fair value of agricultural
BENARER produce due to sales and disposals 17(d) (43,585) (24,139)
Hibag A Other operating income 5 8,807 10,617
Hio#ka Other net gains 5 18,417 4,793
k=D Distribution costs (295,247) (250,133)
ABFRZ Administrative expenses (272,050) (246,806)
KERF Profit from operations 312,189 179,633
Eop b Finance costs 6(a) (19,334) (15,454)
FEfhiEE AR2RAREE Share of losses for
equity-accounted investees 16 (1,850) (1,246)
BREL AR A Profit before taxation 6 291,005 162,933
Fris®t Income tax 7 (38,141) (16,414)
FRER Profit for the year 252,864 146,519
THALRER Attributable to:
ARAIRR Equity shareholders of the Company 196,089 109,382
FEIERR Non-controlling interests 56,775 37,137
FRaF Profit for the year 252,864 146,519
BREF Earnings per share
- &K - Basic 12 RMB0.1944 RMBO0.1085
o | - Diluted 12 RMB0.1940 RMBO0.1082
F 76 2F 220 BRKN T AR SRR B The notes on pages 76 to 220 form part of these financial
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BE201112 A31 HILFE (BREBEPIN - RARBFTZS))
For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

P s —T——5F —T-TF
Note 2011 2010
F R F Profit for the year 252,864 146,519
HEFING B A B8 75 Exchange differences on
I AIRE = translation of financial statements
of overseas subsidiaries 11 (45,312) (30,118)
FREEK LR Total comprehensive
income for the year 207,552 116,401
THIALREL : Attributable to:
iN/NE] S Equity shareholders
of the Company 153,915 80,396
IR S Non-controlling interests 53,637 36,005
FREZHEKNEEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 207,552 116,401

76 25220 BEMMIE AT B HRK AAK The notes on pages 76 to 220 form part of these financial

# o statements.
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(BREAEAN  UARKTITES))1R2011F12 831 R

At 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

FisE —T——5F —T-TF
Note 2011 2010
FRBEE Non-current assets
EE&E Fixed assets 14
— W - BRE REE — Property, plant and equipment 1,065,813 1,065,459
—TENHEERIE — Lease prepayments 131,961 121,961
RIES ARSI ARAEZR  Interests in equity-accounted investees 16 28,194 8,036
BT IEEE Deferred tax assets 26(c) 30,502 29,327
1,256,470 1,224,783
mENEE Current assets
TE Inventories 17 960,117 724,606
EYEE Biological assets 18 14,314 13,479
FEUE Z BRI Trade receivables 19 380,717 318,041
oA e sk IE Other receivables 20 370,757 368,574
AIUREIFT1SHR Income tax recoverable 26(a) 376 -
ReRRSFED Cash and cash equivalents 21 512,110 408,973
2,238,391 1,833,673
REBEE Current liabilities
FEITE SRR Trade payables 22 697,682 621,007
H b fE(5RIE Other payables 23 388,852 308,264
RITER Interest-bearing borrowings 24 393,442 259,328
b N EER Loan from an associate - 5,033
FETETSRL Income tax payable 26(a) 31,704 26,314
1,511,680 1,219,946
MEBEEFE Net current assets 726,711 613,727
EERABERABDAER Total assets less current liabilities 1,983,181 1,838,510
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The notes on pages 76 to 220 form part of these financial



K2011F12 A31 B (BEHEEAN - AARETFTES)
At 31 December 2011
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

& 22— —"T-FF
Note 2011 2010
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
IRITER Interest-bearing borrowings 24 8,637 5,810
FIEMIBRE Deferred tax liabilities 26 466 106
9,103 5,916
EEFE Net assets 1,974,078 1,832,594
B #E Capital and reserves
A&z Share capital 27(c) 97,330 97,259
i Reserves 27(d) 885,611 920,662
1REEE R Retained profit 731,734 574,179
KARRRELEREE Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of
the Company 1,714,675 1,592,100
FEEAR Non-controlling interests 259,403 240,494
ESAE Total equity 1,974,078 1,832,594

KHEEFEN_T——F=A=-+=A#tE Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23

R - March 2012.
BXRE g
Han Jia-Hwan Chen Li-Chin
EY:4 HITEE
Chairman Executive director
F 76 25220 BRM T AR IS RR B The notes on pages 76 to 220 form part of these financial
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# o statements.



(BREAEAN  UARKTITES))1R2011F12 831 R

At 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

FisE —T——5F —T-TF
Note 2011 2010
FRBEE Non-current assets
RHTB AR RIRE Investments in subsidiaries 15 720,871 725,899
mENEE Current assets
H A FEUGRIE Other receivables 20 5,654 5,271
FEU T8 A BIFRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 642,256 636,626
ReRREEFED Cash and cash equivalents 21 6,726 7,534
654,636 649,431
mEEE Current liabilities
HAb R FRIA Other payables 23 13,400 10,345
RITER Interest-bearing borrowings 24 57,968 3,311
FER RS EL Income tax payable 696 -
FETRBE T 7R Amounts due to related parties 23 8,763 6,311
80,827 19,967
REEEFE Net current assets 573,809 629,464
EEFE Net assets 1,294,680 1,355,363
B #E Capital and reserves
A& Share capital 27(a) 97,615 97,575
Ei Reserves 27(d) 1,080,305 1,146,235
IREB A Retained profit 116,760 111,553
fERAE Total equity 1,294,680 1,355,363

KhmESeN -_E——E=A=-+=H#E
K 5 S o

bl

ok

=

76 25220 EMMIE AR B HRER AN
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March 2012.

BXRE
Han Jia-Hwan
T

Chairman

statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23

G
Chen Li-Chin
HITEE

Executive director

The notes on pages 76 to 220 form part of these financial



BE201112 A31 HILFE (BREBEPIN - RARBFTZS))
For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

KATRRES
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
HRfaER
W e
Share- FihiEs
Bx REGE BERE GHEE iR ERGE  based BEER Non- EREE

Share  Share Redemption ~ Merger Statutory Translation payment Retained 2if controling  Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve reserves  reserve reserve  profits  Total interests  equity
(W (a2 (R (MR (B2 (KR (W

k3 ) i) 6 6D i) ()

Note (ote ~ (note (note  (note  (note  (note [note
) 270 2l 20 27 2l 27 div)

W5--%-5- At 1 January 2011 97259 575,253 318 396064 60901 (113956) 2,082 574179 1592100 240,494 1,832,594
Emit Profit for the year - - - - - - - 196,089 196,089 56775 252864
el e (Other comprehensive income 11 - - - - AL - - A174) (3138 (45312)
EREENGER Total comprehensive

ncomefortheyear - - - - - -l - 196,080 183915 83631 20755
WEREEHRNZNRS  Equtysetied share based

payment transactions % o 10% (31) - - - 98 - 12 - 12
EER Appropriations - - - ] - - 49 - - -
WENBAZ0%EE  Acquistion of additional 30%

8quity interest n a subsiciary 15 -0 - - - - - - 104 (107%9)  (9735)
HiER EAER Capital contrbution from

anon-controling interest - - - - - - - - - AN 217
ETHRRORE Dividends approved n respect

of the previous year 27 - - - - - - - [33597) (33597) (26,676) (60,273)
W=B——F+=B=F-H Balance at 31 December 2011

HEs 91330 571312 287 396064 65838 (156,130 2180 731,734 1714675 259403 1974078

F 76 25220 BRM T AR IS RR B The notes on pages 76 to 220 form part of these financial
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# o statements.



SLEEREBHR (FH)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

(BRZEERBEIN - UARKETF T2 HE2011F12 831 BIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

KOARRESL
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
IRRER
W HEE
Share- FiERER
RE hiheE BEESE AMEE ETER EREE e FEEM No fE&iEE
Shere  Share Redemption ~ Merger ~ Statutory Translation  payment  Retained i contoling~ Total
capital premium reseve  resenve  resenves  reseve  resenve  profis  Total interests  equity
(s (Mgw (i (Mo (kg o (B
Hi ) 1 ) A 1)
Note fote (ot fote  [ote  (ote (ot [note
0 200 20 27 27 27 27 i)
#-%-%5-F- At 1 January 2010 9.5 57368 57 36064 K036 BAOT0) 1807 496427 153565 206960 1762525
R Profit or the year - - - - - - - 109382 109382 37137 146519
Efp2AkE (Other comprehensive income 11 - - - - - (28986) - - (8986 (1132 60118
EREENELE Totel comprehensive icome for heyear - - - - - - (o - - 109382 803% 36006 116401
IEREENRARMNRS  Eouity-setfled sharebased
Dayment transactions i 4 13 61 - - - 5 (119) 499 - 499
AERE Appropriations - - - - hS - - b8 - - -
WENBAZ0%ER  Aouistion of aaditional 19%
eouity interest in a subsidiary 15 - 13 - - - - - - 13 8003 (7,790)
K TRRMES Dividends approved in respect
of the previous year 270b) - - - - - - - (4573 (4573 (14468 (39.041)
WZB-FE+-A=F-H Balance at 31 December 2010
ifsh 97259 575,283 318306064 60000 [113956) 2082 574179 1592100 240494 1832594
F 76 2F 220 BRKN T AR SRR B The notes on pages 76 to 220 form part of these financial
5 o statements.
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BE201112 A31 HILFE (BREBEPIN - RARBFTZS))
For the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

i3 —E——fF e as
Note 2011 2010
REER Operating activities
B35 Al A Profit before taxation 291,005 162,933
AT BB : Adjustments for:
—EMEEAREBEN — Change in fair value of biological
SEREERA assets less costs to sell 18 2,753 (2,130)
—RARBENSERRER — Fair value of agricultural produce
on initial recognition 17(d) (42,286) (25,143)
—EHERLERERMD — Reversal of fair value of agricultural
BERNAREE produce due to sales and disposals 17(d) 43,585 24,139
— LR AR2RAREE — Share of losses of
equity-accounted investees 16 1,850 1,246
—HrERE#H - Depreciation and amortisation 14 117,002 115,611
-HERTEE (k=) — Net (gain)/loss on disposals
EiEFE of fixed assets 5 (7,411) 3,510
—ENE SEFRESEFE — Net impairment losses
on trade receivables 19(b) (2,028) 4,345
—FEME — Write-down of inventories 17(b) 3,444 296
—BEFEME - Reversal of write-down of inventories 17(b) (1,579) (7,491)
—MBWA — Interest income 5 (3,726) (2,908)
—MERZ - Interest expense 6(a) 19,334 15,454
—NESEENRNIERS — Equity-settled share-based
payment transactions 6(b) 780 979
—[EH (Wzs) BiREE — Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss 5 (10,183) 2,234
EEESRPALEEERE Operating cash flows before
changes in working capital 412,540 293,075
FEHEN Increase in inventories (238,675) (52,490)
YR (320n) /A (Increase)/decrease in biological assets (3,588) 589
FEWE SER R R B FEUREIBIE N Increase in trade and other receivables (62,928) (131,286)
BN ESRF N EMEAFRIELN  Increase in trade and other payables 156,625 100,867
RETHREZRE Cash generated from operations 263,974 210,755
BFER Income tax paid 26(a) (33,316) (27,203)
RETHES2REFE Net cash generated from
operating activities 230,658 183,552
F 76 25220 AWM AANB IS IR K AE A The notes on pages 76 to 220 form part of these financial statements.
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(Br=HEHI -

RARETITEM)EZE2011F12 A31 BIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

st —E——F 2T
Note 2011 2010

REEE Investing activities
BIH S, Interest received 3,726 2,908
REETEE Payment for purchases of fixed assets (155,703) (144,940
HEETEEEMSRE Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 20,845 8,131
Rz ANR2R AR E Investment in equity-accounted

investees 16(c) (22,277) (7,950)
WS IR Acquisition of non-controlling interest 15 (9,735) (7,790)
RETEMARSFE Net cash used in investing activities (163,144) (149,641)
RMETE Financing activities
EANEESE Interest paid (19,334) (15,454)
BEARE Dividends paid 27(b)(ii) (60,273) (39,041)
FEES Proceeds from new borrowings 949,001 523,927
BEER Repayment of borrowings (799,528) (454,274)
ETRT%E?ET??K?@ Changes in pledged bank deposits - 6,676
BERRIESASEUR Proceeds from a loan from an associate - 5,033
BEEBEARIER Repayment of a loan from an associate (5,033) =
IR AR5 R Proceeds from exercise of share options 453 715
&7 [l fE Repurchase of own shares - (1,208)
METHSREFE Net cash generated from

financing activities 65,286 26,376
BeRBESEMIEMFE Net increase in cash and cash

equivalents 132,800 60,287
RENZBERBEZEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning

of the year 408,973 368,244
EREEHNZE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (29,663) (19,558)
RERZBRERELEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end

of the year 21 512,110 408,973
F 76 255220 B KM 5 A28 15 3R A9 4R A The notes on pages 76 to 220 form part of these financial

statements.



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

— BB

RERm(EMN BRAR(TARA])
REFESBHE-NAN—FE3REMA
AE(RGEEREF) FN2EN_FF
tFAA+TN\BERSEHSEMKZ
REBRERRAB -BHE-_T——F
TZA=Z+—HLEFENGAWBR
REFBEARRBREMEB AR AT 5
[REE ) ARAEER G E QR K8
ERAMED ARBEIENERE
AR RBARKEARINTR MK
HEREE -

ARBRBPHR_ZZELE+ATNBAR
EBBERZIHER AR ERARFE
&

5 5

(a) RpEw

A BHRRTBIEE R G 2R
Z B SRR I 15 S 2R
A RBBCRRHEGD R ER T
R ZEWHRERITETKE
BHARZMBRARESFLH
MAD (TEMRAD EmRE
HTE e

GENERAL INFORMATION

DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (the “"Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 May 2007 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 comprise
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”) and the
Group's interest in associates and jointly controlled entities.
The Group primarily is involved in the manufacturing and
trading of livestock feeds, poultry and chilled meat and
processed food.

The Company publicly offered shares on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 4 October
2007.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs"”) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost except that

the following assets:

- derivative financial instruments are measured at

fair value; and

- biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell.

Functional and presentation currency

I[tems included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency
that best reflects the economic substance of the
underlying events and circumstances relevant to
that entity (“functional currency”). The financial
statements are presented in Renminbi Yuan (“RMB")
(“presentation currency”). All financial information
presented in RMB has been rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which
the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(@)

Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are disclosed in note 32.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has changed its accounting policies in the
following areas as a result of revised IFRSs, a number
of amendments to and interpretations of IFRSs that are
relevant to the Group becoming first effective for the

current accounting year:

- IAS 24 (revised 2009), Related Party Disclosures

- Improvements to IFRSs (2010)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

The impacts of the developments are discussed

below:

IAS 24 (revised 2009) revises the definition of
a related party. As a result, the Group has re-
assessed the identification of related parties
and concluded that the revised definition does
not have any material impact on the Group's
related party disclosures in the current and
previous period. IAS 24 (revised 2009) also
introduces modified disclosure requirements
for government-related entities. This does not
impact the Group because the Group is not a

government-related entity.

Improvements to IFRSs (2010) omnibus standard
introduces a number of amendments to the
disclosure requirements in IFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures. The disclosures about
the Group's financial instruments in note 31 have
been conformed to the amended disclosure
requirements. These amendments do not
have any material impact on the classification,
recognition and measurements of the amounts
recognised in the financial statements in the

current and previous periods.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied

consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated

financial statements, and have been applied consistently

by Group entities, except as explained in note 2(e), which

addresses changes in accounting policies.

(a) Basis of consolidation

@)

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for the
acquisition method as at acquisition date, which
is the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. Control is the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
the Group takes into consideration potential voting
rights that currently are exercisable. Judgement
is applied in determining the acquisition date and
determining whether control is transferred from

one party to another.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition

date as:

the fair value of the consideration

transferred; plus

- the recognised amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree; plus

- if the business combination is achieved in
stages, the fair value of the pre-existing
equity interest in the acquiree; less
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@

Basis of consolidation (continued)

®

Business combinations (continued)

- the net recognised amount (generally fair
value) of the identifiable assets acquired

and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase

gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include
amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. Such amounts are generally

recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction cost, other than those associated
with the issue of debt or equity securities, that
the Group incurs in connection with a business

combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
If the contingent consideration is classified as
equity, it is not remeasured and settlement
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,
subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration are recognised in profit
or loss.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@

Basis of consolidation (continued)

@)

(it)

Business combinations (continued)

When share-based payment awards (replacement
awards) are required to be exchanged for awards
held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree'’s
awards) and relate to past services, then all
or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s
replacement awards is included in measuring
the consideration transferred in the business
combination. This determination is based on the
market-based value of the replacement awards
compared with the market-based value of the
acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the
replacement awards relate to past and/or future

service.

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are
accounted for as transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners and therefore no
goodwill is recognised as a result. Adjustments
to non-controlling interests arising from the
transactions that do not involve the loss of
control are based on a proportionate amount of
the net assets of the subsidiary.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii)  Subsidiaries

()

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. The accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed
when necessary to align them with the policies
adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to
the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are
allocated to the non-controlling interests even if
doing so causes the non-controlling interests to
have a deficit balance.

Investments in associates and jointly controlled

entities (equity-accounted investees)

Associates are those entities in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over their management including
the financial and operating policy decisions.
Significant influence is presumed to exist when
the Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of the
voting power of another entity. Jointly controlled
entities are those entities over those activities the
Group has joint control, established by contractual
agreement and requiring unanimous consent for

strategic financial and operating decisions.

Investments in equity-accounted investees are
accounted for in using the equity method and
are recognised initially at cost. The cost of the

investment includes transaction costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iv) Investments in associates and jointly controlled

entities (equity-accounted investees) (continued)

The consolidated financial statements include
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of equity accounted
investees, after adjustments to align the
accounting policies with those of the Group,
from the date that significant influence or joint
control commences until the date that significant
influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its
interest in an equity-accounted investee, the
carrying amount of the investment, including any
long-term interests that from part of, is reduced
to nil, and the recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has an obligation or has made payments on
behalf of the investee.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investment in equity-accounted investees is
stated at cost less impairment losses (see note
3(e)).
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@

(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and
any unrealised income and expenses arising
from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with
equity-accounted investees are eliminated
against the investment to the extent of the
Group’'s interest in the investee. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there

is no evidence of impairment.

Property, plant and equipment

[tems of property, plant and equipment are measured

at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses (see note 3(e)).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable

to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the following:

the cost of materials and direct labour;

any other costs directly attributable to bringing
the assets to a working condition for their

intended use;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

- when the Group has an obligation to remove
the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and

restoring the site on which they are located; and

- capitalised borrowing costs (see note 3(t)).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment (calculated as the difference
between the net proceeds from disposal and the
carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or

loss.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is
probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing

repairs and maintenance is expensed as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method

over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are

reviewed annually.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

(©

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress represents office buildings,
various infrastructure projects under construction
and equipment pending installation, and is measured
at cost less impairment losses (see note 3(e)). Cost
comprises direct costs of construction and the initial
estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which
it is located during the periods of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and
the construction in progress is transferred to fixed
assets when the asset is substantially ready for its
intended use, notwithstanding any delays in the issue
of the relevant commissioning certificates by the
relevant authorities.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress until it is completed and ready for its
intended use.

Lease

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to
use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of
time in return for a payment or a series of payments.
Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless
of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a
lease.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(©)

(d)

Lease (continued)

@)

(it)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.

The Group as leasee

Where the Group has the use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under
the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal
instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period

in which they are incurred.

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent the purchase costs of

land use rights and are amortised on a straight-line

basis over the period of land use rights. Land use rights

are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and

impairment losses (see note 3(e)).
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Impairment of assets

®

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost are reviewed at each end
of reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about

one or more of the following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; and

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment

that have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

@)

Impairment of trade and other receivables (continued)

If any such evidence exists, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets), where the effect
of discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where these financial
assets share similar risk characteristics, such
as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk

characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had no

impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

@

Impairment of trade and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade debtors and bills receivable included within
trade and other receivables, whose recovery is
considered doubtful but not remote. In this case,
the impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off
against trade debtors and bills receivable directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are

recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(it)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at each end of reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- lease prepayments;
- investments in subsidiaries; and

- interest in associates and jointly controlled
entities.

If any such indication exists, the asset'’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in

use, if determinable.

- Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to

determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’'s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

®

Impairment of assets (continued)

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year (see note 3(e)(i) and
(ii)).

Biological assets and agricultural produce

Biological assets are stated at fair value less costs to
sell, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss. Costs to sell are incremental costs directly
attributable to the disposal of an asset excluding
financial cost, income tax and costs necessary to
get the assets to market. The fair value of livestock
is determined based on the current market price of

livestock of similar age, breed and genetic merit.

Agricultural produce, which comprises broiler breeder
eggs is initially measured at its fair value less costs
to sell at the point of lay. The fair value of agricultural
produce is determined based on market prices in the
local area, any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(€]

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Agricultural produce is included under inventories
at its fair value less costs to sell at the point of lay
in accordance with note 3(f), subsequently included
under inventory and stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

@

@

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 3(e)), except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In
such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective interest
method.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

U]

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost, except
where the payables are interest-free loans from related
parties without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which

case they are stated at cost.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially
at fair value on trade date. At each end of reporting
period the fair value is remeasured. The gain or
loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets include cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and
amounts due from related parties. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities of the Group include interest-
bearing borrowings, trade and other payables, and
amounts due to related parties. Financial liabilities are
derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(m) Share capital

(n)

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary
shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net

of any tax effects.

When share capital recognised as equity is
repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid,
which includes directly attributable costs, net of any
tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity.
Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares
and are presented in the reserve for own shares. WWhen
treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the
amount received is recognised as an increase in equity,
and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is

presented in share premium.

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at

their present values.

Contributions to appropriate local defined
contribution retirement schemes pursuant to
the relevant labour rules and regulations are

recognised as an expense when they are due.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

Employee benefits (continued)

(i)  Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in share-based
payment reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at grant date using the binomial
lattice model, taking into accounts the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the options, the total estimated fair
value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that
the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based payment reserve.
On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based payment
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the share-
based payment reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option expires (when it
is released directly to retained profits).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

(0)

Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and
only when, the Group demonstrably commits
itself to terminate employment or to provide
benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by
having a detailed formal plan which is without

realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from differences which arose on initial
recognition of assets and liabilities, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they

will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting period. Deferred tax assets

and liabilities are not discounted.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay

the related dividends is recognised.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at each end of reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that

sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the

following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities

@)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee (being the
transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group's policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense
is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition

of any deferred income.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities (continued)

@

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or
loss over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In addition,
provisions are recognised in accordance with
note 3(p)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable
that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the
Group under the guarantee, and (ii) the amount
of that claim on the Group is expected to exceed
the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the
amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or
the Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected

to settle the obligation.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

Q)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities (continued)

(ii)  Other provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or

loss as follows:
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Q)

Revenue recognition (continued)

®

(i)

(iii)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered
at the customers’ premises which is taken to
be the point in time when the customer has
accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. When the Group is
entitled to compensation in the future related
to the sales in current period under a contract
price adjustment mechanism, the compensation
is recognised in the revenue of the same
period of the corresponding sales to the extent
of management'’s best estimation. Revenue
excludes value added tax (“VAT") or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade

discounts.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using

the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(q9) Revenue recognition (continued)

(v)

)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term,
except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable. Contingent rentals are
recognised as income in the accounting period in

which they are earned.

Management fees

Revenue is recognised when the related services

are rendered.

(r) Foreign currencies

@)

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
to the respective functional currencies of Group
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the
reporting date are retranslated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate at that date. The
foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items
is the difference between amortised cost in the
functional currency at the beginning of the year,
adjusted for effective interest and payments
during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign
currency translated at the exchange rate at the

end of the year.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

Foreign currencies (continued)

®

Foreign currency transactions (continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are measured at fair
value are retranslated to the functional currency
at the exchange rate at the date that the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items in
a foreign currency that are measured based on
historical cost are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on
retranslation are recognised in profit or loss,
except for the following differences which are
recognised in other comprehensive income

arising on the retranslation of:

- available-for-sale equity investments
(except on impairment in which case
foreign currencies differences that have
been recognised in other comprehensive

income are reclassified to profit or loss);

- a financial liability designated as a hedge of
the net investment in a foreign operation to

the extent that the hedge is effective; or

- qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent

the hedge is effective.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

Foreign currencies (continued)

(i)  Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated to RMB
at exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations,
excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary
economies, are translated to RMB at exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income, and presented
in the foreign currency translation reserve
(translation reserve) in equity. However, if
the foreign operation is a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share
of the translation difference is allocated to non-
controlling interests. WWhen a foreign operation
is disposed of such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to that
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss
as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of only part of its interest
in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation
while retaining control, the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-
controlling interests. When the Group disposes
of only part of its investment in an associate or
joint venture that includes a foreign operation
while retaining significant influence or joint
control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative

amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(O]

(®

Foreign currencies (continued)

(i)  Foreign operations (continued)

When the settlement of a monetary item
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation
is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable
future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising
from such item are considered to form part of a
net investment in the foreign operation and are
recognised in other comprehensive income, and

presented in the translation reserve in equity.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs comprise all
costs that are directly attributable to research and
development activities or that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis to such activities. Because of the
nature of the Company's or the Group's research
and development activities, no development costs
satisfy the criteria for the recognition of such costs
as an asset. Both research and development costs
are therefore recognised as expenses in the period in

which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs

are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(®

()

Borrowing costs (continued)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary
to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or

sale are interrupted or completed.

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

- has control or joint control over the Group;

- has significant influence over the Group; or

- is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's

parent.

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

- The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others);
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u) Related parties (continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies: (continued)

- One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which

the other entity is a member);

- One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

- The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either

the Group or an entity related to the Group;

- The entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (i).

- A person identified in (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(\))

(W)

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per
share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings
per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares
held. Diluted earnings per share is determined by
adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares
held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, which comprise share options granted to

employees.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the CEO for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical

locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated

if they share a majority of these criteria.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

TURNOVER

The principal activities of the Group include manufacturing
and trading of livestock feeds, poultry and chilled meats and
processed foods. The amount of each significant category of

turnover recognised during the year is as follows:

—E——F —E-TF

2011 2010

HEBA Sales of chicken meats 5,138,057 4,527,547
HEZ B Sales of livestock feeds 4,577,340 4,068,331
SHEMTR M Sales of processed foods 1,500,545 955,881

AEBNEFPERZ T ERAFE
RREARFHEAAEELERA10%
MEP ZEPEANIZEERAR
FEHNHIES ()

FRARBEIZEBESNEMFS
BERMBHREME13

11,215,942 9 EB1,789

The Group's customer base is diversified and includes no
customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of
the Group's turnover. Details of concentrations of credit risk
arising from this customer are set out in note 31(a).

Further details regarding the Group's principal activities are

disclosed in note 13 to these financial statements.
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5

i 885 WBO N B A i WG 2 5 OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND
OTHER NET GAINS
—E——F —T—TF
2011 2010
HpgE A Other operating income
FBUTA Interest income 3,726 2,908
NEgRE L)) Government grants 4,114 7,709
WA Rental income 967 =
8,807 10,617
HithF = Other net gains
EmITEERHZE Realised (loss)/gain on commodity
B8 (F18) W derivative contracts (2,585) 5,333
TEEEEEZ Net gain/(loss) on disposals
Iezs/ (B518) FE of fixed assets 7,411 (3,510)
P& 5 Ukas /(8518 i FE Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 10,183 (2,234)
Hi Others 3,408 5,204
18,417 4,793
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

—E——F —E-TF
2011 2010
(a) WP X (a) Finance costs
AR RFRNEEE Interest on bank borrowings wholly
BRSRITERAE repayable within five years 19,334 15,454
(b) HTHAR (b) Staff costs
e I&8 - B Salaries, wages, bonuses 482,634 382,158
RE MR and other benefits
RRTEFFTEI 5K Contributions to retirement schemes 42,206 33,242
S EE R Equity-settled share-based
SN (HiF25) payment expenses (note 25) 780 979
525,620 416,379

HRPEAREMBE((REDEES -
RNEE A2 EA B E BT S IR
RAeEE - AAEEREHEFRA
REATEREMETEETIERE
B RI1I8% EN2% (=T —F F .
18% £22% ) MILL fISZ T FERK S 4
o BR BN AEE W &R
BlE 8 RARBRIEEEMEREME -

The Group is required to participate in pension schemes
organised by the respective municipal governments of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") whereby the
Group is required to pay annual contributions for PRC
based employees at rates ranging from 18% to 22% (2010:
18% to 22%) of the standard wages determined by the
relevant authorities in the PRC during the year. The Group
has no other material obligation for payment of retirement
benefits to the PRC based employees beyond the annual
contributions described above.
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(b)

Staff costs (continued)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of Hong Kong Dollar
(*HKD") 20,000. Contributions to the scheme vest

immediately.

Contribution made to Malaysia’s Employees Provident
Fund is based on 12% (2010: 12%) of the eligible

employees’ salaries.

The Group also made contribution on the statutory
social security and health insurance in Vietnam at 17%
(2010: 17%) of the eligible employees’ salaries.

Save for the above schemes, the Group has no other
material obligation for payment of retirement benefits

beyond the contributions.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

6  BRBingwA () 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
(c) HAu¥EH (¢) Other items
—E——F —T-TF
2011 2010
ZE A& Auditors’ remuneration
—ZERT — audit services 4,446 3,901
— TS AR - tax services 51 20
4,497 3,921
BNRERUE Amortisation of lease
B (Mt 14) prepayments (note 14) 4,421 3,260
¥ - BE KRG Depreciation of property,
W& (fiit14) plant and equipment (note 14) 112,581 112,351
e ZERZURER  Netimpairment losses on
BFE (1 190)) trade receivables (note 19(b)) (2,028) 4,345
FEMRER Net write-down of inventory (note 17(b))
FE (At 1706) 1,865 (7,195)
RETHEER Operating lease charges
— B RieE - plant and machinery 19,495 18,129
— At - others 7,369 3,649

TRER A Research and development costs 568 689
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(a) SRETHBRNZBIE ¢

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement

represents:

—ET——F —E—FTF
2011 2010
EEIRIE Current tax
FNEE Provision for the year 35,225 29,936
BESERETRE  Under provision in respect of prior years 3,731 1,231
38,956 31,167
IR IE Deferred tax
ERFEZSEMES  Origination and reversal of temporary
N AR (Ht26) differences (note 26) (815) (14,753)
38,141 16,414

() REFERS HRBRELAHER
EEDNRURBRG - AEEE
ANHERES REBRARER
TE EE o A (E RIS A ©

(i) ARRWEEREBZERETE
BEERMBA - AEH 16.56% AT
BERE  HEMREENFA
BIRTFEKBERHUOE R MR
BRI o

(i) WEFBECEMBHERRE
o AEEBETSPREARER
25% B Bl R B Bl FT S
Bt MEREE SRR -

(iif)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman lIslands, British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
and Samoa, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands, BVI and
Samoa.

The Company is regarded as resident tax payer
by Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong
and imposed the income tax rate of 16.5%. The
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong only
derived dividend income which was not taxable
under Hong Kong Tax Law.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations
of the PRC, the companies comprising the Group
in the PRC are liable to PRC Corporate Income
Tax at a rate of 25% during the periods, except

for the following:
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KO8 B K KRB R KL B R
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MIEEEE N & @R F
E)REMENR - BEEH RN
FTEHRBEEEMEN A
B=FEPBEPEMSEH
BEERE - BEZET——
FRZFT-—ZTF+ A
=+ —HEFESWHBA
AIMERMER12.5% °

BAR 5 2R P8 28 FT 18 BOE & RO
R BE_Z——F+=H
=T+—BIEFE - HRATHMH
BATIEREE2% (ZE—F
& 25% )BT RPACR TSR ©
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(@

Taxation in the consolidated income statement

represents: (continued)

(iv)

(a)

Dongbei Agri (Changchun) Co., Ltd. is
entitled to a full exemption from the PRC
Corporate Income Tax for the two years
beginning from 2007, its first profit-making
year after offsetting all tax losses carried
forward from the previous years, followed
by a 50% reduction in the PRC Corporate
Income Tax for the next three years. The
applicable tax rate for the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2010 respectively is
12.5%.

Greatwall Gourmet (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and
Hunan Greatwall Technologies & Feeds
Co., Ltd. are entitled to a full exemption
from the PRC Corporate Income Tax for the
two years beginning from 2008, their first
profit-making year after offsetting all tax
losses carried forward from the previous
years, followed by a 50% reduction in the
PRC Corporate Income Tax for the next
three years. The applicable tax rate for
both subsidiaries for the year ended 31
December 2011 is 12.5% (2010: 12.5%).

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations

of Malaysia, the subsidiary in Malaysia was liable

to Malaysian income tax rate of 256% for the year
ended 31 December 2011 (2010: 25%).
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(a) HFHBBRANZBIEE © (H)

(v) BERARIEZEEERN_-ZZ
“FNA-+=ZBEZENLE
TR EH BB No. 1219/GPDC1-
BKH-KCN-DN - g5 & 25 5 iy (i
) AR AR ([ 3 & & Rl (i
) 1) B 15% 18 B F R Han
R EFTSH -

(vi) TMEBERMCOTA)BRAR A
(MEEMEEmCIN) ) AR
EEHFRIETRAERNE10%
MEGMBEEEMSGH - K&
FEIE25% T o A - BT
BEEABREER _EEF+—
A+ B#HMEER - &
N E AT O ) 8 2 & EEF
FE_TTRAFRNFHAES
BRMIEHRER  HEMOFER
ERAEE - Bt - TMEER
MCTR)RBE_T——F+=
B=+—BIEFEMNBERREA

5% (ZF—FF :5%) °

(i) TmMEERIM(EL)BRA A
(TEMNE BRI (ER)])) KA
BEZEEFRTETFAR
20% Bl R G BEE TS
HRBFEIE25%HF o A > 28
MEBRM (ER) BHEEER
FE_ZT)N\FRMNEHAES
YR BHREE  HE=FEN
KRFES - At DHEER
fii(BL)RBE-_T——F+=
A=+—BLUEFEMBRREA
10% (ZFE—FF : 10%) °

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(€))

Taxation in the consolidated income statement

represents: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Pursuant to the Amended Investment Licence
No. 1219/GPDC1-BKH-KCN-DN dated 23
September 2003, issued by Dong Nai Industrial
Zone Authority, Asia Nutrition Technologies (VN)
Co., Ltd. ("ANT-VN") is subject to Corporate
Income Tax of Vietham at a preferential rate of
15%.

Asia Nutrition Technologies (HN) Co., Ltd.
("ANT-HN") is subject to Corporate Income Tax
of Vietnam at the rate of 10% for the first fifteen
years commencing from its first year of operation
and 25% for the succeeding years. However,
ANT-HN is entitled to a full tax exemption for four
years starting from 2005, its first profit-making
year pursuant to the Minutes of Inspection by
Tax Department of Hai Duong Province dated 24
November 2006 and a 50% reduction in tax rate
for the next four years. Therefore, the applicable
tax rate of ANT-HN is 5% for the year ended 31
December 2011 (2010: 5%).

Asia Nutrition Technologies (LA) Co., Ltd. ("ANT-
LA") is subject to Corporate Income Tax of
Vietnam at the rate of 20% for the first ten years
commencing from its first year of operation and
25% for the succeeding years. However, ANT-
LA is entitled to a full tax exemption for two years
starting from 2008, its first profit-making year
and a 50% reduction in tax rate for the next three
years. Therefore, the applicable tax rate of ANT-
LA is 10% for the year ended 31 December 2011
(2010: 10%).
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

Wl B R G B & (b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting
whE AR A profit at applicable tax rates:
—=E——F —E—FF
2011 2010

FRA A Vo A Profit before taxation 291,005 162,933
EHRBEIMEMSH Income tax using PRC's Corporate

FiE25% (=Z—  Income Tax rate of 26%

TF :25%)FTE (2010: 25%) (note)

BTSN (aE) 72,751 40,733
KRG HERL  Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

EHHTB AR operating in different tax jurisdictions

TRB R L (26,686) (27,464)
AR H Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

S E 2,719 4,310

BAERBUA Tax effect of non-taxable revenue

S E (14,831) (7,551)
KIERABAFIE  Tax effect of unused tax

EENHETE losses not recognised 14,650 10,696
) L AIARER Utilisation of tax losses

2 FIEE 1R previously not recognised (8,241) (433)
HBFHEBARMFIIE Effect of tax exemptions

HRENEE granted to subsidiaries (5,952) (5,108)
BASFEETE  Under provision in respect of prior years 3,731 1,231
BERBIERY Actual tax expense 38,141 16,414
25% (=ZF—ZT4F : 25%) FTiS BB RE Note: The income tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) represents the
AEEBFBLEMEAEERE B domestic tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operations of
*o the Group are substantially based.
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8 WL 8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
RBRBEBRTEOIE 161 EEENES Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to Section 161
BT of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows:

“32-—-f
2011
4 2¥R
EEF il DRHA
Salaries, HEEE =0
EZHE  allowances  EE7A  Retirement %
Directors' and benefits Discretionary scheme /Nit Share-based st
fees in kind bonuses contribution  Sub-total  payments Total
(fizF)
(note)
Ed 4 Chairman
5% Han Jia-Hwan - 1,554 354 25 1,933 76 2,009
HiES Executive directors
g5=" Han Chia-Yin* - - - - - 2 2
Bifgh Chen Fu-Shih** - 622 133 21 776 34 810
Rk A Shu Cho Shen*** - 440 158 - 598 - 598
REE" Chen Li-Chin* - 282 64 7 353 8 361
BIFHTES Independent
non-executive
directors
s Liu Fuchun 165 - - - 165 14 179
A Chen Chih 165 - - - 165 14 179
xE Way Yung-Do 165 - - - 165 14 179
FiirEs Non-executive
directors
B3R Ham Jia-Chen 124 - - - 124 P! 148
B5F Han Chia-Yau 124 - - - 124 31 155
Nicholas W. Rosa Nicholas W. Rosa 124 - - - 124 - 124
BAE Chao Tien-Shin 124 - - - 124 14 138
991 2,898 709 53 4,651 231 4,882
* R=T—F+A=+tBZEF @ Appointed on 27 October 2011
*x R=T—F+A=+tBEE 3G Resigned on 27 October 2011

> RZT——FHA=+—HEMRE ***x  Resigned on 31 May 2011
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8 HIIME (B) 8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)
“3-%E
2010
e ZHR
EiEn BRI ]
Salaries, HER5 Hi
EZie  adlowances  EETEA  Retirement B3t
Directors'  and benefits Discretionary scheme /N3t Share-based it
fees in kind bonuses  contribution Subtotal  payments Total
(fitzF)
(note)
34 Chairman
B5R Han Jia-Hwan - 1,373 - 23 1,39 168 1,564
#TES Executive directors
REAE Chang Tiee-Shen* - 155 - - 155 - 165
R Chen Fu-Shih - 759 122 23 904 89 993
ek Shu Cho Shen** - 754 - 17 m - m
BUFHTES Independent
non-executive
directors
HEE Liu Fuchun 173 - - - 173 20 193
(35} Chen Chin 173 - - - 173 20 193
ke Way Yung-Do 173 - - - 173 20 193
FHTES Non-executive
directors
B5R Harn Jia-Chen 130 - - - 130 33 163
B5F Han Chia-Yau 130 - - - 130 4 172
Nicholas W. Rosa Nicholas W. Rosa 130 - - - 130 - 130
BAE Chao Tien-Shin 130 - - - 130 20 150
1,039 3,041 122 63 4,265 412 4,677
* RZZE—TF=A+=HRE @ Resigned on 12 March 2010
LG RZT—TF=A+=BZEF B¢ Appointed on 12 March 2010
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o 4 (4)

GEX

HEARIRA 1 R A A T 8 R R R A 4D [ At )
RTERNBERENOGEE ZSBREDN
BETRBMIFE3(n) (i) T8 A& B AR R
AR PR BRAE -

ZEEDEN(REERLBREN T ZGRR
FEARER) NFERENETGRS [BR
T8 R [ IR AR [t &) | MR R Pi=E25 °

FR - BHESREAEEESTIR  AMERR
S F A0 A SRl B AN 5= B Sk (F B P ER B AL O
B NEEEREXRREREEAHE

I W B L

AfissFMALY  Mu(ZF-—F
FMU)REE HMECRMES
ELEE - AREBHESK = (ZF—F
F ) REHMA T ZHBFED
T

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)

Note:

These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the directors
under the Company’s share option scheme and restricted share award
scheme. The value of these share options is measured according to the
Group's accounting policies for share-based payment transactions as set out
in note 3(n)(ii).

The details of these benefits in kind, including principal terms and number
of options and awards granted, are disclosed under the paragraphs “Share
Options Scheme” and “Restricted Share Award Scheme” in the report of the
Directors and note 25.

During the year, no director received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or leave the Group or compensation for loss of office, no

director waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2010: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the

other three (2010: three) individuals are as follows:

—E2——F —ET-TF

2011 2010

e N H A i B Salaries and other emoluments 4,318 3,165
RRETEIGEK Retirement scheme contributions 24 61
AR B AR S Share-based payments 76 244
BIBIEAL Discretionary bonuses 1,192 609

5,610 4,079
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

ew R A L () 9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
=R(ZE—ZBF: =) Ea5MHA The emoluments of the three (2010: three) individuals with
THBE N F T FIAER the highest emoluments are within the following bands:
—E2——F —T-TF
2011 2010
AE N
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
1,000,001 B2 HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000
1,500,000 /87T - 2
1,500,001 B 7TE HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
2,000,000/ 7T 3 1
FR - AEBBRERZZEALTINK No emoluments have been paid to these individuals as
B ARSI EMAREERKIEAINA an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
REBWER > SKIEANERMZ @ compensation for loss of office during the year.
A 2 ) I8 5 HE AN R A 10 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY

RRRIRREGGZEBFNEIEE D 5
HARRRBE-_T——FER_T—
TE+-A=+—ALFERBERE
955 F A R # 39,231,000 7T K F A
R # 69,669,000 JT, °

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company includes a profit of RMB39,231,000 and a
profit of RMB69,669,000 which have been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company for the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2010 respectively.



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

11 Al 2 v W 4 11 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EHREMEAEES BRI E Tax effects relating to each component of other

comprehensive income

—E—-F —T-%F
2011 2010
YIRS BEESE REAPE BBifeR 2
Before- %2  Net-of  Before- HiBHE Net-of-
tax Tax tax tax Tax tax
amount effect  amount amount effect amount
BEEINNBAR Exchange differences
Eﬁ%i&iﬁ@[ﬂ%%ﬁ on translation of financial
statements of overseas
subsidiaries (45,312) - (45312)  (30,118) - (30118
Hitn2AKs Other comprehensive income (45,312) - (45312)  (30,118) - (30,118
12 g sA 12 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) MBIEAREA (a) Basic earnings per share
HE-ZT——F+-A=+—H The calculation of basic earnings per share for the
LEFE - SREARFIIREE year ended 31 December 2011 is based on the profit
AARRE L BERFFE ARG R attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
AR 196,089,000L(=F— Company of RMB 196,089,000 (2010: RMB109,382,000)
ZT& : AR¥109,382,0007T) & and the weighted average of 1,008,618,477 ordinary
BB 1T E RARAR D B AN T 2 shares (2010: 1,008,169,061) in issue during the year,
1,008,618,477 R (= —FF : calculated as follows:

1,008,169,061 f%) st&E R -
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

B B A B A (4) (a) Basic earnings per share (continued)
T3 AR Y N A AR 2R Weighted average number of ordinary shares
—E2——F ZZT-TF
2011 2010
R—A—HEBITHLER Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1,008,293,666 1,008,240,333
BIEERD T E (M7 27(c)i))  Effect of shares repurchased (note 27(c)(ii)) - (582,721)
IR EN T2 Effect of shares options exercised
(K15t 27(c)fii)) (note 27(c)(iii) 308,460 500,797
REROOTE (H7227(c)v)  Effect of shares granted (note 27(c)(v)) 16,351 10,652
RT+ZA=+—HLERN Weighted average number of ordinary
INAETIRRE shares at 31 December 1,008,618,477 1,008,169,061
B B B3 2 A (b) Diluted earnings per share

BREFERF TDRBEARR AL
BEREEABGEENARK
196,089,000 C(=F—T4F : A
R#109,382,0007T ) & & i@ A% A%
2 1) b0 # T ¥9 %11,010,945,757
B (=ZZ—=4 :1,011,065,457
RO FTEMT :

TR It A B 2 (58 )

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB196,089,000
(2010: RMB109,382,000) and the weighted average of
1,010,945,757 ordinary shares (2010: 1,011,065,457),

calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

—E2——F —EZF
2011 2010
R+ZRA=+—HE#TH Weighted average number of ordinary
&A% shares at 31 December 1,008,618,477 1,008,169,061
RITEHERENZ 2 Effect of outstanding
(B3 25(a)(i) share options (note 25(a)(ii)) 2,266,133 2,540,942
BIRRGD REET 22 Effect of restricted share award
(Hizt25(b)) scheme (note 25(b)) 61,147 355,454

Rt A=+—HEERD
AR (#5H)

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares (diluted) at 31 December

1,010,945,757

1,011,065,457
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13

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are

organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the

way in which information is reported internally to the CEO

for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment, the Group has presented the following three

reportable segments. No operating segments have been

aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

Chicken meat:

Livestock feeds:

Processed foods:

The chicken meat segment carries on
business of breeding and hatching of
broiler breeder eggs, contract farming,
processing and marketing of chilled and
frozen chicken meat marketed under
the brand of “DaChan”.

The livestock feeds segment
manufactures and distributes complete
feed, base mix and pre-mix for swine,
layer, broiler, dairy, duck, and breeder

poultry.

The processed foods segment produces
and distributes pickled, pre-fried, and
roasted foods, and further processed
chilled and frozen chicken meat
marketed under the brand of “Sisters’
Kitchen".
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(2)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the CEO
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable

to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and
current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include trade creditors and accruals attributable to the
manufacturing and sales activities of the individual

segments.

Turnover and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to

those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is

gross profit.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning gross profit, the CEO is provided with
segment information concerning turnover (including
inter segment sales), depreciation and amortisation.
Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to prices

charged to external parties for similar orders.
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13 s (4) 13 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a) R4 Ha KA (E) (a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
REBEE—ZT——FR-T—ZF
+ZA=+—HLEFEENERS
Big &% 511k 93 BB R IR M FT B AR R
HEAAEERES T2 ERE

Information regarding the Group's reportable
segments as provided to the CEO for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment

performance for the years ended 31 December 2011

REX : and 2010 is set out below:
EA g6 NI&R &t
Chicken meat Livestock feeds Processed foods Total
- IF%F R-f RRF D3 CBRE I%-f 2%
01 210 2011 210 2011 2010 M 2010

READZRHEIA Tumover fiom externél

customers 5138057 4527547 4571340 4068331 1500545 905881 11215042 9551769
BRI Inter-segment tumover M50 155300 1576745 1381072 - - 20195 1536381
aif Tota 5853267 4682856 6154085 5449403 1500545 o881 13507897 11088140
ki< Segment result 19108 106117 488411 432887 176875 119024 856314 658028
RAREENARER Unallocated operating

income and expenses (544,125)  (478,3%)
eyl Proft rom aperations 312189 17963
Az Finance costs (19334 (15454
ElbER\EARATES Share of osses of

equity-accounted investees (1,850) (1,246)
k3 Income tax (38141)  (16414)
EREH Profitfor the year B84 146519
ERAEREH Depreciaton and

amortisation

for the year 57,844 55,69 31,607 36,600 21,551 2314 17002 115611
fiErdEE Reportable segment assets 90348 049568 1434451 1223334 81151 401428 2875050 2574330
fitrdae Reportable segment liablities 219662 231981 599604 460488 234656 214767 1063922 907236
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13 e () 13 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) WESMBBBA ~ HiE -~ HRE (b) Reconciliations of reportable segment turnover, profit or
T £3 455 i i ¢ loss, assets and liabilities
—E——-F —T-TF
2011 2010
FS1ION Turnover
BEDELEWA Reportable segment turnover 13,507,897 11,088,140
DRSS R A Elimination of inter-segment turnover (2,291,955) (1,536,381)
IRB B (HiiE4) Consolidated turnover (note 4) 11,215,942 9,551,759
il Profit
BEDERF Reportable segment profit 856,314 658,028
EMEEARBENE Change in fair value of biological assets
HHE R less costs to sell (2,753) 2,130
BARBENAEREER Fair value of agricultural produce on
initial recognition 42,286 25,143
FHERHNERER Reversal of fair value of agricultural
MR EE produce due to sales and disposals (43,585) (24,139)
E A&l A Other operating income 8,807 10,617
H A2 7 Other net gains 18,417 4,793
HERAR Distribution costs (295,247) (250,133)
IBFEY Administrative expenses (272,050) (246,806)
X Finance costs (19,334) (15,454)
e ER ABR2RAAEE Share of losses of equity-accounted investees (1,850) (1,246)
REBRBATRF Consolidated profit before taxation 291,005 162,933
EE Assets
BEDHEE Reportable segment assets 2,875,950 2,574,330
EETRIEEE Deferred tax assets 30,502 29,327
A E i E Income tax recoverable 376 -
RekReEED Cash and cash equivalents 512,110 408,973
AABBRERRAREE Unallocated head office and corporate assets 75,923 45,826
REEERE Consolidated total assets 3,494,861 3,058,456
& Liabilities
WENDEE Reportable segment liabilities 1,053,922 907,236
R F{SH Income tax payable 31,704 26,314
BEHAGE Deferred tax liabilities 466 106
RITER Interest-bearing borrowings 402,079 265,138
AR ERR AT Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 32,612 27,068
LRBELE Consolidated total liabilities 1,520,783 1,225,862
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13 s (4) 13 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(c) JbEER (¢) Geographical information

TNREINER () REIMDEF The following table sets out information about the
AEEKEWA R (i) NEB B geographical location of (i) the Group's turnover
EEEE ([ERFERBEE] B from external customers and (i) the Group's tangible
HIBALEER - REMMIBAE assets and interests in equity-accounted investees
BEREERBIRTERNMLE (“specified non-current assets”). The geographical
B - AR EEMNMIEA location of customers is based on the location at which
ERBEEERMEME (B the services were provided or the goods delivered.
M- BENEE) REEER The geographical location of the specified non-current
Fifeis (B AR R AR assets is based on the physical location of the asset,
L) ERE ° in the case of property, plant and equipment and

the location of operations, in the case of interests in

equity-accounted investees.

REIMPEEREERA ERFRBERE
Turnover from Specified
external customers non-current assets
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E-—-F “E-TF —B-—-F “ZT-TF

B A The PRC 9,253,189 7,847,777 980,784 950,717
il Vietnam 1,487,770 1,382,749 99,171 115,855
ZPiN Japan 389,625 251,869 - -
Hihm AR Rest of Asia Pacific 85,358 69,364 14,052 6,923

11,215,942 951,768 1,094,007 1,073,495
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Dl R % 14 FIXED ASSETS
A4 The Group
fril - £E
BER & i
HEIR H2E  Furniture, i HENE
Construction % Plantand fittings and Motor gt Lease &t

inprogress  Buildings machinery equipment  vehicles  Sub-total prepayments Total

A Cost:
R=E-——F-A-R At 1 January 2011 12100 119917 1447742 108,778 24756 1713293 138869 1,852,162
B Additions 59,042 1192 64,062 9,444 3190 136,930 19508 156,438
g\ Transfers (36,051) 2562 32,398 1,001 - - - -
RE Disposals - (221)  (26921) (5,218) (1,839)  (34,199) (3,340)  (37,539)
EHER Exchange differences (41) (7432)  (13,754) (625) (1,300 (23,152) (2173)  (25,325)
RZF—&+ZA=1-A At 31 December 2011 35050 116,018 1503527 113470 24807 1792872 152,864 1,945,736
ZITREREH Accumulated depreciation

and amortisation:
R=F-—%-A-A At 1 January 2011 - 20,848 566,541 50,491 9954 647,834 16,908 664,742
FEEREREH Charge for the year - 5246 90,767 12,882 3686 112,581 441 117,002
kE Disposals - (101)  (18,011) (4,372) (1577)  (24,061) (44)  (24105)
EHEE Exchange differences - (1,166) (7,482) (37) (610) (9,295) (382) (9,677)
RZF—E+ZA=1-A At 31 December 2011 - 24821 631815 58,964 11453 721,059 20903 747962
RERE Carrying values:

RZF—#+Zf=1-H At 31 December 2011 35,050 91191  8Nn.m2 54,506 13354 1,065,813 131961 1,197,774
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14 85 % (%) 14 FIXED ASSETS (continued)
AR (47) The Group (continued)
frfl - 5B
BER R &t
TEIR HZ  Fumiture, i e
Construction %  Plntand fittings and Motor Gt Lease @
inprogress  Buildings  machinery equipment  vehicles  Sub-total prepayments Total
A Cost:
RZ5-25-A-R At 1 January 2010 57348 120,726 1,327,964 91,482 20137 1621657 126,037  1,747,6%
HE Additions 45,251 1,820 58499 2,071 3918 131,565 13958 145,523
g\ Transfers (90,499 3139 86,609 751 - - - -
RE Disposals - - (1439 (29 (2524)  (22,206) - (22,206)
B Exchange differences - (6768)  (10939) (241) (778)  (17,723) (1126)  (18849)
RZE-ZFTt-A=1-A At 31 December 2010 12100 19917 1447742 108,778 756 1713293 138869 1,862,162
ZTREREH . Accumulated depreciation
and amortisation:

RZT-TE-F-H At 1 January 2010 - 16,121 483934 42,429 853 551,019 13936 564,955
REEREREH Charge for the year - 574 90919 12,366 3322 112,351 320 115611
RE Disposals - - 4.716) (4.225) (1,624)  (10,565) - (10,565
EXESE Exchange differences - (1,017) (3,596) (79) (279) [497) (288) (5,269)
KoB-FE+-A=-8  At31 December 2010 - N8 G651 S0491 994 64783 16908 664742
BEFE: Carrying values:
R-E-ZFr-A=1-H At 31 December 2010 12,100 99,069 881,201 58,287 14802 1065459 121,961 1,187,420
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 FIXED ASSETS (continued)
Certain buildings and lease prepayments are pledged to
banks for banking facilities granted to the Group as disclosed

in note 24(c).

The carrying amounts of the Group's lease prepayments are
situated in the following locations:

rEEH

The Group
—E——fF —E—TF
2011 2010
AR The PRC 116,233 103,755
iedEa] Vietnam 13,739 16,007
D Gk Malaysia 1,989 2,199
131,961 121,961

BNEERBREFEINAT

An analysis of net book value of the lease prepayments is as

follows:
rEE
The Group

—=E——F —E-FF
2011 2010

[ERER Expiring:
NTF26 FE504F Between 26 to 50 years 131,642 121,537
NF10FEE25F Between 10 to 25 years 319 424

131,961 121,961
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15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

/NG|

The Company

—g——&

2011

T —TF

2010

FEETRRA - AR

MEBARFEHINNT - Br5HHB
S - FTEE R0 2R RN A B A

NREH

Name of company

Great Wall Northeast Asia
Corporation (“NAC")

Impreza Investments Ltd.

(“Impreza”)

Great Wall Dalian Investment Co.,

Ltd. (“Dalian Investment")

Unlisted shares, at cost

720,871

725,8188)

Details of the subsidiaries are set out below. The class of

shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated:

BT
BYREERERBH
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

and operation

FERS
—WAETZA=H
Cayman Islands

3 December 1996

ERRUEHE
—MARE+—A+R
BVI

7 November 1996

EERLHE

- ANEE-A=1+=H
BVI

23 February 1995

B#TR
BHERE/
HMER
Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

74,030,251
USD74,030,251

14,700,000% 7T
USD14,700,000

24,500,000 7T
USD24,500,000

FE{LRRAE
Attributable
equity interest

HE i
Direct Indirect

% %
100 =
= 100

= 57

FTREHR

Principal activities

BEER

Investment holding

BEER

Investment holding

BEER

Investment holding
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RRER

Name of company

AR R (RE) BRAR (T REAMK])

(Bt (1) % (3)

Great Wall Food (Dalian) Co., Limited

(“Dalian Great Wall")
(note (1) and (3))

AEERBER (BE)BRAR
([EZE R (BVI)])

Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Co.,
Limited (“Liaoning Greatwall
(BVI)")

AREMER (EE) BRAR
(TEZR (BH)])

Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Co.,
Limited (“Liaoning Greatwall
(HK)")

15

EMmL,
BYREERER B
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

and operation

HE
—NWNAEFTZARE
PRC

6 December 1995

EBELEE
—WNEERATZH
BVI

13 September 1990

BB
—NWNEELAZTMA
Hong Kong

24 July 1990

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2ETR
BHRERA/
fEA
Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

26,600,000 7T
USD26,600,000

9,026,381 7T
USD9,026,381

31,400,000/ 7T
HKD31,400,000

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

FEfE AR AE
Attributable TEEH
equity interest Principal activities
HE it

Direct Indirect

% %

KEREEDMER -
EEREEZRERR
5 MIKEERER

RE@RREMNT

Manufacturing and

= 57

trading of animal
feeds, husbandry and
trading of poultry and
livestock, processing
and trading of meat
and meat products and

foods processing

- 100 REZR

Investment holding

- 100 REZR

Investment holding
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 RS2\ B (41) 15  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
AL BEITR
BYREEMER B BEERA/
Place and date of &
incorporation/ Issued and fully FEfh IR AE
DR ABE establishment paid up/ Attributable FEER
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
B i
Direct Indirect
% %
BEAKENEEERAR i 19,080,000 7T - 100 AERERHNEH -
(TEEARK]) —WNEFLATIA USD19,080,000 BEREERE
Bzt (1) 2) %(3) PRC REXE MLk
Liaoning Great Wall Agri-Industrial 19 July 1990 EENBRAER
Co., Ltd. (“Liaoning Great Wall") Manufacturing and
(note (1), (2) and (3)) trading of animal
feeds, husbandry and
trading of poultry and
livestock, processing
and trading of meat and
meat products
R BEH (&) BR AR th 3,038,000%7T - 100 EEREEDNEH
(DEBAK L) (Mt 2) & (3) “EZLFERATAH USD3,038,000 Manufacturing and
Great Wall Agrotech Feed (Shenyang) PRC trading of animal feeds

Co., Ltd. (“Shenyang Great Wall") 16 May 2007
(note (2) and (3))
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RRER

Name of company

ARER (ZFET)BRAH
(TREETIARRK (Mt (1) (2)R(3)

Great Wall Agri. (Heilongjiang) Co.,
Ltd (“Heilongjiang Great Wall")
(note (1), (2) and (3))

Dongbei Agri Corporation (“Dongbei
Agri”)

R EH(&0)BRAF
(TERRK ) () - (2 R(3)
Great Wall Agri (Yingkou) Co., Ltd
("Yingkou Great Wall")
(note (1), (2) and (3))

15

AR,

AR EEBE R A

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

and operation

hE -

“ZTRFRA-tHA

PRC
25 May 2005

EBELEE
—NARE
+—A=f+H
BVI

27 November 1996

i
—hhtERA—R
PRC

1 April 1997

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

BEITR
BHERA/
AfEA

Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

1,562,000 7T
USD1,562,000

11,910,000 T
USD11,910,000

14,500,000 7T
USD14,500,000

equity interest

HiE G383
Direct Indirect

PEfh iR RE
Attributable

Principal activities

% %
- 100 4EREEIHNEAR
Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds
- 100 REER

Investment holding

- 100 4EREEIWEL
NIREERE

RANER

Manufacturing and

trading of animal feeds,

processing and trading

of meat and meat

products



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 JA B )E 2w w8 (50

DRER

Name of company

ABEH (E8) BRAR

(TR ) (fEE (1)~ (2) R (3)
Great Wall Agri (Tieling) Co., Ltd.

("Tieling Greatwall”)
(note (1), (2) and (3))

REER(RE)BRAF

(IRERM M) 2)R(3)
Dongbei Agri (Changchun) Co., Ltd.

("Changchun Agri”)
(note (1), (2) and (3))

BRI BR AR

(THmAR ) (B () - (2) K (3)

Hunan Greatwall Technologies
& Feeds Co., Ltd. (“Hunan

Greatwall”) (note (1), (2) and (3))

15

AL
BYREERER B
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

and operation

2l
—ANtFRATA
PRC

16 May 1997

hE
“TERENA-TH
PRC

28 August 2006

hE
“EEETANA
PRC

8 October 2006

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

BRITR
BHERA/
fEAR

Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

14,089,379% 7T
USD14,089,379

1,093,000 7T
USD1,093,000

2,200,000 7T
USD2,200,000

Attributable
equity interest

B iz
Direct Indirect

et iRE

Principal activities

% %

HEREESNEAH -
RENEEZB R
RE MIREEAE
RAER

Manufacturing and

= 100

trading of animal
feeds, husbandry and
trading of poultry and
livestock, processing
and trading of meat and

meat products

EERERINEH

Manufacturing and

= 100

trading of animal feeds

100 AERBEEHNEH

Manufacturing and

trading of animal feeds



15

e B e 2 il i B (4)

RRER

Name of company

HEAKEEERAR
(TEiEmE () &(3)
Tieling Greatwall Trade Co., Ltd.
("Tieling Trade") (note (1) and (3))

TRETHBERAR
(TR E (At (1) %(3)

Beijing Han Ya Trade Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Trade") (notes (1) and (3))

Hwabei Agri Corporation (“Hwabei
Agri”)

AKBE (FE)BRAA
(TEBRRK])

DaChan Wanda (HK) Limited (“Hong
Kong DaChan”)

15

R,
BYREELER B
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

and operation

hE
“ZEPERAZT=H
PRC

23 June 2004

HE
—AANFEA=+-8
PRC

21 May 1998

EREUHE
—hWANE
+-A=-t=H
BVI

23 December 1998

B
—N\EERAZ+AH
Hong Kong

26 June 1984

BEITR
BHERA/
AfEA

Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

AK#2,000,0007T
RMB2,000,000

AKH1,000,0007T
RMB1,000,000

3,375,001 7T
USD3,375,001

5,892,0005 7T
USD5,892,000

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

PEfh iR RE
Attributable

equity interest

HiE G383
Direct Indirect
% %

- 100

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

Principal activities

EEPNEH

Trading of animal feeds

BEFMEE
Manufacturing and

trading of animal feeds

BEER

Investment holding

AR

Investment holding



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 JA B )E 2w w8 (50 15

AL

BYREERER B

Place and date of

incorporation/

NEER

Name of company

establishment

and operation

AKEE(RE)BRAR HE
(TRERR ) (B (1)~ (2) R (3) —AWNWZF+AZT/H

DaChan Wanda (Tianjin) Co., Ltd PRC
("Tianjin DaChan") (note (1), (2) 26 October 1992
and (3))

Union Manufacturing Limited (“Union HBETHE -
Manufacturing”) —ANAEZR+R
BVI
7 February 1996
ABER(LB)BRAA R -
(T EBER M) 2)R(3) —NWAAREAARA
Greatwall Gourmet (Shanghai) Co., PRC
Ltd. (“Shanghai Gourmet") (note 5 September 1996
(1), (2) and (3))
Great Wall Kuang-Ming Investment EBETHE -
(BVI) Co., Ltd. (“Kuang-Ming —WAAE=A++H

Investment”) BVI
17 March 1995

BRITR
BHERA/
fEAR

Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

ARH
347,200,0007C
RMB347,200,000

4,800,000 7T
USD4,800,000

6,940,000 7T
USD6,940,000

1,000,000%7¢
USD1,000,000

Attributable
equity interest

B iz
Direct Indirect

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

et iRE

Principal activities

% %

- 100 EEREERIMEH -
BEREEZBR

& MIREEASE

RAER

Manufacturing and

trading of animal

feeds, husbandry and

trading of poultry and

livestock, processing

and trading of meat and

meat products

- 100 REER
Investment holding

- 100 RmilL
Foods processing

- 100 REER

Investment holding



15

e B e 2 il i B (4)

RRER

Name of company

Asia Nutrition Technologies (VN)
Investment Co., Ltd. (“"ANTIC-VN")

Asia Nutrition Technologies (HN) Co.,
Ltd. (“ANT-HN")

Asia Nutrition Technologies (VN) Co.,
Ltd. (“ANT-VN")

Asia Nutrition Technologies (LA) Co.,
Ltd. ("ANT-LA")

15

R,
BYREELER B
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

and operation

ERRUHE
—AANEARER
BVI

7 September 1998

“EE=F-A=-1=AH
Vietnam
22 January 2003

—AWNWAFHAZTNB
Vietnam
29 April 1995

“ETLENAT=H
Vietnam
13 April 2007

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BEITR
BHERA/
AfEA

Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

7,615,590% 70
USD7,615,590

89,600,000,000
WEE
Vietnamese Dong
("VND")
89,600,000,000

190,836,294,000
HEE
VND190,836,294,000

48,000,000,000
HEE
VND48,000,000,000

PEfh iR RE
Attributable

equity interest

B
Direct

%

G383
Indirect

%

65.51

65.51

65.51

65.51

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

Principal activities

REEK

Investment holding

HEREEDMEAR
Manufacturing and

trading of animal feeds

EEREEDHE
Manufacturing and

trading of animal feeds

EEREESH A
NINE ~ KE SR - B
BRIKEEY
Manufacturing and
trading of feed meal
and related additives,
aquatic products,
veterinary and aquatic

medicine



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 JA B )E 2w w8 (50

DRER

Name of company

Golden Harvest Inc. (“Golden

Harvest”)

Great Wall Nutrition Technologies
Sdn. Bhd. (“Great Wall Malaysia")

Marksville Corporation (“Marksville”)

RERKARERARAF
(TRERB ) Bzt (1) R (3))

Dalian Tiancheng Broiler
Development Co., Ltd. (“Dalian
Tiancheng") (note (1) and (3))

15

AL
BYREERER B
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

and operation

25 November 2003

SRAE -
—WNWEFN\A=R
Malaysia

3 August 1990

EBRTHE -
“ETLF AT A
BVI

15 June 2007

HE -
“ET\FNATHH
PRC

15 September 2008

BRITR
BHERA/
fEAR

Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

4,373,7705%
Malaysian Ringgit
4,373,770

7,000,000 A B
RMB7,000,000

FEft iR AE
Attributable
equity interest

B iz
Direct Indirect

% %

65.51

= 100

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

Principal activities

BEfLRCE
Trading of feed

ingredients

EERERGNER

Manufacturing and

trading of animal feeds

AR

Investment holding

AERBRMAZ -
NEREREE

Technical research

and development in

broilers husbandry,

breading and trading of

broilers



15

e B e 2 il i B (4)

RRER

Name of company

I RB R R A ]
(I JIARRE ) (ATt (1) & (3)
DaChan Agricultural Technogies
(Sichuan) Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan
DaChan") (note (1) and (3))

AR (LK) BRAR
(MURAR ) (A1) ~ (20 (3)
DaChan Food (Shandong) Co., Ltd.
(“Shandong DaChan")
(note (1), (2) and (3))

A ERm (L) BRAR
(DAL KRB ) Bzt (1)~ (2) R (3)
DaChan Food (Hebei) Co., Ltd.
("Hebei DaChan")
(note (1), (2) and (3))

15

R,
BYREELER B
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

and operation

HE -
—23)\§\A-+7E
PRC

25 August 2008

HE
—Z2Z)\FRAEA
PRC

5 May 2008

HE -
—EENE-R=1+/\B
PRC

28 February 2008

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BEITR
BHERA/
AfEA

Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

20,000,000 A %
RMB20,000,000

4,000,000 7T
USD4,000,000

10,100,000 7T
USD10,100,000

Attributable
equity interest

B iz
Direct Indirect

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

b RE

Principal activities

% %

HEREEINAHR
REAE - BERE

Manufacturing and

= 100

trading of animal
feeds and related
additives, research
and consultation on

husbandry

EERERINEAH

Manufacturing and

= 100

trading of animal feeds

fr - MINEE
WRRAER

Manufacturing and

= 100

trading of animal feeds,
processing and trading
of meat and meat

products



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

(note (1) and (3))

15 R HEE A R B (4) 15  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
AL BRITR
B REEMER B H (= Ve v
Place and date of TER
incorporation/ Issued and fully FEft iR AE
NGIEL establishment paid up/ Attributable FEER
Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest Principal activities
HE ik
Direct Indirect
% %
ERRIETHABRAF e - 500,000 7T - 100 B R %
(TRILTHEA D (B (1) - 21 R (3) ZEEN\ETA=TH USD500,000 Management services
Dongbei (Beijing) Consultant Co., Ltd. PRC
(“"Dongbei Consultant”) 30 October 2008
(note (1), (2) and (3))
AR E M (B5R) BRAR HE 3,000,000%7T - 100 EEEBRZE NI
(TRIBARK (Wit (1) - 2) R (3) TN\ USD3,000,000 REENERNER
DaChan Food (Panjin) Co., Ltd. +—A=t+/\H Trading of poultry and
("Panjin DaChan") PRC livestock, processing
(note (1), (2) and (3)) 28 November 2008 and trading of meat and
meat products
I RBREE ERERBRAR i - AR#500,0007T - 100 ERER
([ B ) (AaE (1) R (3) “ZEN\E+ AR RMB500,000 Food and beverage
Bejing Sisters Kitchen Food and PRC management
Beverage Management Co., Ltd. 16 October 2008
("Beijing Sisters”) (note (1) and (3))
SMARRRBRAT ([FMAMK]) MmE- AK50,000,0007T - 100 EEINHEH  BEK
WE(M?(B)) ZEEN\F=A=1H RMB50,000,000 BERBERZFENLLK
Yanzhou DaChan Food Co., Ltd. PRC BERNERAER
("Yanzhou DaChan”) 20 March 2008 Trading of animal

feeds, husbandry and
trading of poultry and
livestock, processing
and trading of meat and

meat products



15

e B e 2 il i B (4)

RRER

Name of company

HEAKRMERDA
(T RB ) (HisE (1) R (3)
Bengbu DaChan Food Co., Ltd.
("Bengbu DaChan”)

(note (1) and (3))

BEEARBHRARERAF
(TBERB ) (A1)~ (2)%(3)
Qingdao DaChan Technologies Feed
Co., Ltd. ("Qingdao DaChan")

(note (1), (2) and (3))

Miyasun-Great Wall (BVI) Co., Ltd.
(“Miyasun-Great Wall")

AKEERR(KNE) BB AT
(IBERM M) - 2K (03)

Miyasun-Great Wall Foods (Dalian)
Co., Ltd. (“Miyasun Foods")
(note (1), (2) and (3))

DaChan Zhong Xin Limited

15

L,
BYREELER B
Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

and operation

HE -
“ZEE\F+=-A=H
PRC

3 December 2008

HE
“ZE\F+—A+HmA
PRC

14 November 2008

RERUHS
—ANAF=A+tER
BVI

17 March 1995

HE -
—ANRERA=+H
PRC

20 May 1995

%
—E-ZEANA
Hong Kong

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BEITR
BHERA/
fEAR

Issued and fully
paid up/

registered capital

AE#70,000,0007C
RMB70,000,000

3,300,000 7T
USD3,300,000

2,000,000% 7T
USD2,000,000

9,880,000 7T
USD9,880,000

1,500,000 7T
USD1,500,000

Attributable
equity interest

B i
Direct Indirect

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

b RE

Principal activities

% %

- 100 EEIWEL  BER
EXBRZE NI
BENERNER
Trading of animal
feeds, husbandry and
trading of poultry and
livestock, processing
and trading of meat and

meat products

KEREESMEAR
Manufacturing and

trading of animal feeds

- 100 REER
Investment holding

- 100 AT
Foods processing

- 72 REER

Investment holding



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 RS2\ B (41) 15  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
AL BRITR
RIREEMER A [V e v
Place and date of &R
incorporation/ Issued and fully FEft iR AE
NGIE establishment paid up/ Attributable FEER

Name of company and operation registered capital equity interest

HiE 583
Direct Indirect

Principal activities

% %
AKERHESERAA] I 3,800,000% 7T - 100 4EREEDWEH
(Hizt(1) - (2) R (3) ZETNELAT=H USD3,800,000 Manufacturing and
Great Wall Agritech Huludao Co., Ltd. PRC trading of animal feeds
note (1), (2) and (3)) 13 July 2009
AKER CTE) BRAA] hE 1,900,000 7T - 100 E£EREERIMEAY
(Bt (1)~ (2) R (3) “ETNFLA-TIA USD1,900,000 Manufacturing and
Geatwall Agri (Henan) Co., Ltd. PRC trading of animal feeds
(note (1), (2) and (3)) 24 July 2009
REAKRIEEDREHEER AR e AK#100,0007T - 100 tRE
(B (1) % (3)) “ZETNF+—ANA RMB100,000 Research and
Tianjin DaChan Prospect Research PRC development
And Development Co., Ltd. 09 November 2009
(note (1) and (3))
FERAKEESSERAR i AR#100,0007T - 100 RmiR% - BYEE
(Hiat(1) R (3) —Z——%—f%A RMB100,000 RIHE
Zhenglangi Dachan Eco-ranch Co., Ltd PRC Food service, animal
(note (1) and (3)) 05 January 2011 husbandry and Selling
BEAKRRARAR o 10,000/ 7T - 100 RARR
Taixu & Dachan Foods Co. ,Limited —Z——%+—A=-F+ANH HKD10,000 Investment holding
Hong Kong

29 November 2011



15

16

e B e 2 il i B (4)

GEX

2) ZERTERAKINERYRINGS
Bhx -

R-TE——FXA-+=0 A%
[ — 25 U B 2 M K BR 82 S 30% A%
- REAARK9T7350007T @ A
ZE——F+ZA=1+—HBZAINUR
© XA 2 30% AR #E B = M KK B &
EFERKEAHNEEEAARE
10,759,000 7T + A& BRI D FE =
I 25 A R 810,759,000 7T K B& 17 i

B i1 AR % 1,024,000 7T °

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Notes:

(1) The English translation of the company names is for reference only.

The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

(2) These entities established in the PRC are wholly foreign-owned
enterprises.
(3) These entities established in the PRC are limited liability companies.

On 23 June 2011, the Group acquired the remaining 30%

equity interest in Yanzhou DaChan at a cash consideration
of RMB9,735,000 which has been settled by 31 December

2011. The carrying amount of the 30% of the net assets

of Yanzhou DaChan on the date of the acquisition was

RMB10,759,000. The Group recognised a decrease in non-

controlling interests of RMB10,759,000 and an increase in
share premium of RMB1,024,000.

TARE 2 A 2 B 2 vi) i B A 16 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED
INVESTEES
rEEH
The Group
—E——5F —ZE-TF
2011 2010
®+=—A=+—8 Share of net assets
EIEEEFE as at 31 December 28,194 8,036
REE+=A=+—AH Share of losses for the
IEFE (L EE year ended 31 December 1,850 1,246

RZBE——FR-_ZT—FTE KEE

I B A 2RA RS

In 2011 and 2010 the Group did not receive dividends from
any equity-accounted investees.



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

16 RERARSBEAGWMKHEELZ 16 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

(#) INVESTEES (continued)
(a) A PR REZE A MRS B 2 v i (a) Details of the Group’s interests in equity-accounted
AW - investees are as follows:
fiEt =
Proportion of ownership interest

I

AR REEH ®»E

SRARER REARER T BEfT EREE  AMEBLAF Held by
Name of Form of Place of BAGE Group's 2} equity- FEEK
equity-accounted business incorporation Registered effective Held by  accounted Principal
investees structure and operation capital interest subsidiaries  investees activity
DaLOL Bio - Nutrition ML &&  1,400,000%7T 50% 50% - REER
(HK) Co., Ltd. ("DaLOL-HK") Incorporated ~ Hong Kong ~ USD1,400,000 - Investment
holding
HEAEEMRBAHERAT  #MKT BE 1350000%7T 50% - 100% 4EREE
(THEAED Incorporated PRC  USD1,350,000 E b
Hunan DalLOL Bio-Technical Manufactory
Feed Co., Ltd. ("DaLOL-HU") & trading of
animal feeds
AP RRERAR Bz i AR 2% 30% - @RI
(&3 )) Incorporated PRC  160,000,0007 Ly
Jilin CSD Food Co., Ltd. RMB160,000,000 Processing
(“Jilin CSD") of animal feeds

and pork



(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

16 RERARSBEAAMEESR 16 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

(#) INVESTEES (continued)
(a) AN A BE 2 AR S B 2 v i A (a) Details of the Group’s interests in equity-accounted
RAEN I T 2 () investees are as follows: (continued)
fRitt =
Proportion of ownership interest

HEERH

TR REEMN %R

SRATER PEARER e BB ERER HRELRE Held by
Name of Form of Place of BAHE Group's 2] equity- FEEY
equity-accounted business incorporation Registered effective Held by  accounted Principal
investees structure and operation capital interest subsidiaries  investees activity
NEEBAKERERAF Bz i AR 30% 30% = REFH
(TRE£%]) Incorporated PRC 10,000,000 RiE
Dalian Huadu DaChan RMB10,000,000 AR Bl EE
Agriculture Co., Ltd. Poultry
("Dalian Huadu") breeding
& sales and
technology
consultancy
DaChan (Asia-Pacific) Ltd. AL % 2,000,000%T 26% 40% - HEREE
("DAPL") Incorporated ~ Hong Kong ~ USD2,000,000 IKEEL
Manufactory
& trading of
animal feeds
DaChan (VN) Eaal |7 v #E 1,.800,000%7 26% - 100% HEREE
Company Limited Incorporated Vietnam  USD1,800,000 IKE R
("DVN") Manufactory
& trading of

animal feeds



(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

16 JiABE 2 A Mk 2 B 2 | i BE 4

16 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

(%) INVESTEES (continued)
(b) DA LA RE 2R A MR £ BE 2 v W B 5 (b) Financial information of the above equity-accounted
R : investees:
—E--F —T-TF
2011 2010
REEH
THRHK  Dalian &t &t
DAPL DaLOL-HK JilinCSD  HuaDu Total DAPL DalOL-HK Total
EE N Non-current assets 165 492 8,039 7612 16,308 12,583 536 13,119
MEEE Current assets 19117 11557  39,3% 5193 75,261 585 6,241 6,826
nEEE Current liabilities (7,782)  (6,472)  (1,348)  (1,805) (17,407) = (1,239 (1,239)
WTZA=1—H Netassetsas at
LEERE 31 December 11,500 5577 46,085 11,000 74162 13,168 5538 18,706
A Income 75916 50,444 18 8547 135,025 - 18582 18582
5T Expenses (76,965)  (50,360)  (6,026)  (7,547) (140,898) (78)  (21,011)  (21,089)

EREF/(B8)  Profitflloss) for the year

DAPLHBI S ERIZERDAPL &
DVNH4R & 245 » M DalLOL-HK

o A M g
REE -

(1,049) 84  (5908) 1,000 (5873 (78)  (2429)  (2,507)

The financial information for DAPL shows the
consolidated results of DAPL and DVN, and that for
DalLOL-HK shows the consolidated results of DaLOL-
HK and DaLOL-HU.



16 JiABE 25 A Mk 2 B 2 ) i BE 4%

(BRBEIEHIN  UARBFITZ5)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

16 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

(#) INVESTEES (continued)
(c)  ASSRPHJARE R AR 2 B2 v B (¢) Movement of the Group’s investment in equity-
Z W) accounted investees:
“Z—-f —3-%F
2011 2010
REEH
EHEHH  Dalian &t st
DAPL DaLOL-HK JilinCSD  HuaDu Total DAPL DaLOL-HK Total
R—A—H As at 1 January 5,267 2,769 - - 8,036 - 1,449 1,449
ERRE Investment in the year - - 19277 3,000 22,277 5413 2537 7,950
EREL(BR),/ %% Share of (loss)/profit
for the year (420) 2 (1772 300  (1,850) (31)  (1,215)  (1,246)
BRZEE Foreign exchange
differences (247) (22) - - (269) (115) (2) (117)
w=A=+-H As at 31 December 4,600 2,789 17,505 3300 28,194 5,267 2,769 8,036
17 #8] 17 INVENTORIES
() HBWMERAF DA (a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise:
AEE
The Group
—E——F —E—TF
2011 2010
Bz ales Animal feeds 620,058 477,716
RERRENA Poultry and chilled meats 153,738 102,033
MIES Processed foods 113,853 87,498
BEM Agricultural produce 2,600 3,899
JHE M Consumables 69,868 53,460

960,117 724,606




(BRSEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

17 #1% (&) 17 INVENTORIES (continued)
(b) R 2y P S Wy A7 1 & b (b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
P an expense is as follows:
AEE
The Group
—E——F —E—TF
2011 2010
BEHEFERAEB Carrying amount of inventories sold 10,321,432 8,869,545
FEME Write-down of inventories 3,444 296
B 077 B8 Reversal of write-down of inventories (1,579) (7,491)
BARBEYE Fair value of agricultural produce on initial
EREE M recognition (42,286) (25,143)
HHERHERER Reversal of fair value of agricultural produce
mELNAREE due to sales and disposals 43,585 24,139
10,324,596 8,861,346
RZE——F+=-_HA=+—H2 On the consolidated statement of financial position as at

RAEMBARRE - BERtAl IR F
BEEAREDEZFEELREEA
R# 7,148,000 L (=T —&F :
AE#5,283,0007T) © Brt B
N RZE——FRZT—TF
+—A=+—8  ¥EFEKRA
BIEFEYIE -

BEFEREEFS Wﬁﬁ RA %
AT HFERMREEHE KA
IR FHEIR N o

31 December 2011, a provision of RMB7,148,000 (2010:
RMB5,283,000) was made against those inventories
with net realisable value lower than the carrying values.
Other than this provision, none of the inventories as at 31
December 2011 and 2010 were carried at net realisable

value.

The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years
arose due to an increase in the estimated net realisable value
of certain inventories as a result of a change in market.



(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

17 #1% (&) 17 INVENTORIES (continued)
() JREmMAER : (¢) Production quantities of agricultural produce:
AEE
The Group
—=E——F —E—FF
2011 2010
R E (1) Broiler breeder eggs (units) 20,704,600 16,927,000
(d)  JRE N (3R B2 ) 1 52 M Rt (d) Movements of the agricultural produce, representing
T broiler breeder eggs, are summarised as follows:
rEH
The Group
—E——F —E—EF
2011 2010
R—H—H At 1 January 3,899 2,895
EESEFTEUE AN Increase due to lay 42,286 25,143
HE & HEMBURD Decrease due to sales and disposals (43,585) (24,139)

®n+—-—A=+—H At 31 December 2,600 3,899




(RSB  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

18 P&

BRAEMEE (EIRKERKFEH)

18 BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Movements of the biological assets, representing immature

VEEB) AL T ¢ and mature breeders, are summarised as follows:
REE
The Group
—ET——F —T-EF
2011 2010
n—H—H At 1 January 13,479 11,938
EREEFTEUE N Increase due to purchases 5,745 2,883
RIR AT R EUR Decrease due to retirement and deaths (2,157) (3,472)
AABENESFHEERA Change in fair value less costs to sell (2,753) 2,130
»t+=-—A=+—8 At 31 December 14,314 13,479
EYEEHE M T The number of biological assets is summarised as follows:
KEE
The Group
—=——F —E-ZF
2011 2010
By B
Units Units
AENKEESM Chickens bred for growth
ERHE into mature breeders 140,088 105,824
R TE R Mature breeders 89,803 100,359
229,891 206,183

FRFRETIERTHERKFR
¥oRFRETIEANEERER °

AEENEHEHEETNEREHRE
REZAIABEEESEHFIME - £
BENAABERBEEXRAREEL
BETUEE - HELBEBEBLER
BEEmSE EREUKD - mERFRE
EYEEMMGEER  XethkhsE
HRBREBEENFEAFEERER

The immature breeders are primarily bred for further growth
into mature breeders. The mature breeders are primarily
held to produce agricultural produce.

The Group’s breeders were revalued at each end of the
reporting period on a fair value basis. The fair value less
costs to sell of the biological assets is determined using the
sales comparison approach. The sales comparison approach
estimates value by comparing biological assets with similar
size, species and age in the relevant market, and takes into
account factors such as differences in characteristics or
features of value, in breeder market, and in time.
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19 HEWCEL 5 Rk 19 TRADE RECEIVABLES
REH
The Group

—T——F T —TF
2011 2010
FEWE 5 RE K Trade receivables 387,848 327,200
B RIREBAE Less: allowance of doubtful debts (7,131) (9,159)
380,717 318,041

(a) WREHT (a) Ageing analysis

U B 5 0 R RS R e R e

Trade receivables with the following ageing analysis as

IR : of the end of the reporting periods:
AEEH
The Group

—=E——F —E=—FF
2011 2010
BNER Current 312,388 256,933
BEIA R 30 K Less than 30 days past due 51,876 40,663
#HI31 260 K 31-60 days past due 7,757 9,378
#HI61 £90 X 61-90 days past due 4,223 4,901
B HAEE 90 X More than 90 days past due 11,604 15,325
BmAE R Amounts past due 75,460 70,267
387,848 327,200

REE—BAFETFEI0RE
60 RMEEH - FAAEEEER
BUREAPIE31(a) °

The Group normally allows a credit period ranging from
30 days to 60 days to its customers. Further details on

the Group's credit policy are set out in note 31(a).
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19 MEWCR 5 K (51) 19

(b)  HEWCR S IRk Wi

B RAMEWE 5 8RR E & 18 D
RABERAR  FRIEAEER
AW E % B BB R AT REME AR )
RZIBERT - BIR(EEE R AR
WE 558 B M o

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group
is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in
which case the impairment loss is written off against

trade receivables directly.

FARKEBEHEOEHIT ¢ The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
during the year is as follows:
AEEH
The Group
—E——fF —E—TF
2011 2010
R—HA—H At 1 January 9,159 4,814
REREHEEEXN (Credited)/Charged to the consolidated
GONIZEiS income statement (2,028) 4,345
R+=A=+—8 At 31 December 7,131 9,159

—E——f+_fF=+—H K&
SENERESERERT AR
7,131,000 L (ZE—ZF : AR
9,159,000 7T ) £ & Il #& & 7=
ERE o BRI EEKFIEREE
MBRENEF AR MERE
ST TE HR {2 AT Yk [B1 5 > B9 FE R
He At EERRERBAR
#7,131,000c(ZF—ZF : A
R#9,159,0007T) ° ANEE =
L fE WRIE N R A G o

At 31 December 2011, the Group's trade receivables of
RMB7,131,000 (2010: RMB9,159,000) were individually
determined to be impaired. The individually impaired
receivables related to customers that were in financial
difficulties and management assessed that only a
portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.
Consequently, allowances for doubtful debts of
RMB7,131,000 (2010: RMB9,159,000) were recognised.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
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19 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c) AR WA Y HE I B S Rk (¢) Trade receivables that are not impaired
BRI K 48 B I R (8 /Y JE U R I8 B Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
AN EBEENTRANE relate to a wide range of customers for whom there
FBE - was no recent history of default.
B 38 AR ME 37 A% R0 (8 A E LS R T B Receivables that were past due but not impaired
% BN R B IR FF R AR 42 8% related to a number of independent customers that
MBEYEFPER - BERAMTK have a good track record with the Group. Based
B BEEMECHENEEEER on past experience, management believes that no
EEARE  REDAEKRAD impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
BRI U [E] - IS L KUK A balances as there has not been a significant change in
AET IR ELER - AEBEHNE credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
LeENRIER B R A M m o recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.
FBESBERBBHR —FRIK All the trade receivables are expected to be recovered
M o within one year.
JUAib Wk 20 OTHER RECEIVABLES
AEEH RAT
The Group The Company
=E——fF —Z-TF ZZ——F —T-TF
2011 2010 2011 2010
AT B (E T (i) VAT recoverable (i) 196,296 203,933 - =
& RIERFR (i) Deposits and
prepayments (ii) 99,253 96,135 - -
FEUTRRE A T FIE Amounts due from related
(H7z£30(d)) parties (note 30(d)) 34,212 13,312 - =
BRTET Advances to staff 3,751 5,974 - -
BEETEEEC[ES Deposits paid for purchase
of fixed assets 353 450 - -
Hity Others 36,892 48,770 5,654 5,271
370,757 368,574 5,654 5,271
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20 JCfih HEBOGK I (B)

21

(i)

AT e = 32 (B 75 i T K 86 R SR 8508
BEFRNRBREREZER - K
BREREER T ERERHIE
HERTREABHEROEFE
BRHEMEREERMES - K
RAEFERR BE_T——F
Tt A=1T—HAMNAKEEER
KR IE A S B A5 BN — FAE)
A o

BNREEREEE R mEHE
BEEH RN R EEMIAR X
H o

PrAEEMENE A (BRERBEAL
PR BN —FA%kE -

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(i) The VAT recoverable represents the unutilised input
VAT eligible for offsetting against future output VAT.
The unutilised input VAT arose mainly due to the
insufficient output VAT on sales of chicken meat to
offset the input VAT on purchases of live chickens
from contract farmers. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the VAT recoverable as at 31
December 2011 will be utilised within one year in

accordance with the Group's budget.

(i)~ Prepayments consist of advance payments made to
suppliers for purchases of raw materials and other

prepaid expenses.

All of other receivables (including amounts due from related

parties) are expected to be recovered within one year.

BERBESEY 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AEEH AT
The Group The Company
—E——F —T-TF ZT——F —T-TF
2011 2010 2011 2010
ERE AR R Cash and cash equivalents
RireRangxTH in the consolidated
ReRASEFEY statement of financial
position and in the
consolidated cash
flow statement 512,110 408,973 6,726 7,534
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22 TRADE PAYABLES

AEE
The Group
—=E——F —E=—FF

2011 2010

FERTE B IRR

PRE N B ZRFFARN —FAIAM -

BN B SRR RE DA

Trade payables

697,682 621,007

The trade payables are expected to be settled within one

year.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables is analysed as

follows:
rEEH
The Group
—E——F —E-EF
2011 2010
30 KA Within 30 days 638,874 514,070
31260 X 31 days to 60 days 30,473 41,114
61290 K 61 days to 90 days 10,711 40,187
91E180 X 91 days to 180 days 17,624 25,636
697,682 621,007
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23 Al ME AT K I B MEAT B e A L 23 OTHER PAYABLES AND AMOUNTS DUE

K

TO RELATED PARTIES
AEE VNG|
The Group The Company
—E——F —Z-ZTF IZE2-—-F "ZT-IZF
2011 2010 2011 2010

He I8 #Bek

Salaries, wages, bonuses

H A FE 1= A and other benefits payable 143,203 104,404 8,951 4,808
fExtE R Accrued expenses 63,500 45,356 4,449 5,637
B#RE Contract performance deposits 37,536 36,668 - -
TEMGRIE Receipts in advance 24,608 24,676 - =
RERTEERMNRIE Payables for purchase of

fixed assets 13,791 13,153 - -
FERTREE A T RIE Amounts due to related

(B1:%30(e)) parties (note 30(e)) 12,922 9,960 8,763 6,311

HoAh Others 93,292 74,047 - -
388,852 308,264 22,163 16,656
Fir 8 E i & < 5/ I8 [ JE 1~ B 3 A+ 3K All of other payables and amounts due to related parties are

ERHR—EREL -

expected to be settled within one year.
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24 HUTEE 24 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(a) ZEEGET T (a) Bank loans were repayable as follows:
rEE ¥ NG|
The Group The Company
2% ZT-TF B =ZT-ITF
2011 2010 2011 2010
RITER Bank loans
—BAR—FRNEE - repayable within one year 393,442 259,328 57,968 3,311
—BR—FRER - repayable after 1 year
WENER but within 2 years 2,690 5,810 - =
—BRMERER - repayable after 2 year
RFENER but within 5 years 5,947 = - =
402,079 265,138 57,968 3,311
SRITERBE Total bank loans 402,079 265,138 57,968 3,311
B DBEAREBARE  Less: bank loans
BER—FR repayable within one
ERARTT year classified as
g3 current liabilities (393,442) (259,328) (57,968) (3,311)
DEARERBERE Bank loans classified as
BERITER non-current liabilities 8,637 5,810 - -
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24 SYTHRGEK (4)

24 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

(continued)
(b) FEax (b) Terms
r5EE b ONE|
The Group The Company
“2--f C-Z-% —E-—-F CZIZ-ZF
2011 2010 2011 2010
ERBITER Secured bank loans:
—BEEAER - Fixed interest rate at
FE3.8% 3.8% per annum
(=225 (2010: 4.5% per annum)
HF45%) 1,723 8,687 - -
—NFEF439%ZE - Floating interest rate ranging
6.00% &Y% B FI|= 4.39%-6.00% per annum
(ZE—ZF (2010: 3.18%-4.66%
FF318% = per annum)
4.66%) 13,956 2,020 - -
15,679 10,707 - -
AREHRITER - Unsecured bank loans:
—EEMENFEE - Fixed interest rate ranging
1.10%-7.50% 1.10%-7.50% per annum
(Z2—ZF: (2010: 2.51%-6.75%
F%2.51%- per annum) 288,920 214,430 57,968 3,311
6.75%)
N TEF295%% - Floating interest rate ranging
14% B F 87| %= 2.95%-14% per annum
(Z2—ZF: (2010: 1.74%-4.55%
FF1.74% per annum) 97,480 40,001 - =
£4.55%)
386,400 254431 57,968 3,311
RITEREE Total bank loans 402,079 265,138 57,968 3,311




(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

24 G EK (A1) 24 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
(continued)
(c) A 33 AT £ 5Kk P 3 ¥ A IR (¢) The secured bank loans are secured by the following
i : assets:
rEE
The Group
—ET——5F —T-TF
2011 2010
THIREF Land and buildings 23,510 13,173
S M i 2s Plant and machinery 16,343 16,967
39,853 30,140
25  DAIBeBy 2o REWE 0 2 ih 25 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS
(a)  JJBAERTE (a) Share option scheme
RZZEZLFENATTEA - A& On 14 September 2007, the Group established a share
BN —IEERERTE - EARE option scheme that entitles employees of the Group,
EEES (BESEEMAFMNE including directors of any Group entities, to take up
F)REEBARE 1 BTENT options at consideration of HKD1 to subscribe for

REEAR N BB B - shares of the Company.
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25 DAJBCAY P S i S i (48)

(a)

Jilt e it ) (44)

(i)

RERBEFERLNE
P O R R AR IR TS
P A BRI A B YR A
ROH T AEE

25

SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(a) Share option scheme (continued)

()  The terms and conditions of the grants that
existed during the years are as follows, whereby
all options are settled by physical delivery of

shares:

ITEHAE
Number of instruments

RZZEZENFE+A=+/\H
BT THIALHREARAE
—E%

—mREEE
—Hitfg B

1

R=ZZT——F+A=++H
BT THIA LR BEAHE
—=RERE

et

/)N

ok

FERRES X FH RO F o
ERLEREAETES
33% KBRS B L ol -

Options granted on 28 October 2008 to:

— directors 4,000,000
— senior management 4,050,000
— other employees 3,450,000
Subtotal 11,500,000

Options granted on 27 October 2011 to:

— senior management 900,000

Total

12,400,000

The options have a contractual life of four years.
Options granted are subject to a vesting scale in
tranches of 33% each per annum.
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(a)

Yol B it ) (44) (2)

(ii)

BN EE RN FY

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

25 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

(i) ~ The number and weighted average exercise

TTEEWT : prices of share options are as follows:
—E2——F —ETF
2011 2010
AEF METFH
TEE 158
Weighted BIRE  Weighted R tE
average £ ¢E] average A
exercise Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options
BT I
HKD HKD
REF AT Outstanding at the
beginning of the year 1.088 7,627,334 1.088 9,386,667
FARH Granted during the year 1.620 900,000 =
ERTTE Exercised during
the year 1.088 (504,334) 1.088 (755,333)
FAESH Forfeited during
the year - 1.088  (1,004,000)
W+=—A=+—H Outstanding at 31
HARITEE December 1.148 8,023,000 1.088 7,627,334
W+=—A=+—8 Exercisable at 31
AJf7{8 December 1.088 7,123,000 1.088 4,810,670

RZZE——F+=A
=t+—HRARTENBR
REMEFHTERER
11488 (=T —FF :
1.0887 7T ) + IN#EF ¥ F
BENFHEI12F(=ZF
—ZF 1 1.8%F) -

The options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had
a weighted average exercise price of HKD1.148
(2010: HKD1.088) and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 1.2 years (2010: 1.8 years).
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25 DAJBCAY P S i S i (48)

(a)

Jilt e it ) (44)

(iii)

BREN DA BERRR

A HAERIR H EY B RHE T
BHRBEOAAEBEIZ
RERLBRENRAE
Bt E - HERHBERE
RABENBFIER =
BEAMEREAE - BR
RNFRERZELN
—REH AR - %A
FEEA T RERER
BITEMARE °

R-ZFZENFTA=TA
BEREMBERENRA(E
BRfE® :
RELBNAAEE
R B ERR(E
1M
TAER B (WA —IE = 2k
B E R E R R
FIRERTR)
RS (DA — IR B
B E R E R R
FHFERRTR)

TEHIRR S

R A R (ABABINE
ESEHREE)

25 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(a) Share option scheme (continued)

(i) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for

share options granted is measured by reference

to the fair value of share options granted. The

estimate of the fair value of the share options

granted is measured based on a binomial lattice

model. The contractual life of the share options is

used as an input into this model. Expectations of

early exercise are incorporated into the binomial

lattice model.

Fair value of share options granted on 28 October

2008 and assumptions are as follows:

Fair value at grant date

Share price at grant date

Exercise price

Expected volatility (expressed
as weighted average
volatility used in the modelling
under binomial lattice model)
Option life (expressed as
weighted average life used
in the modelling under binomial
lattice model)

Expected dividends

Risk-free interest rate (based
on Hong Kong Exchange
Fund Notes)

HKDO0.3882 — HKD0.4013
0.3882 /7T — 0.4013 /7T
HKDO0.96

0.96 7T

HKD1.088

1.088 /87T

57.51%

4 years

4%

Nil

1.98%
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25 DAJBcAy Ao BEBRE SC ih (4) 25 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
(a)  JWJBCHE ST (47) (a) Share option scheme (continued)
(i) BRENALEBRERRK (il Fair value of share options and assumptions

(%) (continued)

RZE——F+A=++t Fair value of share options granted on 27 October

ARERNERENDLE 2011 and assumptions are as follows:

BERER :

REFH B AR EE Fair value at grant date HKDO0.3700 — HKD0.4405

0.370078 7T — 0.4405/%8 7T

R BRI E Share price at grant date HKD1.62

1.62%87T

I8 Exercise price HKD1.62

1.62%87T

TBERRE) (LA —1E 2 Expected volatility (expressed 47.65%
R G E R AR N as weighted average
TR ERT) volatility used in the modelling

under binomial lattice model)

BE R HA (LA — 1B X BhfE Option life (expressed as 4 years
R G E R AR weighted average life used 4 F
FHFHRT) in the modelling under binomial

lattice model)

TEHARR B Expected dividends 2.47%

R R (ABBINE Risk-free interest rate (based 1.03%
BESBHFRERE) on Hong Kong Exchange

Fund Notes)

TEERR R Th iR B R R (% The expected volatility is based on the historic

FERRRE 2 INAE 39 T B 5F volatility (calculated based on the weighted

Bzt E) 8 - WHBEBRA average remaining life of the share options),

FASERTEE B &K 18 adjusted for any expected changes to future

MM ZEIEL AR 1B volatility based on publicly available information.

HIR B iR A 2 R EET Expected dividends are based on historical

H o dividends.
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25 DAJBCAY P S i S i (48)

(a)  JWE It (40)

(i) BEENDABERRR
(&)
B B M R AR AR S R A T

21« 5B AT IR AR 75
BB AR EER
A 4 3T A UL B I - BRI
B 5 48 0 4 B3 7 A B
ef o

HEZZFT——F+=A8
=+t—BIEFER " UK
RNEF ) EREMN R
# AR# 430,000 (=F
—ZF: AR #¥550,000
JL) * ERBEAER o

(b) A BB By BE My it B

(&%$$I AIMES)

HEESNIRE) - LMRBEFHIE
BEI- ZrdlMERE AT
F - MEESFRAKLIEZTER
BRON o ARIRZ AT 8B B A AR 1D —
BERE - SRERRG - —&
B TBAERRM - ZiTEI&
AR EMAAE T EEERA
M -

i

il

()

(b)

25 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

(i)  Fair value of share options and assumptions

(continued)

Share options were granted under a service
condition. This condition has not been taken into
account in the grant date fair value measurement
of the services received. There were no market
conditions associated with the share option

grants.

During the year ended 31 December 2011,
equity-settled share option payments expenses
amounted to RMB430,000 (2010: RMB550,000)
were recognised in the consolidated income

statements.

Restricted share award scheme

On 23 December 2008, the Group adopted a restricted
share award scheme (the “Scheme”) to retain the best
available personnel by providing additional incentives
to employees of the Group, including directors of
Group entities. Unless terminated earlier by the
Board, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
term of ten years. The shares repurchased under the
Scheme become restricted once granted and become
unrestricted again once vested. The Scheme is not
subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.
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25 DAJBcAy Ao BEBRE SC ih (4) 25 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
(b) A BBy BE w3 (87) (b) Restricted share award scheme (continued)
HE-_ZT——F+-HA=+—H Particulars and movement of the restricted shares
IEFE - ZatEl TR AR & under the Scheme during the year ended 31 December
BERESWT : 2011 were as follows:
i
“E—-F
RZB——F T=A
—A—H R R ==
B RATE ERHE E5E B RATE
Outstanding Granted Vested Outstanding R A BEH
as at during during as at Date of Vesting
01/01/2011 the year the year  31/12/2011 grant period
= Directors 96,000 - (96,000) - 09/11/2009 0-2 years
EE Employees 147,000 - (147,000) - 09/11/2009 0-2 years
EE Employees - 390,000 (130,000) 260,000 27/10/2011 0-2 years
it Total 243,000 390,000 (373,000 260,000
REEREES ((ERARBIZETE Movements in the number of restricted shares
HERA) EBEHNBEEITERR outstanding and the respective weighted average
HEE RESMEFEHFEB AR grant date fair value attributable to the employees of
BEMNEHIAT the Group as grantees of the Scheme of the Company

were as follows:
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25 DAIB Re B g S (B 25 SHARED-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
(b) A5 BBy BE vl 3 (487) (b) Restricted share award scheme (continued)
—2—-F e 2
2011 2010

MEFS MiEFE
EiA B FitiA BRI
DAEE) i DREE) %A
Weighted Number of Weighted Number of
average grant restricted  average grant restricted
date fair value (i) shares date fair value (i) shares

B AT

HKD HKD
R—B—RHEKTE Qutstanding at 1 January 148 243,000 1.48 486,000
ERi Granted 162 390,000 -
EGE Vested 157 (373,000) 148 243,000)
R+ZA=+—AEARE Qutstanding at 31 December 157 260,000 1.48 243,000

() REBAAEBEEARF
RELBENEROORAE
o

HEZ_T——F+=-A=+—H
IEFEA - BR&RD B 24T
M HEAREES50,00070(=F
—Z 4« ARM429,0007T) ' B

(i) Grant date fair value represents the fair value of

the shares of the Company at the grant date.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, restricted
share award scheme payments expenses amounted
to RMB350,000 (2010: RMB429,000) were recognised
in the consolidated income statements.
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26 HEAMBHR UL P BIH 26 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) R WMESRIEF b 0¥ B - (a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of

financial position:

—T——5F —T-TF
2011 2010
REF] At beginning of the year (26,314) (23,042)
FNERS TS Provision for income tax for the year (38,956) (31,167)
FRENFEH Income tax paid in the year 33,316 27,203
[EREE) 2 F8 Effect of movements in exchange rates 626 692
RER At end of the year (31,328) (26,314)
& - Represented by:
AU BIFT1E Income tax recoverable 376 =
FERT TSR Income tax payable (31,704) (26,314)
(31,328) (26,314)
(b) AERBEBIEE R () #H) (b) Movement of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the
year
FRERGEMBRARPER The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
RIEERIBERE (BE) 4K recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
HE REZHMT : position and the movements during the year are as

follows:
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26 HAMBHRULFR P RBIE (4]) 26 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)
(b) AEWIEBREBIHE R (BE) ) (b) Movement of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the
(%) year (continued)
R
e
HERE
Depreciation BERE- HEEM
allowance EhsE  AFEE RAMEHS B
inexcessof FEEME Impairment  HEEE Sales rebate ]
the related  Provision loss- Allowable and other Government &t

depreciation  for stock receivables  taxloss accruals  grants Total

W=%—%—-A—H At 1 January 2011 (106) 596 676 17,069 10,986 - 29,221
ERGERRER Credited/(charged) to
A/ () consolidated
(Wit 7)) income statement
(note 7(a)) (360) 424 746 (2,913) (1,522) 4,440 815
W=F——%+-F=+—H At31December 2011 (466) 1,020 1422 14,156 9,464 4,440 30,036
RNZE-TF-F—-H At 1 January 2010 (98) 157 376 14,033 - - 14,468
ERGABER Credited/(charged) to
A/ () consolidated
Wit 76) income statement
(note 7(a)) 8) 439 300 3,036 10,986 - 14,753

RZB-ZETZA=T—H  At31 December 2010 (106) 5% 676 17069 10986 - 292




26 EREBHR L M BLE (8

()

(d)

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

26 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)
5345 W55 D 3 0 o i (¢) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position
—E——5F ZT—TF
2011 2010
RERE AR R FERR Deferred tax assets recognised
BRI IB & in the consolidated statement of
financial position 30,502 29,327
iRE BN R iR Deferred tax liabilities recognised
BIRERIR A E in the consolidated statement of
financial position (466) (106)
30,036 29,221
R W B V8 A 2 B 2 (d) Deferred tax assets not recognised

RIRFT5E3(0) FTE A ETBUR -
AR E AR BERRE BT A4
BE AR TR 8 B 18 A R 2R I R
Bism Al - AR E AR RERHIE
BB ARY211,912,000L (==
—ZF : AR¥157,253,0007T)
HRELEHIBEE - FIBEIEN]
HERF -

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 3(0), the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
RMB211,912,000 (2010: RMB157,253,000) as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses can be carried

forward for 5 years.
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(e)

AR 8 1 38 A B I £ £

RBHPBEFIOL - RIMIEEH
HIREBEHSINEDEMSHREA
XH10% BT - BRIFRIBEWE
ER% - RIBHBEEETER K
WMBEHE  EEBKILNREE
B A BIRIR 5% A K - B H
B P 8 2 AU ER B0 B B S A TR A
B o RIBH B BOEN T BT
B ANEE AP BENER
ER-_ZTLF+-_A=+—H
Bl 2 AR 70 I i M) LA 0 S B
RBNTEHD - NEE A FE
MHEARE -—TENF—A—H
FE B 8 1 BT 18 W B BB RV ZR S A
B - Hitt - R AR ARED
M A - A%t BT QR AR

D IKEF RN ERIELERIA -

RZE——F+ZA=+—
B BKB2RQE KRS K& F
HEANEREEZEEARE
316,785,000 (=& —F4F : A
R #195,098,0007T ) ° A A
A EE SN E A R F AR B I
K MEABREZZWEB QTR
ARRREAEG D& - #E
BB 7 R 5% 35 AR B St I BRF FE AT
%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁE%%AE%
24,515,000 C(ZE—FF : A
K 13,629,000 7z> °

*H

26 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(e)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the new PRC tax law, dividends received by
foreign investors from their investment in foreign-
invested enterprises are subject to withholding tax
at a rate of 10% unless reduced by treaty. Pursuant
to a tax treaty between the PRC and Hong Kong,
the investment holding companies established in
Hong Kong are subject to a reduced withholding
tax rate of 5% on dividends they receive from their
PRC subsidiaries. Pursuant to the grandfathering
treatments of the new PRC tax law, dividends
receivable by the Group from its PRC subsidiaries
in respect of its undistributed profits prior to 31
December 2007 are exempted from the withholding
tax. Dividends receivable by the Group from its PRC
subsidiaries in respect of its profits earned since 1
January 2008 will be subject to the withholding tax.
Accordingly, deferred tax would be recognised for
undistributed retained earnings of the PRC subsidiaries
to the extent that the earnings would be distributed in

the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2011, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to
RMB316,785,000 (2010: RMB195,098,000). Deferred
tax liabilities of RMB24,515,000 (2010: RMB13,629,000)
have not been recognised in respect of the tax that would
be payable on the distribution of these retained profits
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable
that profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable

future.
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(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of each component of the Group's
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
in the Company's individual components of equity

between the beginning and the end of the year are set

out below:
PUGE
ERNGRE
BE RfEE  BABH®  ENBE Sharebased  REER
Share Share Contributed Translation ~ payment  Retained &t
Capital ~ premium surplus reserve reserve profit Total

Note (note 27(c)) (note 27 ()fi) (note 27(a)(il) (note 27(d)(iv)) (note 27(d)(v))

M

(Mrore) (W27 (Mskaza) (MEardi) (s 27div)

RZF—%-F-A At 1 January 2011
WEREEHROEARS  Equitysettled sharebased
payment transactions
EngR Profitfor the year
EfrzEka Other comprehensive income
RRTARARRHRS Dividends to equity
shareholders
WZE——F+ZA=t-H  At31December 2011
N=E-T4-A-A At 1 January 2010
WEREENORNZARS  Equitysettled shareased
payment transactions
EmiH Profitfor the year
Efi2Eka Other comprehensive income
N TRARRERRS Dividends to equity
shareholders

RZE-ZE+-F=t-H  At31December 2010

%

27lb)

%

27(h)

91575 5h040 41215 (172102) 2082 111553 1,365,363

40 1,09 - - 9 (427) 806
- - - - - 39,231 39231
- - - (67123) - - (67123)

- - - - - (33597 (33597)

97615 576135 741215  (239,225) 2180 116760 1,294,680

97516 573689  7AM215  (130,501) 1807 67721 1351402

60 1,351 = = 27 (1,270} 416
= - = = = 69,669 69,669
- - - (41,601) - - (41,601)

- - - - = (4573 (24573)

97576 575040 TM2M5  (172102) 208 111553 1365363
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

27 EAR -~ il R (4) 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)
(a)  HERRALLES 2> 058 W) (%) (a) Movements in components of equity (continued)

(b)

(i)

JBe

(i)

(i)

BABBIENACKRHHA (i)
A EE(GRERESBHNAC
MizaEEFE(RWZ

27(d)(ii)) 5t &) BB AR AT
EARBMETHRMDE

BB °

Contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of NAC determined based
on the basis of the consolidated net assets of
NAC at the date of the reorganisation (see note
27(d)(ii)) over the nominal value of the shares

issued by the Company in exchange thereof.

(b) Dividends

BN ARAIREREG BN E (i)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the

FHIRE Company attributable to the year
—E——5F —E—TF
2011 2010
“EH%ESEDIK  Final dividend proposed after
HIAREARR S the end of reporting period of
A% 9.00781L HK9.00 cents per share
(Z=2—=F: (2010: HK4.00 cents per share)
A% 4.007%4L) 74,688 34,419

BEMBRFEEMNRFA (ii)
#EE RORAS F AR B RR

K E B R R D BAR &Y

s

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company and minority shareholders of its
subsidiaries attributable to the previous financial

year, approved and paid during the year

—2——% -T-%F

2011 2010
IR FARQFREE  Dividends to equity shareholders
HIR 2 of the Company 33,597 24,573
NI NS Dividends to minority shareholders
VYIRS of subsidiaries 26,676 14,468

60,273 39,041
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)
(¢) Share capital
EE R B FEITIRA (i) Authorised and issued share capital
—E—-F —3-%F
2011 2010
RO#E B
Number of &% Number of Ec
shares  Amount shares Amount
‘000 ‘000
TR T
EE Authorised:
W+=—A=+—B&KAEE Ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each
0.1 B TH LR at 31 December 10,000,000 964,358 10,000,000 964,358
BETRECEER - Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:
n—RA—H At 1 January 1,008,293 97,259 1,008,240 97,255
BEARRND ZEEE Shares repurchased under restricted
BRI ARLA (i) share award scheme (ii) - - (945) (82)
RIEBREN EERTEIKRT  Share granted to employee under
EEMRI (v) restricted share award scheme (v) 373 31 243 21
RERRES BT Share issued under share option
HIBRA7 (i) scheme (ii) 504 40 755 65
Rt=ZA=1+—H At 31 December 1,009,170 97,330 1,008,293 97,259
TRBRFEAATZEAERR The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to

AR EIRZBE RER
NEIEREHE LEBRE —
EREE IR ERRE
ARRIZRGBEEZER

SRR o

residual assets.

dividends as declared from time to time and
are entitled to one vote per share at general
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares

rank equally with regard to the Company’s
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27 AR ~ Al BB B ()

(c) JBeAs (%)
(i)  FEE] ARG

REL-BER(EE) AR
NAIR— X AAEF R
0 B R ET 8 48 4 R & 18 B
BAEFE - RFEAEBRE
BiBAEEBBANERL
BREERKD ZE) A &
TEH Y EERD - (ERARK
DRBEN—FD - &
EETKRZELEIE
NEXFAABEEERE
i P R 53R B2 - PR AR
MEUREEREXIME
RAAUES -

ZIEFEBAR A AR B EDE
RER  BEE AKRM
5 BB RARBOKE
DA o ZIEFERA BN
WRIEEFRD -

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)

(©)

Share capital (continued)

(i)  Purchase of own shares

Core Pacific-Yamaichi International (Hong Kong)
is an employee benefit trust used in conjunction
with the restricted share award schemes. The
trustee has agreed to satisfy the award made
under the restricted share award scheme
through the relevant employee benefit trust. As
part of restricted share award scheme, the Group
funds the trust, from time to time to enable the
trustee to acquire its own ordinary shares to
satisfy the award. All shares have been acquired
through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The trust was treated as a legal entity separate
from the Company but as a subsidiary of the
Company for consolidation purpose. The shares
held by the trust are treated as treasury shares.
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27 EAR - i R (4) 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)
(c) JBeAR (&) (¢) Share capital (continued)

(ii)  FEE H ARG (3E) (ii)  Purchase of own shares (continued)
ZERBERFENLSE Details of these shares repurchased and held by
RDFEHINWAT ¢ the trust are set out below:

Bk
BERH#AE Bk Frft REBH
Number of BRERE BifERE Cash
E/R shares  Highestprice ~ Lowest price  consideration
Month/year repurchased  paid per share  paid per share paid
BT B
HKD HKD
ZEE\FTZA December 2008 548,000 0.85 085 427
oy November 2009 2,222,000 1.50 143 2,876
“ETNETCR December 2009 589,000 148 1.48 764
—Z-TERA May 2010 945,000 1.51 1.33 1,206
=Xi) Total 4,304,000 5273
REERR D EEE Shares granted to employees
BT EENRA under restricted
share award scheme (1,040,000)
ERFFR Shares held at the

end of the year 3,264,000
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)
(c) JBeAs (4) (¢)  Share capital (continued)
(iii)  IRIEIE R E 7l 3 2277 19 )% (iii)  Shares issued under share option scheme
/}/J\

AR BATHA] During 2011, options were exercised to subscribe
7 i 504,000 B A A w] for 504,000 ordinary shares in the Company
78 1B B 5 1) Wl PR RE > AR at a consideration of RMB453,000 of which
Fy N HE 453,000 7T > Hirp RMB40,000 was credited to share capital and the
# N R ¥ 40,000 76 5F AL balance of RMB413,000 was credited to the share
A& B AR 413,000 premium account. RMB212,000 was transferred
JoRt A B E R o AR from the share-based payment reserve to the share
¥ 212,000 7€ & 8 ¥ M 52 premium account in accordance with policy set out
3(n)(ii) UrifBOR A 2L in note 3(n)(ii).

b kB Y ST A A 2 R
T fE AR o
(iv) TR A AR 19 R i i K i (iv)  Terms of unexpired and unexercised options at the end
RATHE R IR FERI X - of the reporting period
7R “Z—-F —Z-%
Exercise price 2011 2010
I E ]
HKD Number Number
ZEENFTAZTN\HE 28 QOctober 2009 to
S W iy A= 28 October 2013 1.088 1,785,335 1,994,001
ZT-TFTAZTN\HE 28 October 2010 to
S W iy A= 28 October 2013 1.088 2,521,335 2,816,668
“Z—%+A=tN\HZ 28 October 2011 to
—Z2—=%+HA=1T/\B 28 October 2013 1.088 2,816,330 2,816,664
e s e AN = E 28 October 2012 to
“Z-REtA-+tR 27 October 2015 1.620 300,000 -
“Z-—=F+tA=tN\HZ 28 October 2013 to
“Z-REtA-+tR 27 October 2015 1.620 300,000 -
ZT-EF+AZTNHE 28 October 2014 to
“Z-REtA-T+tR 27 October 2015 1.620 300,000 -

8,023,000 7,627,333
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(c)  JBeAs ()

v)

WRIFA R 17 2 ) it 2] 1%
HHI R

RZE——F+=-A+H
H - 373,000 & f7 2 %
T—EZEE - —FHEH
M EE AR 31,0007
BEHRIBEEEEAED
EEEBRERE AR
470,0007TE B ARG AE
MO NEEEREZERS

wE e

d) 2R R A%

)

17 i 167 B B A A 1 i

B s B AR R R E
18 R AR A 3T R AT UL
SR ZEEER - 1R
BEREHERARE AR
AR EBR B A DK
FTARBRR  MHEEREZ
ZOKBREERE AR
BRESBEERN —REK
BIZ 2 BIEAETS o

EXBEMNERXEER
BEBIEE 49H ERPTE I ©
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(©)

(d)

Share capital (continued)

)

Shares granted under restricted share award scheme

On 15 December 2011, 373,000 shares were
granted to an employee. An amount equivalent
to the par value of the shares granted of
RMB31,000 was transferred from the capital
redemption reserve to the share capital and
RMB470,000 was transferred from the share-
based payment reserve to share premium.

Nature and purpose of reserves

@

Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The share premium represents the difference
between the par value of the shares of the
Company and proceeds received from the
issuance of the shares of the Company. Under
the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company would be in a position to pay off
its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The application of the capital redemption reserve
is governed by section 49H of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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(d)  falifhi =2 P BT B R 3% ()
(i) B O

BIEEHERN DTN E A
ERHMARRDEER
EWmER]D - KA A
ERNACE K I8 & 3 17
1,999,999 R & IR E 1 0.1
BT T B - ERWE
HEFTHENACE # /MR
8- REMRNACEARAE
BEBBARRDBERRM
MmETHROEENZESE
EREAERHEBRELRE
ISR P A OH#EE -

(iii) P E fi

18 FRNEEEHBA
EREIRIEERE T ER
Al B R A R AR X R
B0 B 32 E BT B ) B 4R A
ERET YEEHES
GHLE -

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)

(@

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(it)

(iii)

Merger reserve

Pursuant to the reorganisation plan of the
Group in preparation of the Company’s listing
in the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Reorganisation”), the
Company issued 1,999,999 ordinary shares
of HKDO.1 each to the then shareholders of
NAC in consideration of acquiring their equity
interests held in NAC. The difference between
the then shareholders’ total capital contributions
to NAC over the nominal value of the shares
issued by the Company in exchange thereof
was transferred to the merger reserve in the
consolidated financial statements as at the date

of Reorganisation.

PRC statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to PRC
statutory reserves are made in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and
the articles of association of the Company's
subsidiaries established in the PRC and were

approved by the respective boards of directors.
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(d)
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TR ERRARERR
SRR REREERH
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FREZEMEARHI 0% &
Ik BUAERESTHE
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PREFREE
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(@)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iti)  PRC statutory reserves (continued)

General reserve fund

The subsidiaries in the PRC are required
to appropriate 10% of their after-tax profit,
as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to general
reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches
50% of the registered capital. The transfer to this
reserve must be made before distribution of a
dividend to shareholders.

Enterprise development fund

Certain subsidiaries in the PRC are required
to set up an enterprise development fund.
Transfers to this fund are made at the discretion
of the board of directors of the subsidiaries.
This fund can only be utilised on capital items
for the collective benefit of the subsidiaries’
employees such as the construction of
dormitories, canteens and other staff welfare
facilities. This fund is non-distributable other than
on liquidation. The transfer to this fund must
be made before distribution of a dividend to

shareholders.
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(d)

(e)

®

i 2 P B 3 ()

(iv) [ES 1

EXRESEREINES
MEBARMBRRREE
EHPTAEN Z5

(v) LU 75 B REHT 3 il

AR R BT S h #
ERIBFIRES(n) (i) WEAR
UM SERNTHOE
ARERERNE R TAS
B (2 B &R 1T B U &%
B R IRt SR A B R Bk
T RENAREE-

] 2y U Ak

RZE——F+ZA=+—
H Al R TARA
BEANBERAEOABARE
1,197,065,000 L (= F — T F :
# AE¥1,257,788,000 7T) °

YA A

AEBE BRI BB RE R KK
FEETE A an M RIS ERE RIAS
MIRARE » #RFFTMNEARE
B ERHEEARTSELL
EREEBIEER -

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(@)

(e)

®

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iv)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries
outside of PRC.

(v)  Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised options and restricted share awards
granted to employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy for share-

based payments in note 3(n)(ii).

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company was approximately RMB1,197,065,000
(2010: approximately RMB1,257,788,000).

Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base
so as to maintain creditor and market confidence and
to sustain future development of the business, by
pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a

reasonable cost.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(f) Capital management (continued)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of

changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this
purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as total debt
(which includes interest-bearing borrowings, trade
payables and other payables) plus unaccrued proposed
dividends, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital

comprises all components of equity.

During 2011 the Group's strategy, which was
unchanged from 2010, was to maintain the adjusted
net debt-to-capital ratio at appropriate level. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends payable to shareholders, issue

new shares or return capital to shareholders.

The adjusted net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 31
December 2011 and 2010 was as follows:
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27 HAR - BB B (BF) 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)
O HAREH () (f)  Capital management (continued)
REE
The Group

o3 —E——f S s

Note 2011 2010
MENEE Current liabilities:

—ERTE SRR — Trade payables 22 697,682 621,007

— HEM AR — Other payables 23 388,852 308,264

—RITER - Interest-bearing borrowings 24 393,442 259,328

1,479,976 1,188,599
SERBALRE ! Non-current liabilities:

—RITER — Interest-bearing borrowings 24 8,637 5,810
FE=Ri Total debt 1,488,613 1,194,409
B RERIReEEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents 21 (512,110) (408,973)
KRAEFAE Adjusted net debt 976,503 785,436
S Capital 1,974,078 1,832,594
KRR FEEEMERE  Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio 49% 43%
A E) S H R F B A RS E R AN Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject

EHEIEEARFRK to externally imposed capital requirements.
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28 7R¥E 28 COMMITMENTS
(a) EAIRIE (a) Capital commitments
—E——F+-A=+—HIEX Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December
RERE P RRELBENER 2011 not provided for in the consolidated financial
AYEIR statements were as follows:
REE
The Group
—=——fF —E—ZF
2011 2010
EEES) Contracted for
—BEEEE — Fixed assets 23,914 26,492
—KE — Investment 28,720 =
ERERRETL Authorised but not contracted for
—BEEEE — Fixed assets 80,809 67,958
133,443 94,450

WZE——F—HA=-+HA"
- RN NS P il
SNTENRFRHK - REE@EE
EpE AEEALEARK
48,000,000 - HE=ZT——4F
+TZA=+—H KAEEEXHM
AR 19,280,0007T ' B THIA
R#28,720,000 TZAR=—ZE—=
F—AZ+MBEXfT -

On 25 January 2011, the Group jointly established
Jilin CSD together with the other two ventures.
According to the joint venture agreement, the Group
should contribute capital of RMB48,000,000. As at 31
December 2011, the Group has paid RMB19,280,000,
the remaining portion of RMB28,720,000 is required to
be paid off by 24 January 2013.
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28 7RI (%)

(b)

BB ITRYE

—F—FtZA=t—H R\
15 7T AT B A S AR AV FE 1 Y SR 2R
REBENFTAENAT -

28

COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments

At 31 December 2011, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
payable as follows:

rEE

The Group
—=E——F —E=—FF
2011 2010
—F AR Within 1 year 1,780 2,576
—FAEERFUA After 1 year but within 5 years 4,743 4,099
RAFRE After 5 years 33,279 29,577
39,802 36,252

AEBREBELEHOBEZEY
¥ -BREEH-KRR—ZE=t
F o AREHNEEME FREE
BERRST - ZFHEOBTIR
gAEE -

The Group leases a number of properties under
operating leases. The leases run for an initial period of
one to seven years, with an option to renew the leases
when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.



28 7RI (H) 28 COMMITMENTS (continued)
(c) JEERE (¢) Purchase commitments
AEEBEETEERR ([ZO2 The Group entered into one-year contracts (renewable
FDRIM—FHME 4 (A& 5 and reviewed annually) with certain selected farmers
WEBFERZ) Bt ~&H (“Contract Farmers”) under which the Group agrees
Rl B AR K15 & B 1 (B 5 1€ /Y 17 7€ to purchase live chickens, upon fulfilment of certain
BRRARNEFPEERaETE quality requirements, from the Contract Farmers
SERMEE - NEHEER B at an agreed price determined based on the then
FIARRZANEFPEETHN S prevailing market prices. The amounts of live chickens
W contracted to be purchased from the Contract Farmers
at the end of the reporting period were as follows:
rEE
The Group
—ET——5 —T-TF
2011 2010
=EIES) Contracted for 226,705 262,913
d) SRS (d) Sales commitments

(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

AEBECDEETEPAI Y —FH
BEH (TERY B SFERZ)
Bt - AEBRBREEERT
BEENHEBRLEHN - B
FEEZBR—REFHE - 1
EREER  BRINRZREEPH

The Group entered into one-year contracts (renewable
and reviewed annually) with certain customers under
which the Group agrees to sell chicken meat at an
agreed price determined based on the then prevailing
market prices. The pre-determined price typically
agreed on a seasonal basis. The amounts of chicken

EHAMSTELT - meat contracted to be sold to these customers at the
end of the reporting period were as follows:
REH
The Group
—E——F —T—TF
2011 2010
B 5147 Contracted for 153,740 252,703




(RSB  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

29

2R £

X
i

BE-ZTAF AEERAHH
FRRMRY P EEEDS
(TCCRCJ) » Bt - ANEEEEA (7%

BEDIMNEY  AERBEE TR
BEX®E REFEMNEB(DRERE
THEETE - BEESRERENMH
FE28(c)) BB IEE - ki AEEKE
AREEEP([HBAADITZHEE
MEFREERA B —BEE
BEN  AEBBERIMNES - &

SETEEBRABEHNEERTE
7 REABEBHEBAOREE LA

AB0% M FEIRER TS ©

RZE——F+=-A=+—H ' CCRC
THEBENARRKETTHEESE
AR OISR A

29

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Since 2009, the Group has adopted a contract farming
arrangement for chickens, namely China Chicken Raising
Company (“CCRC"), under which the Group contracts with
individuals (“the Contractors”) and agrees to purchase live
chickens, upon fulfilment of certain quality requirements,
at an agreed price determined based on the then prevailing
market price (the corresponding purchase commitments
is disclosed in note 28(c)). In addition, the Group assumes
a guarantor role in the lease agreements between the
Contractors and owners of farms (“the Lessors”), whereby
the Group guarantees the payment of rentals in the event
of default by the Contractors. The Group also undertakes
to either replace the Contractors to continue the execution
of the leases or compensate the Lessors with 50% of the
remaining rental payable if the Contractors withdraw from

the lease.

At 31 December 2011,

cancellable lease payments of the Contractors under CCRC

the total future minimum non-

model are payable as follows:

AEEH

The Group
—E——fF —E—FF
2011 2010
—FR Within 1 year 7,783 7,712
—FRAFN After 1 year but within 5 years 28,892 29,040
AFE After 5 years 21,424 27,625
58,099 64,377
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed

elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered

into the following material related party transactions.

LRV Y2 PIYSR ] | (@)
#

FA BTN TNRSBAR S
BEALRS :

REALERE
Name of party

Name and relationship with related parties

During the year, transactions with the following parties

are considered as related party transactions:

HEERE A T VRR

Relationships

AAEWMEERDERAT ([ RAKEMEE]) *
Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“"GWE")

AREBBLERR (R BARAR ([AKESFILR]) *
Land O’ Lakes/Great Wall Enterprise Nutrition
Technologies (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“"LOL-BJ")

ARG FIBERBR AT ([HERKF]) *
Great Wall Yung Huo Food (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
("GWYHB")

REEBRMRNHBRAR ([EaeEERM]) *
Total Nutrition Technologies Co., Ltd. (“TNT")

ARKEm(RE)BRAR ([RKEmM(RE)])*
Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“"GWF-TJ")

AKBAMER R (RE)BERAT ([ RKBMER])*
DaChan Showa Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“DSF")

=S UNC]

Ultimate holding company

AR (R A BRI R NMER A R]) BB &2 &)
Associate of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

AR (R R AR SRAIER A ] B
)= ING]

Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company
of the Company

AR (R A RIBRALER A E]) #)
il=YNG]

Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company
of the Company

RBBIFR (AR BB R ERR A R)) BT 2 7]
Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

ARBIER (AR RN ER AR BB AR
Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company
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30 BHEALARY (4)

(a)

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
B N\ - 44 6 e BRI N L i B (a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)
1% (81
BEALERE EHRAE A T HIRER

Name of party

Relationships

MERE
DalLOL-HU

DAPL

Marubeni Corporation (“Marubeni”)

Marubeni (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“Marubeni Beijing”)

Marubeni (Dalian) Co., Ltd. (“Marubeni Dalian")

Marubeni (Qingdao) Co., Ltd. (“Marubeni Qingdao”)

DVN

=R ki
Jilin CSD

RIEZEH
Dalian Huadu

* RAIBBHEXERERSS -
ZERAREEBRBIAF XK

~
7

DALOL-HK (AR B RHEHIE§E) BB 2 F)
Subsidiary of DaLOL Bio-Nutrition (HK) Co.,
Ltd., jointly controlled entity of the Company

)N D) =N
Associate of a subsidiary

DERER

Minority shareholder

Marubeni (> £A% 3R ) KB A 7
Subsidiary of Marubeni, minority shareholder

Marubeni (> EARER ) B9 BB A 7]
Subsidiary of Marubeni, minority shareholder

Marubeni (283 ) HYFTE A 7
Subsidiary of Marubeni, minority shareholder

DAPL (& EE & A7) B f 2 7
Subsidiary of DAPL, an associate of the Group

HEEHIER

Jointly controlled entity

NGO =N
Associate of a subsidiary

The English translation of the company names is for reference
only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Significant related party transactions

Particulars of significant related party transactions

s @ during the year are as follows:
Fiex —E2——F —E-ZF
Note 2011 2010
REERS Recurring
HET ! Sales to:
RALPER 2 A Ultimate holding company
— KRR 5 - GWE - 298
DERR A minority shareholder
—Marubeni — Marubeni 183,187 149,945
JGES NG| Fellow subsidiaries
—DVN - DVN 71,258 -
—4b oK - GWYHB 3,179 3,105
— KRB HAR M@ - DSF 4 _
— R Rm(RE) - GWF-TJ 6 7
74,447 3,112
EMEEA L Other related party
— R REE — DalLOL-HU 35,289 9,869
292,923 163,224




(RSB  UARKETITZ7)
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30 BHEALARY (4)

(b)

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
TR+ 3 5 (%) (b) Significant related party transactions (continued)
FRNERBEEA TR ZH BN Particulars of significant related party transactions
T (&) during the year are as follows: (continued)
Bisx —E2——F —ZTZF
Note 2011 2010
BEMERS (E) Recurring (continued)
e Purchases from:
RALIESR 2 A Ultimate holding company
— KRR 3 - GWE - 2,417
IZES! NG| Fellow subsidiaries
— K Rm(RE) - GWF-TJ 5,132 3,887
— RKBHR @ - DSF 6,263 6,881
— R REE BRI - TNT 13,197 9,213
24,592 19,981
EEEA L Other related parties
— REKEEILR - LOL-BJ - 636
PN — DalLOL-HU 9,991 8,657
9,991 9,343
LB A minority shareholder
—Marubeni — Marubeni 343 121
DB R AT E 2 7] Subsidiaries of a minority shareholder
—Marubeni Beijing — Marubeni Beijing 23,271 23,778
—Marubeni Dalian — Marubeni Dalian 3,619 864
—Marubeni Qingdao — Marubeni Qingdao 272 1,193
27,162 25,835
62,088 57,697
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30 BHEALRY (4]) 30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b) THARBEALZS (&) (b) Significant related party transactions (continued)
FAERBEATRSNFEN Particulars of significant related party transactions
T = (%) during the year are as follows: (continued)

Fisx —ET——5F —E=—FF
Note 2011 2010
BEMRS (E) Recurring (continued)
EEEMNT Management fee paid to:
RALIESR 2 A Ultimate holding company
—RKEWEE - GWE (i) 7,596 6,352
DB A minority shareholder
—Marubeni — Marubeni (i) 645 677
8,241 7,029
HEMFF Rental paid to:
GTES )AL A fellow subsidiary
— RKEm (RE) - GWF-TJ 60 60
HESWEmAE : Rental received from:
N An associate
— KRB — Dalian Huadu 967 =
BEARERK: Loan from:
VN An associate
—DAPL — DAPL - 5,033
BEERT Repayment of a loan to
VN An associate

—DAPL — DAPL 5,033 =




(BR5BEHEBI  UARKETITZ7)
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30 BHEALARY (4) 30

(b) HRBBEALZS (&)

B 5 -

(i) NFPHEEERRAANEEETE
ARX RN ERE -

(i) NFPLERRNEREIEZMARN
RRHBRRNRMMNTER
TR S o

(i) FA - ARA]BLELHARKE
PREER BB R o

() TEEAFAEME

FEETEZEREEAEHE(E
EHESENEN TARA
EEZNSRLMEIMKEND
NFETHESHFEENSE) I

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b) Significant related party transactions (continued)

Notes:

(i) The management fee paid to the ultimate holding company
was primarily for the payment of royalties in respect of the use
of trademarks.

(ii) The management fee paid to a minority shareholder was
primarily for the technical assistance rendered to a subsidiary
in respect of its food processing activities.

(iii) During the year, the Company used the technology know-how
owned by GWIH free of charge.

(¢) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company's
directors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the

highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9, is as

s 8 follows:
—E—-F —T-TF
2011 2010
e EE SRR Short term employee benefits 13,347 9,608
BER R Retirement scheme contributions 157 203
ARR (D BERER S Share-based payments 474 765
13,978 10,576

MEEBEEF A TEIRA] (7B
2B 6(b))

Total remuneration was included in “staff costs” (note
6(b)).
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30 BIEEALRY (4) 30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(d)  MEMCRH A 15k (d) Amounts due from related parties
REZER - REBBUTEEA As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
THEER the following balances with related parties:
Pzt —B——F —E-FF
Note 2011 2010
FEUWE 5 BRFR ¢ Trade receivables from: (i)
JZES NG| Fellow subsidiaries
— bRk H - GWYHB 338 484
DERE A minority shareholder
—Marubeni — Marubeni 25,775 12,646
EMEEA T+ Other related parties
PN — DalLOL-HU 2,584 182
- DVN - DVN 5,515 -
8,099 182
ST AE At FE YR IE Included in other receivables
(H1at20) (note 20) 34,212 13,312
(i) BEATHERESIEREX (i)  Trade receivables from related parties are
TyEKE . £ 8 RFEER unsecured, interest free and are expected to
—FRRE - R=F—— be recovered within one year. There was no
FER_ZE—ZFTFE+=A8 impairment loss made against these amounts at
=+—HB TEHEZEX 31 December 2011 and 2010.

REHRERR -



(RSB  UARKETITZ7)
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30 BN S (B) 30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(e)  MEATBHHA L5k (¢) Amounts due to related parties
RREREAERE - NEEHB I As at the end of reporting periods, the Group had the
TRGE AT AERR following balances with related parties:
Pzt —E——F —E-FF
Note 2011 2010
BB SR Trade payables to: (i)
JZES NG| Fellow subsidiaries
— KRAKFBFR @ - DSF 1,333 967
— B AL E BRI —TNT 2,498 960
— KRB m(R=E) - GWF-TJ 556 590
4,387 2,517
HtEA 1+ Other related party
AN — DalLOL-HU 6 444
DER R I E 2 AT Subsidiaries of minority shareholder
—Marubeni Dalian — Marubeni Dalian 1,103 351
—Marubeni Qingdao — Marubeni Qingdao - 430
1,103 781
5,496 3,742
Hth eI FRE ¢ Other payables to:
EARIERR A F) Ultimate holding company
— KRR - GWE 7,426 6,218
B A ELAth FE A~ 5RIE Included in other payables
(H15%23) (note 23) 12,922 9,960
(i BEEATHESZZER (i)  Trade payables to related parties are unsecured,
TEEAR REREAR— interest free and are expected to be paid within

FANELR - one year.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(f) Commitment to a related party

—E——F —T—TF
2011 2010
BRER : Investment to:
L[EIFEHZ F] Jointly control entity
HMRARERK (#77228(a))  Jilin CSD (Note 28(a)) 28,720 =

31 4w RBs 4% B R A R A

AEENTIZeMIABGERS MR
TEEY  BREZERREAMER
FIE - RITERRENE S RNEE
EMNKIE EAKREERXKERE
TELAGEERR  MERER  BE¥RE
B XBRR RBESKERER
[\ -

AEEAENERRR R ASEER
B 8 A e B BR R B B 7 L B 3R RO
REREHNOT :

31

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other
receivables, interest-bearing borrowings and trade payables
and other payables. Exposure to credit, interest rate,
currency, business, liquidity and commodity price risks arise

in the normal course of the Group's business.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below:
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(@)

Credit risk

It is the risk that a counterparty is unable to pay
amount in full when due. It arises primarily from the
Group's trade receivables and amounts due from
related parties. The Group limits its exposure to
credit risk by rigorously selecting counterparties. The
Group mitigates its exposure to risk relating to trade
receivables by dealing with diversified customers with
sound financial standing. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a
credit control policy to minimise credit risk. In addition,
all receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and overdue balances are followed up by senior
management. The Group's diversified business base
ensures that there are no significant concentrations
of credit risk for a particular customer. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of reporting periods, 15.5%
(2010: 12.0%) and 28.5% (2010: 17.5%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's largest

customer and the five largest customers, respectively.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group’'s operations and mitigate the
effects of short-term fluctuations in cash flows.
The Group's treasury department is responsible
for maintaining a balance between continuity and
flexibility of funding through the use of banking
facilities in order to meet the Group's liquidity

requirements.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of reporting period of the Group’s
and the Company's non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current
at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the

Group and the Company can be required to pay:



(RSB  UARKETITZ7)
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31 A RlBe 4% B % A oA (%) 31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(b)  TEE 4B (%) (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
REE The Group
—E—-F%
2011
Y LEZS

BRREE  -FAx —FUE mENRE
RERE ZEXEE EIRME EIREF

Total Within More than More than
SREE contractual 1 year 1year 2 years
Carryingundiscounted oron but less but less

amount  cash flow demand than 2 years than 5 years

BITER Bank loans 402,079 407,812 397,887 2,862 7,063
EREZER Trade payables 697,682 697,682 697,682 - -
Hi M 5IE Other payables 388,852 388,852 388,852 - -
1488613 1,494,346 1484421 2,862 7,063
—E-Tf
2010
BAMER

MERe  —FRR —FHhE mENE
MEAE RBXEE EIRME BIRDF

Total Within ~ More than ~ More than
fREE  contractual 1 year 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted oron but less but less

amount  cash flow demand than 2 years than 5 years

RITER Bank loans 265,138 266,587 257,221 9,366 -
ERNESER Trade payables 621,007 621,007 621,007 - -
Hib 508 Other payables 308,264 308,264 308,264 = =

1,194,409 1,195,868 1,186,492 9,366 =




(BRSEHEAI  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

31 Ak e B 4 B B A Ao M (51 31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(b) TR 4 BB (47) (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
P N/NE| The Company
—E——fF
2011
BHMER
BEIRIR S —FR5
e REREE
Total Within
BRME{E  contractual 1 year
Carrying undiscounted or on
amount cash flow demand
RITER Bank loans 57,968 58,352 58,352
HAb e FRIE Other payables 13,400 13,400 13,400
HibERBEATER Amount due to related
parties 8,763 8,763 8,763
80,131 80,515 80,515
—EEF
2010
BRMEAR
ALIRIRE —F Ak
ME R RERER
Total Within
BREE contractual 1 year
Carrying undiscounted or on
amount cash flow demand
RITER Bank Loans 3,311 3,347 3,347
HAb S FRIE Other payables 10,345 10,345 10,345
HibERBEATER Amount due to related
parties 6,311 6,311 6,311
19,967 20,003 20,003
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(©)

Interest rate risk

The interest rates and terms of repayment of the
interest-bearing borrowings of the Group are disclosed
in note 24. The Group’s variable-rate borrowings are
exposed to a risk of change in cash flows due to

changes in interest rates.

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
decrease/increase the Group's profit after tax and
retained profits by approximately RMB3,200,000
(2010: RMB2,290,000), and there is no impact on other
components of the consolidated equity, except for

retained profits of the Group.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of reporting period and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for both
derivative and non-derivative financial instruments in
existence at that date. The 100 basis point increase/
decrease represents management’'s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over
the period until the next annual reporting period. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

£ T B (d) Currency risk

REEBRNBDEERANZER Substantially most of the revenue-generating
HAARBETRS  MARE operations of the Group are transacted in RMB, which
THEBEBEBBINEG - FIEL K is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. All

ARBRNINER ZRBERBT

foreign exchange transactions involving RMB must

Bl ARERIT » SHEREE BINE take place through the People’s Bank of China or

EE MR TT o

(i)  RIEE I

other institutions authorised to buy and sell foreign

currencies.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk

TRERAEEN RS

i 5 SRBF P 7 HE ER DA AE LR
ERIEEEUINEE

The following table details the Group's exposure
at the end of reporting period to currency risk

FENEBREENARE arising from recognised assets or liabilities

PREEREBER

denominated in a currency other than the

functional currency of the entity to which they

relate.

AEE The Group
—E——5F —E—TF
2011 2010
FEWE SRR Trade receivables 3,131 808
ReRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 79,218 22,377
JEE SRR Trade payables (21,043) (50,221)
IRITER Interest-bearing borrowings (253,826) (104,279)

ERREERARE Net exposure arising from

EAEZFRE recognised assets and liabilities (192,520) (131,315)
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(d) B mLBE (B) (d) Currency risk (continued)
(ii) B (ii) ~ Sensitivity analysis
TREH MR EE B ER The following table indicates the instantaneous
& B mE R E KR REXRR change in the Group's profit after tax (and
ZALEEE  BEARSE retained profits) and other components of
BReaM(REFR consolidated equity that would arise if foreign
*'J)L/(&p/\ff% 5 EY E b exchange rates to which the Group has
DEERNRZE  BRE significant exposure at the end of reporting
Pﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬂ b B RED period had changed at that date, assuming all
o MRESMBREAE other risk variables remained constant. The
N BB B A8 R (flel 45 85 A sensitivity analysis includes balances between
HEARERATEER Group entities where the denomination of the
LN EHEETHE) © balances is in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the lender or the borrower.
The Group
—E--F —I-%F
2011 2010
% HRbie
RFR it )4
EZEH/ BERA BT/ BEER
(TR V& (T5) i}
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) profit after tax (decrease)  profit after tax
in foreign and retained in foreign and retained
exchange rate profits exchange rate profits
AR RMB 8% 12,233 8% 7,879
(8%) (12,233) (8%) (7,879)
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

@

(e)

Currency risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effect on each of the Group
entities’ profit after tax and equity measured in
the respective functional currencies, translated
into RMB at the exchange rate ruling at the end

of reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
end of reporting period and had been applied to
each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency
risk for non-derivative financial instruments
in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2010.

Business risk

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising

from changes in prices of livestock and livestock's

agricultural produce and the change in cost and supply

of feed ingredients, all of which are determined by

constantly changing market forces of supply and

demand, and other factors. The other factors include

environmental regulations, weather conditions and

livestock diseases. The Group has little or no control

over these conditions and factors.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(e)

®

Business risk (continued)

The Group is subject to risks relating to its ability
to maintain animal health status. Livestock health
problems could adversely impact production and
consumer confidence. The Group monitors the health
of its livestock on a regular basis and has procedures
in place to reduce potential exposure to infectious
diseases. Although policies and procedures have been
put into place, there is no guarantee that the Group will

not be affected by epidemic diseases.

The Group manages its exposure to fluctuation in the
price of the key raw materials used in the operations by
maintaining a large number of suppliers so as to limit

high concentration in a particular supplier.

Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from any
unexpected increase in the prices of corn and soybean
meal commodities before committing to purchase
of raw materials and any unexpected decreases in
the prices of corn and soybean meal commodities
following completion of purchases. To protect the
Group from the impact of price fluctuations in corn
and soybean meal commodities, commodity derivative
contracts are entered into with independent futures
trading agents. Changes in the fair value of commodity
derivative contracts that economically hedge the price
fluctuations in corn and soybean meal commodities
and for which no hedge accounting is applied are

recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(€]

Fair value

(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value

In accordance with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

Disclosures, the Group defines the three levels

of fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1 (highest level): fair values
measured using quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical financial

instruments

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted
prices in active markets for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques
in which all significant inputs are directly or

indirectly based on observable market data

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured
using valuation techniques in which any
significant input is not based on observable
market data

Fair value of each financial instrument is

categorised in its entirety based on the lowest

level of input that is significant to that fair value

measurement.



(RSB  UARKETITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

31 ik BE AT B K 2 fo 4 (40)

(g) AR (H)

(i) VAR TAEE G % /T
A (4)

REBME AR BER
BENERMTASMENE
BH ERrREBETER
KEBILRHREHRE
HERESE  REE—
B o

(i)  F FF LLA T (E R AR 9 %
TR

REE KA R R A AL
BERATRNSRTA
MEEEREER -F——
FER_F-—FF+_H
=t—HHOQAEBELE
BEXER -

(h) 2 el ft

DA B adt i 5t £ SR RE31(g) BT
A IR A R BB RN S R
TRERAREBEMBEETERR

i
0

Al E R A

1R 1% 8 WK B 5 Bl 3R K% L B WK
- R ENREA T ROR
BEERER R hkReFE
)~ R 5 R S H At FE AR
A RRITERA M E 38 HE
BEtE - %5 TEMKREEER
BERNABEMRE

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (continued)

(@

(h)

Fair value (continued)

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value

(continued)

The Group's only financial instrument measured
at fair value is commodity derivative contracts,
fair values of which are measured using quoted
prices from independent trading agents without
adjustments and therefore fall into level 1.

(ii)  Fair values of financial instruments carried at other

than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments carried at cost
or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 December 2011
and 2010.

Estimation of fair values

The following summaries the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of
financial instruments carried at other than fair value set

out in note 31(g) above:

Financial assets and liabilities

The carrying values of trade receivables, other
receivables, amounts due from/to related parties, cash
and cash equivalents, trade payables, other payables,
and bank loans are estimated to approximate their
fair values based on the nature or maturity of these

instruments.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

32 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 31(h) contains information about the assumptions
relating to the fair value of financial instruments. Note 25 (a)
contains information about the assumptions relating to the
fair value of share options. Other key sources of estimation

uncertainty are as follows:

(i)  Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and distribution
expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and historical experience of selling
products of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer preference and
competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimations
at the end of reporting period to ensure inventory is

shown at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(ii)  Impairment of trade receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad and
doubtful debts resulting from inability of the customers
to make the required payments. The estimate is
based on the ageing of the trade receivable balance,
customer credit-worthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial conditions of the customers
were to deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher
than estimated.
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32

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)  Depreciation

(iv)

[tems of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of the assets, after taking into account the estimated
residual value. The Group reviews the estimated
useful lives of the assets regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation expense to be
recorded during the year. The useful lives are based on
the Group’s historical experience with similar assets
and taking into account anticipated technological
changes. The depreciation expense for future periods
is adjusted if there are significant changes from

previous estimates.

Income tax

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
tax losses not yet used and temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only
be recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which
the unused tax credits can be utilised, management'’s
judgement is required to assess the probability of
future taxable profits. Management's assessment is
constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax assets
are recognised if it becomes probable that future
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax assets to be

recovered.
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32 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

)

Fair value of biological assets and agricultural produce

The Group's biological assets are valued at fair value
less costs to sell and the Group's agricultural produce
is measured at fair value less costs to sell at the time

of lay.

Management considers that there is no active market,
market-determined prices or values or professional
valuers are not available to carry out the valuation of
the biological assets. As such, management uses
prices of recent market transactions, market prices
for similar assets and sector benchmarks as a basis
for measuring fair value. These prices are adjusted to
reflect differences in characteristics and/or stages of

growth of the assets.

In respect of agricultural produce, management is of
the view that there is no quoted price in the market and
the fair value is determined based on the most recent

market transaction price in the local area.

33 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

At 31 December 2011, the immediate parent and ultimate

controlling party of the Group are Waverley Star Limited and

GWE respectively, which are incorporated in BVI and the

Republic of China respectively.

GWE, which is listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange,

produces consolidated financial statements in accordance

with accounting principles generally accepted in the

Republic of China, which are available for public use.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2011

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2011 and which have not been adopted
in these financial statements.

Of these developments, the following relate to matters
that may be relevant to Group’s operations and financial
statements:

RTFIEHAsEE
IR SRR A
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

BRI RELREN S - HARAE B EER—

BREZBIRR GG B KR 0 [BIE AR 55T

Amendments to IFRS 1, First-time adoption of International Financial

Reporting Standards — Severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed dates

for first-time adopters

BRI ISR S ERIE TR - UHETA - BE—2BEEMEZEZ S5
Amendments to IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —

Transfers of financial assets

BIFRSET2ERISE 1255 - Ariefi—ELEF I - 1HREERELZ 1E5T
Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes — Deferred tax: Recovery

of underlying assets

R ERENS - HBERERE R —E A Nm B ZEHRANEET
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements —

Presentation of items of other comprehensive income

—E——FtH-H
1 July 2011
—E——FtH-H
1 July 2011
—E—_F—H—H

1 January 2012

—E——FtH-H
1 July 2012
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31 DECEMBER 2011 (continued)

RTFIEHAsH#E
B EH IR E
Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

BRSBTS HERIEE 1055 » A TR &% —E—=F—H—H
IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2013
BRI S E R E 115 - & & LH —E—=%—H—H
IFRS 11, Joint arrangements 1 January 2013
BRI s S 2 RIS 125% - A M B 755 —E—=%—H—H
IFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities 1 January 2013
BRI S S A3 - A EEF = —E—=%—H—H
IFRS 13, Fair value measurement 1 January 2013
B @t ERIE 27 5% - BV BHRK (—FE——F) —E—=F—H—H
IAS 27, Separate financial statements (2011) 1 January 2013
REETHERIE 285 - MENAE S XK E (ZF——4F) —E—=%—H—H
IAS 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures (2011) 1 January 2013
BIRR @ st RIS 29 5 (AF1EET) - IES#EF) —E—=F—H—H
Revised IAS 19, Employee benefits 1 January 2013
BRI EERNE TR - £H LA - HE—AHeHEERTFHEEZ IS5 —E—=%—H—H
Amendments to IFRS 7, Financial instruments. Disclosures — 1 January 2013

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2011 (continued)

RTFIEHAEE
IR SRR A
Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

IR StERIEI2S - M T A - 23— Mo MEERTHEEZEET —ET-mFE—-HF—H
Amendments to IAS 32, Financial instruments: Presentation — 1 January 2014

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

BRI SRELRESR - 2HMTA (—FENF)

IFRS 9, Financial instruments (2009)

BB IE IR ELERIFESS - 2T A (—F—FF)

IFRS 9, Financial instruments (2010)

—FT-h%—A—H
1 January 2015

—E—hF—H—H
1 January 2015

BRI IS RELERIEN - M T AR HHREERE7 M TA - —E—hF—H—H

BEE—3% £ A BB E R 2 55T

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and 1 January 2015

IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures —

Mandatory effective date and transition disclosures

AEEEFEZFERT - A R
EERTFERAMERELANY
2 REBMMEER KARSTE
AN K AT R S AN &2 [ Y AR & 26 48 0 B
BIRRELBEATE °

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards and
new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group's results

of operations and financial position.



g

HITEF
BRERE ()
BRELE
EREES

HHITEFE
HRERE
BETFREE
BRREL

Nicholas William Rosa 44

BB TEE
BRoaE L
BEELELE
BxERLE

BHERRA
BAH S (EE)
AL
BB

e B8
BEESLE(ZR)
oA T
BRFRE
BRESLLE

B S

RAEZHA
AL (ZE)
BRE L
BRREE
BRELE
A S

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Ms. Chen Li-Chin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Nicholas William Rosa

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Chen Chih

Mr. Liu Fuchun

Mr. Way Yung-Do

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Way Yung-Do (Chairman)
Dr. Chen Chih

Mr. Liu Fuchun

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Liu Fuchun (Chairman)

Dr. Chen Chih

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Way Yung-Do

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Dr. Chen Chih (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Fuchun

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Way Yung-Do



WITZRE
BRELL(ZE)
BRELL
REELt

e 3
BRI
Rk
BT

2 vl
S

W

RAEE BER ZSWE FET
BEISEE305%
FIEEPLBELN E

B Y fl

55 B 5D BT AT
YE R

BB IRIE TS 109,
AT RESIE

ERARRT
B8 LSEYRTARAF
ERPRLFEAET 1R

ik 1 50 5 8

Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, George Town
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KYI-1108
Cayman Islands

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (Chairman)

Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Ms. Chen Li-Chin

Mr. Li Jing-Hui

Mr. Ou Chang-Jou

Mr. Chang Yu-Lung

Mr. Chen Yung-Fa

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Pang Siu Yin

LEGAL ADVISER

Cheung Tong & Rosa Solicitors
Room 501, 5/F., Sun Hung Kai Centre
30 Harbour Road, Hong Kong

AUDITORS

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building, 10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

1 Queen’'s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, George Town
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KYI-1108
Cayman Islands



EN Ry Y
HAENE
KRPMERERE 25 5%
EEUKE 1 L1806 =

o B 3206
A B

ERmHE R

G PIINR AT 6 5%
EBPLCEAEINE

FEAR 5% 100020
B 2 T X OB B X i % W P AR

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
(AT#8Butterfield Fund Services (Cayman)
Limited)

Butterfield House, 68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 609, Grand Cayman KYI-1107

Cayman Islands

T s Iy X5 il B8 5 23 g
SEEFBLARDA

FiB T

SRAER 285

SEEFRL 2618

2] B

http://www.dfa3999.com

JBe Ay A%

3999

B H W%
BEAREEBRZEW - B
HEEBERBEREE

% © +86-10-59047569
{5H : +86-10-59070176

EH : investors@dachan.com.cn

PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN HONG KONG
Suite 1806, Tower 1, The Gateway

25 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

OFFICE IN THE PRC
Room 401, 4th Floor, Office Tower C, Vanton Center,

No.6 Chaowai Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100020,
China

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
(formerly known as Butterfield Fund Services (Cayman)
Limited)
Butterfield House, 68 Fort Street
P.0. Box 609, Grand Cayman KYI-1107
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

WEBSITE
http://www.dfa3999.com

STOCK CODE
3999

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries relating to investor relations, please contact:
Senior Manager of Investor Relations

Tel: +86-10-59047569

Fax:+86-10-59070176

E-mail: investors@dachan.com.cn



EFMBRE

Five Years Financial Summary

BET=A=t-ALFE

For the year ended 31 December

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

BEWAANREEET) Turnover (RMBmillion) 11,216 9,552 8,485 8,961 6,783

EFARBEET) Gross profit (RMBmillion) 856 658 600 660 575

EFE (%) Gross profit margin (%) 7.60 6.90 7.10 7.40 8.50

FERMNAREEET) Profit for the year (RMBmillion) 253 147 140 151 237

AR (%) Net profit margin (%) 2.30 1.50 1.60 1.70 3.50
ANEHERBAE AEERF Profit attributable to owners of

(ARBEETL) the Company (RMBmillion) 196 109 108 136 199

SREF Earnings per share - - - - -

—ER(AR¥ET) - basic (RMB) 0.19 0.11 0.11 0.14 0.25

—EE(AR¥ET) - diluted (RMB) 0.19 0.11 0.11 N/A N/A

R+=ZRA=+-8
At 31 December

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

AREEER AR¥EERX ARBAERT ARBEERT ARKBER

RMBmillion  RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmillion

BEFE Net assets 1,974 1,833 1,763 1,669 1,653

BE®E Total assets 3,495 3,058 2,809 2,523 2,761

FiEER Non-controlling interest 259 240 227 203 152

BE®E Total liabilities 1,521 1,226 1,047 853 1,209

224 KHEESR (ZM) &FR2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited






	封面
	目錄
	公司介紹
	財務摘要
	主席報告
	企業社會責任
	管理層討論與分析
	董事及高級管理人員履歷
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	公司資料
	五年財務摘要
	封底

